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WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART , VIRGINIA CITY, 1863 



FOREWORD 

In this Centennial year, 1964, of the Admission of the State of 
Nevada, tit is meet, right and proper that the Nevada Historical Society 
Quarterly be dedicated to the life of William Morris Stewart, statesman, 
lawyer and first United States Senator from Nevada. From the time he 
arrrived on the Pacific Coast, 1850, to the year of his death, 1909, his ljfe 
was devoted ,to public service for the people of Nevada, California and 
the United States. 

This hiography briefly desciibes the fullness of the achievements of 
William Morris Ste,"vart in helping to establish political and social institu­
tions among the lawless, the excited and the rest'less mass of people who 
came to California in the Gold Rush of 1849, and to Neva,da in the 
silver rush to Washoe, 1859. In these areas he gained an enviable reputa­
!lion of physical prowess and <intelligent leadership. Resolving successfully 
the diSputes among the original locators of the C,()ITIstock Lode, he went 
on to help mould a territory and a state. When ,the Illiad of the Comstock 
Lode is written, Stewart wHI have the leading role. 

Stewart had had ten years of political experience in Californ,ia when 
he came to Nevada to become a member of the Territorial Legislatme, 
1861 , and the First ConstitU'!lional C,onvetntion, 1863. Elected the first 
United States Senator from Nevada, 1864, he was elected for four more 
terms. The legislation he successfully sponsored in the Congress of the 
United States are enduring monuments to his efforts: Being author of 
the National Mining Laws and writer of the FIFTEENTH AMENDMENT, 
has given him a place of honor in the hall of fame. His accomplishments 
have been noted in other ways: 

On January 24, 1964, the' Trustees for Nevada, the Honorable Grant 
Sawyer, Governor of Nevada, Chalirma'll, the Honorahle Judge Clark J. 
Guild, Director, Nevada State Museum, and the Honorahle Fred Dress­
Ier, Douglas County Nevada, nominated William Morris Stewart to the 
National Cowboy Hall of Fame, and Western Heritage Association. 
Nomination by a State Committee means selection for this hOnor. 

On March 7, 1964, the William Bull Meek-William Morris Stewart 
Chapter No. 10 E Clampus Wtus, Nevada Oity, Nevada County, Cali­
fomia, and the Nevada Sta,te Centennial Commission dedicated a 
monument and a plaque at the Stewart Mansion, Zion Street, Piety Hill, 
in this City. He was one of the oldest members of E Clampl.ls Vitus on 
the Pacific Coa~. 

Stewar,t Mansion was built by Mr. Stewart for his bride, Annie 
Elizabeth Foote Stewart, 1855; it was the first of several handsome homes 
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he huilt during his lifetime. The home is now restored to the elegance 
of the era in which ~t W,lS huilt by Victor A. and his wife, Ruth Johnson 
Hermann, Hillshorough, California. 

Man.y of the illustrations and cartoons used in ,th~s book have never 
before heen reproduced; they have been collected from all over the 
Unrited States and parts of Europe. The personal infonnation and the 
public record of Senator Stewart have come to the writer from members 
of his family, from his colleagues and from his professional associates. 
They are discussed in the Bihliographic Essay accompanying this hio­
graphy. 

Reno. Nevada EFFIE MONA MACK 
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PARENTAGE - EDUCATION 
The state of affadrs in 1859 in the western part of the Temtory of 

Utah C~evada), is well known to all studen'ts of the history of Nevada. 
The silver rush to Washoe brought in a motley horde of adventurers, 
gamblers, swindlers, professional men, and miners. Upon ,these men, 
found in every age, whose lives embody a quaHty of completeness, rested 
the responsibiHty of whipping this restless, lawless, excited mass of 
humanity into some fonn of government. Predominant among the leaders 
who exerted a profound influence on the institutional beginnings of 
Nevada and the Pacific C,oast was W,illiam Morris Stewalflt. The record 
of such a man reveals the courage, perseverance and hardihood wjth 
which the ,foundations of state and nation are laid. To study the history 
of his life is to watch a state in its makings and a nation in its evolvement 

Stewart was descended from sturdy Scotch ancestry who migruted to 

Massachusetts in pre-Revolutionary days. His maternal grandfather was 
a soldier in the American l\evoll.lJtUon. In 1789 he sentilcd on a tmct of 
land near Lake Champlain. His father, Frederick Augustus Stewart, was 
horn neaJ: Shoreham, Vermont. He served in the W3Jr of 1812.' 

A few years later Frederick Augustus Stewart moved to Wayne 
County, New York, where he acquired a traCt of land about four miles 
f.rom the present town of Lyons, Galen Township. Soon after ,he settled in 
western New York state, he married Miranda Morris, a descendant of a 
signer of the Declaration of Independence. Miranda and Frederick Augus· 
tus Stewart2 had seven children-three boys and four girls. William Morri~ 
Stewart, the oldest, was born August 9, 1827; he was named for his 
maternal grandfather. The Stewart family lived on ,the Lyons farm uncil 
he was six years old. Through a defective title to the <land, their savings 
were Imt. But here in this frontier country, the Stewart family ,learned of 
the hardships of pioneering, and here William Moms had his first 
schooling and made his first friends. 

In August, 1835, the Stewart family moved to Mesopotamia Town­
ship, Trumbull County, Ohio, to which area Miranda Stewart's father 
had gone. There, a small farm was acguired on the banks of the Grand 
River. Because this part of Ohio .. t this time was almost virgin country, 
the young Stewart boys and girls grew up in a school of hard knocks, 
spending nine months of the year fishlng and hunting for food for the 
family, and in clearing timber land for crops. They were fortunate in 
being able to attend the district school three months of the yeal(. 

\Vhen William Morris Stewart was thirteen yeaTS old, his father 
told him that he had sufficient education and that he must now take 
rhe part of a man on the farm. He ,told Ihis father he wantC(1 more 

lOFFICIAL RECORD, Shoreham, Vermont, 1789. Letter to writer fram Town 
Clerk, 28 December 1928. 

2 Frederick Augustus Stewart lived to be 102 years old .. 



12 WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART - 1827 - 1909 

education and if he could not get it at home, hc would run away.3 He 
did leave home, and went west to the little town of Farmington to attend 
the Academy. In later years he wrote to a £I1iend at Fann~ngton that 
here " . .. I commenced my 'Stmggle to obtain an cduca1tion . .. You 
remember I was a poor boy, that aliI I got I was compelled to earn dming 
vacations and nights and momings while attending school." In Farming· 
ton Academy heexceHed in mathematics, so much so, he taught some 
of the students in the lower grades. And it was lin Farmington that he 
first associated with professional and business men who encouraged him 
to go on and further h is education. 

After he had had three years at Farmington Academy he le,amcd 
that a free public high school had been started at has old home in Lyons, 
New York. So he decided to go there and to prepare himself for college. 
His advanced knowledge in mathematics made <it possible for him to 
teach that subject and thereby earn his living, and, at the same time, 
prepare himsc1f in the classics. In those days ;a boy became a man at 
sixteen years. Young Stewart was a giant even at that age and was able 
not only to handlcthe pedagOgiC side of teaching but also the more 
dj,f£iicult problem of keeping order in a frontier sdhool. He continued to 
teach and attend school until the faB of 1848, when he ~hought he was 
prepared sufficiently to take the college entrance exml1ination to Yale 
UniverSity. The examination in maJ~hema:tics ·showed such remarkable 
ability, the examination in the classics was a mere forma1iy. 

A young member of the Lyons School Board of Trustees, Mr. James 
C. Smith, a lawyer and later Superior Judge of New York, in whose 
offke Stewart had read some law, loaned him the money wjth which to 
enter coHege. ( After he went to CaHfornia and made his first fortune in 
pklCer mining, he returned this money with interest, and the additional 
money he borrowed to go to California.) 

Stewart entered Yale University in cite fal~ of 1848. After commence­
ment in 1849, he returned to Lyons to earn money during the summer 
for the faIl semester. That freshman college students know today what 
studies were required, the courses he took are here included: 

"The studies of the Freshman and Sophomore Classes in 1848-1849 
and 1849-1850, the years William Moriis Stewart was in college, 
were as follows: 

FRESHMAN . YEAR, 

Lincoln's Livy, (Latin) 
Roman Antiquities 
Day's Algebra 

3 He never returned home un{il years later when he had become rich and dis­
tinguished. At this time he purchased a home for his parents and made them 
comfortable for ·the rest. \If their lives. 
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Homer's Odyssey (conlIinued through six lx>oks) 
Playfuir's Euclid (four books) 
Horace 
Herodotus 

SOPHOMORE YEAR, 

Horace 
Herodotus 
Xenophon's Memorabilia (two books) 
Day's Nature and Use of Logarithms 
PJane Trigonometry 
Mensuration of Super!1.cies and Solids 
Cicero de Amidtia and de Senectute 
The Ai}cestIis of Euripides 
Days' Mathematics - Isoperimetry, Mensuration of Heights 

and Distances, and Navigation 
Cicero de Oratore 
The Prometheus of Aeschylus 
Day's Mathem:ltics - Surveying 
Bridge's Conic Seotions 
Stanley's Spherical Geometry and Trigometry 
Whately's Rhetoric 

In ;~ ddition to the above studies, there were private exercises on the 
elementary principles of elocution, preparations for public dcclama­
tion, exhibitions of specimens of English composition, and instruction 
in Latin compos~tion.''' 
While he was at YO/Ie he belonged to the Delta Epsilon ( English) 

fratemity, and the Alpha Sigma Phi (social) fratemity, and he received 
a prize for the solution of mathematical problems and for English com­
position. The YeG-r and a half he spent at Yale made a deep impression 
on him, ,1l1d laid the foundations for his lruter achievements. Of the 
ninety-five members of his class many of them distinguished themselves. 
When Yale University celebrated its Bi-Centennial, he wrote to the 
secretar.y of his class and said: 

" .. ~ The assemblage at New Haven, at the Bi-Centennial celebration 
gave ev.idence of the wonderful progress of our Alma Mater. She has 
more than kept pace with the marvelous growth of the United States. 
May the future of Yale continue as bright as her glOrious past! With 
greetings to the survivors of our class, I am fratemally, Wmiam M. 
Stewart.'" 

'MEMORANDUM from Secretary's Office, Yale University, to writer, December 
28, 1928. 

• In July 1865, the members of the class of 1852, Yale University, met and 
requested that Stewart be awarded the honorary degree of Master of Arts and 
enl'olled him with the' class of 1852. MEMORANOUM, Yale : University to ' writer, 
December 28, 1928 . 
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CALIFORNIA - MINING 

The summer of 1849 was one of great importance to many young 
men in the United States. Glowing accounts and intriguing advertise­
ments appeared in many castcm newspapers, telling of the great gold 
discoveries in CaLifornia. A number of Stewart's fciends from Ohio and 
New York were planning to go to this land of golden opportunities for a 
quick fmtune and, then, to return to their eastern homes to finish their 
education or livt: in ease the rest of their lives. Stewart, too, was seized 
with this thr.i!l of adventure. Unable to get passage from New York for 
three months, and it being ,too late to cross the plains and mountains 
before the fall ·rains and snows came, he decided to return to Yale for 
the fall semester. 

However, eady in January, 1850, with a ,loan of £nve hundred dollars 
from his former benefactor, Mr. James C. Smith, Stewart obtained 
passage firom New York to Panama on the Steamer Philadelphia. The trip 
was filled with the same experiences and delays that all the gold-seekers 
had on the crowded and .inadequate boats in that mad rush to get 
"there." After landing at Chagres the passengers had to bargain for 
canoes to Gorgona or Cmces. "Two to six black muscular niggers poled 
the boats up stream, making a mile an hour. In places they had to step 
ashore and tow the boat." Going nomh on the Pacific Ocean, a severe 
stonn stmck the ship Qnd all passengers had to help the crew. 

He landed in San Francisco, April 7, 1850, and at once joined the 
rush, then at its height, to Nevada City, California. However, when 
he crossed the Isthmus he had been inoculated with fever and soon came 
down with a severe attack of it. From San Francisco he took a river boat 
to Marysville, thence by ox-cart forty miles east to Deer Creek Dry 
Diggings ( Nevada City) Nevada County, which was then reported to be 
good prospects. H e was so ill the men made him a bed in the bottom of 
the cart and finall y dumped him out at Roger Williams' Spring, which 
flowed into Deer Creek near Nevada City. With some bIread and a 
dipper, fashioned by putting a tin cup ~n ,a forked stick, he lay there for 
ten days. Well does he remember passers-by taking a look at him and 
saying: 

"Not dead yet!" 

(These springs are today at the head of Spring Street, Nevada City). 
With copious draughts of cool spl:jng water, he broke the fever and 

was able to crawl to the little town, where he bought some milk. When 
he was able to go about by h1mself, he had only five dollars left. 

It wasn't long before Stewart learned of ,the diggings and what tools 
were necessary to start placer minting. He worked h.rst on Buckeye Hill 
near rhe middle fork of the American River, Nevada County, in the 
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WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART IS THE MINER IN THE LEFT FOREGROUND 

Coyote Diggings. The yield of this old river .bed was immense - the first 
fortune William Morris Stewart ever made. While he .was prospeoting 
with a pick and shovel in the filU of 1850, he d~scovered the rich 
Eureka Diggings, which have been worked ever since. 

The first placer mining "vas done by the pan method, which soon 
gave way to the "rocker" and then to the "Long Tom," a machine called 
"the grizzly," a sort of huge rockelI'. Later Itho sluice box gave a great 
impetus to maning. But ohis device required an extensive water system, 
for the w(!ter had to be brought Ito the sluice boxes. 

To work the river ba.rs to the best advan.tage, Stewart projected 
a long wator system. In November, 1851, he joined Charles Marsh and 
George Pettibone in constructing the Grizzlly Di,tch Ito carry the waters 
of Bloody Run and Grizzly Canon at a great expense, to North San 
Juan. The ditch, built with the help of sixty brawny Irishmen, had a 
capacity of seven hundred and fifty inches and was forty-five miles long. 
Pinished in 1852, it had cost $50,000.00; it was used for more than thirty 
years. Tn surveying -the · course of th~ ditch , he set up crude surveying 
instruments, using the knowledge he had obtained in his course on this 
subject ::It Yale. 

The broad gravel belts in this vast gold-bearing area promoted a large 
water system. In 1856 there were over one hundred ditches, aggregating 
eight ,hundred miles in length, and one of sixteen miles to cost 
$350,000,00_ Many enterprising men ,in ditch companies became rich by 
selling water to the miners - Stewart and his associates among them_ 
This was the 6.rst time he dared to plunge so deeply into debt, but good 
business soon paid ofE. The water was sold out at .the rate ()f an ounce of 
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gold a day to the fi~ user; to tlle ne}Qt helow, a half an ounce; and to 
those lower down, a further ,reduction was made, until at last the water 
{lowed its way back into the natural channel of Deer Creek. As this 
project becam~ profitable, Stewart and others built a sawmill on Cherokee 
Crct~k, and ran it in connection with the ditch. 

When Stewart and associates attempted to bu~ld their ditch to another 
mining camp, the ditch owners below brought suit against them, and the 
cou.rt denied .them the right. Later Stewart brought the quesllion before 
the Sunreme Court of California and obtained the decision that a natural 
water ~ou,rse could be used into which to turn the surplus water for use 
further down the stream. Brieflv stated, the water taken out from a stream 
above an area and run through a ditch, could be turned into a natural 
water-course and returned to the stream; however. this water still be­
longed to the original owners, From these opemtions and from the 
application of clear thinking about the problems of these mining opera­
tions, Stewart was to take a leading part in solving them. 

When the first miners came to settle in a region, (it was said there 
were tcn thousand arollnd Nevada City), they made their Own rules and 
regulations to govern their operations and enforce them. After the placer 
miners learned of the origin of the gravel beds in the quartz ledges above 
their claims, they wished to work them also, but this kin.d of mining had 
never heL'll carried on in the Umted States. Therefore, there were no local 
or National mles to govern it. 

The gold miners in Californckl were trespassers on the Public 
Domain. There were no la"vs governing the mineral deposits so the pros­
pectors were forced to make their own laws to govern their mining commu­
nities. It became the custom of the first miners in a locality to hold a 
meeting and to organize a given area, known as a mining district, and a 
n,\mc was always given to the district. 

At these primitive conventions a code of rules was adopted, regulating 
the mode of taking tip and holdin.g mineral ground. The rules usually 
limited the extent of ground cach miner could hold and prto'Scribed the 
amount of work that must be done to prevent a forfeiture of the right. 
The rules were recorded, a Recorder was elected, and every miner who 
ohtained ground had to record his claim with the Recorder. Later, when 
regula,r judicial courts Wille set up, the judges itreated these rules in 
thei'f de6$ions of mining cases as part of the law of the laneL 

Nevada City. Nevada County, California, became the foremost 
mining center for some 10,000 miners and also hccame the county scat. 
Late in 1852 miners assembled fTom every district in the county to frame 
laws for quartz mining. William MOl'l"is Stewart was chosen Chairman 
of the meeting to write the rules .. On December 20, 1852, the rules were 
adopted. The phrasing of ARTICLE 1I is of interest: 



WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART - 1827 -1909 

Each proprietor of a quartz claim shall hereafter be entitled 
to one hundred feet on a quartz ledge or vein; and the dis­
coverer shall be allowed one hundred feet additional. Each 

17 

claim shall include all the dips, angles and varwtions of the vein.6 

In some of the mles and regulations were some vardations, but by and 
large, they were the same. The "dips, spurs, angles and variations" 
were always 'included in clJ.e customs of the distriot. This situation was 
also true of the use of sufficient surface grollnd for sha£ts, mill sites, and 
waste ore clumps. 

6 Gregory Yal e, Legal Titles to Milling Claim.s and Water Rights; 155. 
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CALIFORN[A POLITICAL ACTIVITIES 

After more than twelve years, 1850-1862, of placer mmmg, water­
company-ditch building and operating a sawmill. StewaTt sold out at a 
considerable Irrofit. He had made his first fortune in California and was 
now ready to ,take up his earnest desire to become a lawyer. Entering the 
law office of John R. McConnell, District Attorney, Nevada City, Nevada 
County, he spent three months in concentrated study of the law, 
especially that which pertained to minnng_ It was to the rigorous trainin'g 
under McConnell that Stewart owed his dialcx.-tic skiN, ingenuity and 
e1(xJuenct~. 

After a searching and exacting examination, he was dechred qualified 
to practice law and W<IS granted a license forthwith. Some of the most 
briHiant lawyers in California were prac~icing in Nevada City at this 
time: Stephen J. Field, who became a Justice of the Supreme Court of 
the United States, Lorenw Sawyer and Niles Searles heoame Justices of 
the Supreme Court of California, an(1 Aaron A. Sargent became a mem­
hor of Congress from Cadifornia . (It ,is interesting to note here that 1852 
"vas the year StewaTt would have heen graduated from Yale University.) 

On >the day that WiHiam Morris Stewart obtained his license to 
practice Jaw, McConnell was elected Attorney General of California, and 
Stewart was appointed to take his place as District Attorney of Nevada 
County. Although this office was the Hrst one fOT Stewart to hold, he 
had sought the -election of Sheriff of Nevada Gounty in 1851, but had 
been badly defeated for it. 

To the District Attomeys of the CaLifornia mining counties fell the 
difficult t.lsk of prosecuting lthe lllany crimes of unorganized COmmu­
nities. But this ex peri en cei was a good test of their ·abHity as well as 
obtalining valuable experience for thelll . After Stewa·rt had st~rved out 
the unexpired term of McConnell, he ran for, and was cleated, for 
another term. This political contest was an excitling one and engendered 
a great deal of bitter feelings. When he was called upon to try his first case, 
one of his political opponents, an old and expelienced lawyer, appeared 
for the defense_ A grea't deal of vigor was put into the case in which the 
defense wished to expose StewaTt's incapacity as a lawyer. 

Finally the two lawyers began <to spar and to argue some points of 
law with which Mr. Stewart "vas not able to cope w,ithout some more 
study, SO he was anxious to secure a delay in the suit. At one point in the 
argument Stewa,rt conltradioted his opponent, who countered by calling 
Stewart a liarr. The new dis~rict attorney drew- back his fist and stnIck his 
opponent between the eyes, putting him to "sleep." The unconscious 
lawyer was removed from the court room, Stewart was sent to jaB, and the 
judge adjourned the Court. 
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While District Attorney Stewa.r,t was in jail (he was not incarcexated, 
but was held in the Sheriff's office) he sent for his Jaw books. He sat up 
all night studying over this point of law so that when he appeared in 
~~OllTt the next morning, he was master of the subject a.nd the Judge 
sustained h~s legal argument. From that day forward, no One questioned 
his ability as a lawyer. Therc were many o~her mugh and tumble cxperi­
ences that Stewart had in thc Cal~fornia mining camps which required 
hoth brains and hrawn. 

1\s District Attorney, Stewart gave so much satisfaction hc was 
respectcd hy his colleagues. In 1853 he formed a partnership with Niles 
Searles, who hrxame DistL'ict Judge, 1855-1861, and later State Senator 
and Justice of the Supreme Court of California. 

By fanlJiJy itradition, Stewart was a Federalist, hut McConnell, in 
whose office Stewart studied law, was a Kentucky Democrat. This office 
"vas a rendezvous for the Southem boys in the community; consequently 
he fell heir to the Dcmooratic support an the county. The Whigs and 
Democrats had almost equal power, but the Whigs had a newspaper called 
the Nevada Journal, ed~ted by 1\aron A. Sargent, while the Democrats 
did not, so thcy thought it expedient to have one also. Stewart bought 
a press in September, 1853, and started an opposition newspaper called 
Young America, which name Stewart changed 11:0 Nevada Democrat. 
Rooort A. Davidge was put in as managing editor, and early in 1854 
Niles Searles became editor. It was (~bout this time that Searles became 
Stewart's partner. The Nevada Democrat carried on lively political 
debates with its rival until Junc 9, 1854, ,,,hen Stewart's paper was sold 
to Messrs. Rolfe, Ewer, Boardman and Russell. This newspapor experience 
was the first one of several newspapers which Stewart had in his long 
politic::rl career. 

Dming the winter of 1852 and 1853, Stew,1rt made frequent trips to 
Sac)13l1lento to confer with Mcl-:Onn ell , meeting on thesc trips many of 
the prominent state politicians, as well as learning considera<blc about 
California politics. On April 10, 1854, the California Sta.te Legislature 
granted McConnell a six month's leave of absence. McConnell reCOlll -,., 
mended Stewart to Governor John Bigler for acting Attorney-General 
during his absence. 

On June 7, 1854, William Morris Stewart became Attorney-General 
of Calihrnia. At this time the question of the pennanent location of thc 
state capital of California was pending. Between May, 1851 and Novem­
ber, 1854, the capital had been moved eight times. He successfully argued 
the mandatory mandamus concerning the placc the eleated officers of 
California should reside and mail~:tain their offices, as required by law. 
The responsibility of te:-iminatin~ the capital controversy and setting up 
'Sacramento as the permalwnt stat~ qpital ~ave him considerable stature: 
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"It is therefore no small tribute to say tlI<~t he per,forme his duties in a 
manner such ru, to meet-wil'h, the universal 'approval of the people, and to 
add increased lustre to a rapidly advancing reputation."7 

Aft()r Stewart had resigned the office of District Autorney he went to 

San Francisco where he fonned a partnership with Henry S. Foote, ex­
Governor and ex-United States Senator of Mississippi, Louis F. Aldrich, 
and B::!njamin \Vatkins Lee. The handsome six foot, two-inch, red-haired, 
two hnndrod pound Stewart was a frequent visitor to the home of Senator 
Foote, where he enjoyed greatly the fniendship of the four young daugh­
ters and two sons. In less than a year he married Annie Elizabeth Foote,S 
the third daughter, May 31, 1885, at the Foote residence at Clinton, 
(Oakland), Alameda County, California, by ,the Reverend Mr. Sills. 

On the day of the marriage a most unfortunate incident happened to 

the bridegroom. In the free and easy days of the early mining camps, there 
was great camaraderie among the miners. Their money came quickly and 
it left them equally as quickly. They were rich one day and broke the 
next one. In an unguarded moment StewaTt had signed a note for one 
of his Friends. The friend could not pay when the note came due and 
Stewart had to P.1y Ollt some $5,000.00 cash, a large portion he had saved 
for their first nest egg. "But this carele5.'Sness and often though~lcssness 
wiith regard to his own financial well being" was one of his iess admirable 
eh aracterisrics. 9 

Soon after the marriage of Annie and W,miam Stewart, they moved 
to Nevada City where the bridegroom had built a handsome homc of 
southern stylc on Zion Street, Biety Hill, for his hride. This home, 

I Sacrame1lto Daily Unio1l, November 3, 1854. 
• Annie EIi:r,abeth Foote was born in Mississippi in 1837. She was educated at 

Visitacion Convent, Washington, D.C .. while her father was United States Senator. 
She made a study of foreign languages .and learned to speak several of them 
fluently. Her southern breeding and refinement placed her at the head of the 
exclusive sets in society wherever she lived. She was a brilliant conversationalist 
and had a great deal to do with the success of Mr. Stewart's career. They both 
loved ;1eautiful homes and throughout their lives they built sev eral most handsome 
humes. "S1ewart Castle" in Washington, D.C., their home there, was the social 
center of many influential men and women in Washington society. Mrs. Stewart 
waS widely traveled in Europe and around the world. Mr. and Mrs. Stewart had 
thr·ee d:lIlghters - Elizaheth "Ressie," who married Richard C. Hooker, Lieu­
-tenant, U.S.N. ; Annie, who first married ~homas C. Fox, later divorced, then mar­
ried Senor J. de Romero Dume, Ambassador to Japan and St. Petersburg; and 
Mary Isabell "Maybelle," who was married to Frank L. Payson, Major, U.S.A. 
The Stewarts had nine grandchildren, among them were Richard Hooker, Major 
General in command of United States Marines in Haiti, and Harry S. Hooker, 
former law partner of Franklin D. Roosevelt in New York City. Mrs. Stewart was 
killed in the first automobile accident to occur in the San Francisco Bay area. Sep­
tember 15, 1902, while riding with her nephew in Alameda, California. 
OaA-/at/d Tribune, September 13, 1902 

" Leaer- fr om Jackson H. Ralston -to writer, December 3, 1928. 
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si'tuated in the ccnter of :m acre of ground, has endured throughout the 
years. It is now one of the show places of Nevada City.l0 

When Stewart retu.rned to Nevada City, he formed a partnership with 
J. R. McConnel,l, his fonner partner. Mindng litie,'3Jtion, rin which field of 
law Stewart had excelled in Nevada County, was about at an end. The 
importilnt suits had been settled. New mining camps were being formed 
frequently, there were always mining suits in them. So, when Downie­
ville was settled and he received a number of cases from .th~s area, he 
decided to move there in 1856. Selling his home in Nevada City to his 
former partner and good friend, Niles Searles, he moved to Downieville, 
Sierra County, where he formed a partnership with Peter Van Clief. And 
there he huilt another horne near the court house down on Durgan Flat 
by the Yuba River. 

The threc years Mr. and M,rs. Stewart lrived in DownieviUe, 1856-
1859, many changes wcre made there and many events of irnpOltanee took 
place : in 1856 there was a popular uprising against foreigners working 
in the district. The Foreign Miner's Tax Law was levied against Mexi­
cans, Chinese and Chileans. And when these aliens did not pay lip, raids 
werc made on their minc holdings and were taken from them. 

In 1857-1858 hundreds of California miners went to the Frazier River 
gold rush. Most of them were disappointed [n not benefitting from this 
excitement, and it caused a depression in the Calrifornia areas from which 
they went. 

DUTing one of the hard winters that the Stewarrls lived in Downie­
ville, when for several months of the year the town was snowbound, Mrs. 
StewaTt taught school. This was the only time in her life that she ever had 
a joh, hut she was always proud of the $800.00 she earned that winter. 

The yealf 1859 was a momentous one. Horace Greeley visited Downie­
ville and made one of his weB-rememhered speeches. And Califnrnia 
state politics reached the IXliling point - the slavery and anti-slavery 
forces, with William M. Gwin leading the former and David C. Broderick, 
the latter. The climax came on September 13, 1859, when Judge David 
S. Terry, a Gwin supporte:, resigned as State Supreme Court Justice to 
fight a duel w[th Broderick. Broderick, a most popular man, was killed; 
he was greatly mourned throughout the State. Most important of all 
events, both to the State of California and ,to the Stew<ll't family, was the 
discovery of the rich silver ore on the slopes of Mount Davidson in 
June, 1859. 11 

In DownieviIle, the Stewarts made friends with the best known people 
of the cOl1ullunity. Friends from the Sou~h and from San Francisco were 
frequent visitors. One of Mrs. SteW3l't's fl'iends, a Mrs. Birdsall, a pretty 

]0 Purchased by Mr. and Mrs. Victor A. lIermann, Hillsborough, California, 
1962, and restored by them in 1964. 

11 The Comstock Lode. 
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young widow from New Orleans, came to visit them. M1:s. Stewart proved 
to be an excellent matchmaker in securing her hand fm her husband's 
able partner, Peter Van Clief. When the latter was elected judge of the 
Distri<.'t Court, Mr. Stewal't associated himself with Harry I. Thornton. 
Among their friends who came up from San Francisco to visit them was 
the much beloved and prince of orators, Colonel E. D. Baker. He was so 
depressed after he had failed to save the notorious Charles Cora from the 
San Francisco Vigilantes, he went up to Downieville and spent several 
months with the Stewarts. 

William Morris Stewart was 22 years old when he arrived in Cali­
fornia in 1850. In ten years he had placer mined fm gold from the pan, 
the rocker, the Long Torn and the sluice box methods. He had built and 
opora,ted a sawmill, appropriated walter, surveyed ditches, fmIlled ditch 
companies, sold water to the placer miners and set up principles for 
gover:1ing water rights on the Public Domain. And he had written the 
first rules and regulations for quartz mining. 

In 1852 Slewart had been admitted to the bar, and had been elected 
Dis~rjct Attorney of Nevada County. At 27 years of age he was Attorney 
General of Caljfornia and while in of£ice had permanently settled the 
Capital at Sacramento. 

During these exciting ten years Stewart had associated himself with 
the most prominent lawyers on the Pacific Coast. Securing so distin­
guished a law pantner as Governor Henry S. Foote12 was of great impoc­
tance to his career. And to have married Annie Elizabeth Foote, with 
whom he had ,almost fifty years of cOlnpanionship, was of equal impor­
tance. Her social leadersh~p, hrilliant conversation and incomparable wit 
made their home a center for the most influential people in the commu­
nities where they lived. 

12 Henry Stuart Foote was a most remarkable man. Born February, 1804, in 
Fauquier County, Virginia, he was educated at 'Vashington (and Lee) where he 
specialized in law and foreign languages. He was admitted to the bar in 1822 and 
removed to Mississippi in 1826 where he entered politics. In 1847 he was electee! 
United States Senator from this state and Governor in 1852, defeating Jefferson 
Davis. In 1854 Foote went to California at the time when many other southerners 
were going there to assi"t in turning this sta'te for the South. He immediately began 
to be active in politics and was defeated for United States Senator by David C. 
B,·oderick by one vote. He was always opposed to secession but when it was un 
assured fact, ·he retul'lled to the South and was elected for two terms in the Con­
federate Congress, wher" he continued to oppose Davis' measures. When he saw 
that the South was defeated, he escaped through the lines, was caught, and forced 
into exile. During his exile he visited Rome and there visited ,the Pope and some of 
the Cardinals. He was so well versed in Latin he conversed freely with them in this 
language. Through the influence of Senator Stewart, he was returned to the United 
States where ·he took the Amnesty Oath. He located in Washington, D.C., and be­
came an active supporter of President Grant and his Reconstruction policy. Hayes 
appointed him Director of the Mint in New Orleans. He died in Nashville, 
Tennessee, May 20, 1880. He waS an expert duelist and fought seven duels. He 
' ... ' rote a "Hjstory of Texas," a "History of the Rebellion," and his "Bio~raphical 
~r ",r"iniscences." "Biographical Remi71isce7Ices," NEW YORK TIMES, May 28, 1878. 
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WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART SETTLES IN NEVADA 

The south end of the Comstock Lode, caBed Gold Hill, at the head of 
Gold Canon, was opened in January, 1859, by Joe Plato, "Sandy" Bowers, 
James Finney, and other miners. Because the gold ore was in a brecdated 
quartz formation, it was easily placered. There was at first a local rush of 
people from Garson City, Genoa 'and Carson Valley, and other nearby 
settlements. But the news of this discovery did not get far afield. 

On June 8, 1859, the north end of the Comstock Lode was opened 
near Caldwell Spring at the head of Six M~le Canon by James McLaugh­
lin and Peter O'Reilly. It was undoubtedly Mexicans wor~ng in this area 
that identified the rock taken out of the spring as being rich in silver. 
Samples of the ore from the Ophir Claim were taken over to Nevada City, 
Grass Valley, and PlacervHle, California, ,to be assayed. The result of the 
assay made by J. J. Ott, Nevada City, over $4,000.00 a rton, was published 
in the Nevada Journal, ( Nevada City) July I, 1859. It was co~ed by 
most of the California newspapers and the silver rush to Washoe began. 
A few excited miners, who had had advance news of the discovery, had 
already started for the Washoe Region. 

By 1860 California had hecome a populous state with the refinements 
of civilizartIion. Most of the available mining ground had been worked 
over or had been taken up, leaving hundreds of people out of work. The 
news of the silver discovery of the Comstock Lode was an oppor,tunity for 
many people tc get in on the early discovery and to locate claims. Hun­
dreds of people came over from California mining 'towns .to take a look 
at the situation with a view of moving to the Washoe Diggings. 

Among the early arrival" was William Morris Stewart, who came over 
in November, 1859. He first settled in Genoa where he set up his law 
office in the old log cabin, the first house built in Nevada. At once he was 
employed by many persons wishing him ,to setrle their difficulties in the 
court. At this time all of what is now the western part of Nevada was in 
Carson County, Utah Territory. There was confusion over the juris­
diction of the court in disputed matters and StcwaTt had to use sOme of 
the same tactics he had employed in ~he early days in Nevada County. 
The first office he held in this community was Selectman, a sort of h:~al 
councilman which gave him some prestige. 

The Comstock Lode WdS discovered on the steep and barren slopes of 
Mount Davidson. There was no vegetation except scattered sagehnlsh and 
a few scmb juniper. For fire wood, wood-choppers, chiefly Chinamen, had 
to go into the Pine Nut range, on ~he east side of the Carson River some 
ten miles away. With mthless abandon the pine nut trees, the Paiute 
Indians' orchard, were ~ut down for the increasing numher of persons 
comina to the Comstock. v 
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The winter of 1859-60, ,as it has been stated, was a most severe one. 
The snow fdl so deep that winter, aU the passes were closed; animals and 
humans suffered greatly for supplies. The Indians, in particubr, suffered. 
Many of them died from hungt.¥f and eXlx>sure in trying to get game 
which had taken to cover in the high country. The red men blamed the 
white man for his suffering and the ,tragedies that happened to him. They 
were very restless in the sprring of 1860 on rhcir reservations, and some 
concern of their restlessness was shown by prominent men in the commu­
nitJies. 

The Indi1ll1s' pcntup hatred emptecl early in May, 1860, when they 
a~t:aeked Williams Station on the Carson River, a few miles to the nort11-
east of Virginia City, killing five men and burning the Station. 

Henry Meredith, Stewart's first partner in Virginia City and a former 
friend of his in Nevada City, vvas one of the Jeaders of the expe(u,tlion to 
set out and pun~sh the red men. When Stewart learned that young Mere­
dith had joined the frontier army, he begged him not to go and Meredith 
promised him he would go no farther than Williams Station, but he did 
not keep his promise and ,rode over ;to and down the Tmckee River, 
where he was killed from ambush by the Indians. 13 

Stewart had heen urged to go, but instead he contribu.ted $1,000.00 
and helped organize the hase of supplies fm the army. After Meredith left 
for the battle, and before he had heard of the ifOut of the white army, 
Stewart went over to Downieville, intending to go back to Virginia City 
in a few days. He rode his mule through the Truckee Meadows, taking a 
day and a half to make the ,trip. About five miles before he reached 
Downieville, he met a party of friends, who had heard of how many white 
men had been killed, coming out to look for him and 'rescue him, if possi­
ble, from the Indians. There \V3S great rejoicing in his family when he 
<l'rrived safely. 

The next day Stewart returned to Virginia City, but did not oross the 
Truckee Meadows; he rode high up around the hills to get iliere. i\ shoJ:1t 
time before Stevvart got back, David S, Terry, formt:."fly Justice of the 
Supreme Court of California, and a party of Southern. men, had' arrived 
to take over the Comstock Lode and hold it for the Southern Cnfcderacy. 
Terry'r. men were well-armed 'and to make good their th'feat to possess the 
mines, they selected three vantage points near the Lode and erected fonts. 
Stewart, lawyer for the first locators, did not try to eviot them hut resorted 
to legal strategy. 

Terry and Stewart sparred for several months. Finally Stewart gained 
an injunction, but possession was nine points of the law and Teuy had 

13 Meredith was much beloved by his friends. His body was returned to Nevada 
City for hurial. He was given a hero's funeral. Indeed, his monument is one of the 
largest in the Nevada City cemetery. Every year, and for many years thereafter, 
one of ,his relatives from the State of Virginia made a pilgrimage to his grave. 
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possession. The dispute was made more complex by the doubtful juris­
diotion of two judges. Judge R. P. Flenniken, lately arrived, was incapahle 
of handling the court and of enforcing his orders. Stewart physically 
forced him to resign, and Judge John Cradlebaugh was H'i:ognized as the 
legally constituted judge for western Utah Territory. 

In the meantime, Terry had gone to San Francisco to interview some 
of his clients who Iived there, leaving his partner to handle the suit. When 
Terry returned he found rhrut Judge Cradlebaugh had issued the injunc­
tions and that they had been executed. The Terry men were evicted from 
the Comstock Lode. It was supposed that Terry would be in a rage when 
he found that he had been worsted, but he was not. He left Nevada 
the same evellling, went irruncdiately to San Francisco, ,took passage for 
the South and joined the Confederate Army. He fought hravely all 
through the CivaI War. 

Carson County, Utah Territory, crc<Hed in 1855, had been through 
many vicissitudes in four short yeacrs. The county had heen organized, 
officers appointed, settlements made, and industries started by the Mor­
mons, when, in 1857, President Brigham Young recalled his followers to 
Salt Lake City on account of the approach of the LIn~ted States Army to 
tha't city. Most of the faithful left everything and returned to the center 
of their Zion. Gentiles moved into Carson County and took over their 
holdings, setting up a Provisional Government. Petitions were circulated 
requesting the LI. S. Congress to separate this area from Utah Territory 
and to organ~ze another onc. Local enforcement govemmcnts vvere organ­
ized to protect life and property so that by 1860 seveval governments, with 
little legal authority, were trying to operate. 

Into such a state of affairs came William Morris Stewart! 
After looking over t11e situation, he rcsolved to move to the new silver 

mining regions. The winter of 1859-1860 was one of tIle most severe in 
tlle memory of everyone - so the Rush to Washoe cmd not get st<1fted 
until late in the spring. On July 10, ]860, MT. and Mrs. Stewart on mule­
back, she in her riding habit, and Stewart holding their li~tle girl on a 
pillow in his arms, started for Virginia City. Arrivling in this primitive 
settlement, thc Stewarts had to live in a tent. And since Mrs. Stewart was 
a true southern gentle-lady, she knew little about cooking or house­
keeping. She often related in later years to her friends ~lnd children how 
she lived in her luding habit for days and that she paid $300.00 for a 
cook, and itllat apples were $1.00 apiece. On Sunday mornings Mr. 
Stewart often cooked breakfast of bacon, beans, flap-jacks and coffee. Dr. 
Edmund Bryant was the fami'1y physician, and he and his wife, the 
beautiful Marie Louise Hungerford, later Mrs. John W. Mackay, were 
aJIDongllheir close fviends. Although ,this existence was rough living, 
Mrs. Stewart added that there was so much excitement, she enjoyed those 
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early days of roughing it. Besides, many of their fonner friends from 
California mining camps were there, too. 

Almost at once, Stewart became the leading lawyer of the Com~1:ock 
Lode. BUit he could plainly observe that Virginia City could not be the 
capital of the new territory and that Carson City was the best place for the 
seat of government. 

The law to create Nevada Territory OUit of western Utah Territory 
passed the Congress March 2, 1861. In the meantime "Bill" Stewart, as 
he came to be called for the rest of his life in Nevada, had become the 
lawyer for the Original locators on the Comstock Lode. His reputa1lion 
and experience in Callifornia mining litiga1lion had followed him to Ne­
vada. Because he was the learned specialist in mining law, few other 
lawyers were any match for him, albeit some of the most ahle lawyers of 
California had come to Virgin~a City to practice. 

It has heen stated before that in California it had been customary for 
miners in each mining district to make <their own local laws, and because 
the hrst miners to come to the Comstock Lode were from California they 
brought these customs with them. And since gold had first been discovered 
at the south end of the Lode in (',old Hill, the first mining distJ:Iict was 
organized there, and was called the Gold Hin Mining District. A Re­
corder, V. A. HousewOtTth, was elected, a record book purchased, and the 
claims on the Lode recorded in it. 

In California ~he mineral veins were smaIl, so Stewart had dmfted 
the phl'2seology of the hrst quaJ.1tz mles to .read that "the vein with all its 
dips, spurs and angles" ,md so on should go to its discoverers. In other 
words, the vein would apex, appear on the surface, on the located ground, 
and thereby go to the original locator. But the Comstock Lode was a true­
fissure-vein , some one and one-half miles long. Stewallt "vas not only a 
skillful lawyer, he was also a practical miner. 

After the discoverers and a few of the persons who £irst heard ahout 
the rich Comstock Lode had located the first claims along the line of the 
vein, there were swanl1S of claim-jumpers who rushed in, and with utter 
abandon, located claims which had already heen HIed on. The result of 
this situation was the numerous suits brought by the original locators to 
determine the nightful owners. There were many difficult and intricate 
points of law and geology to be settled. The scientific aspects of these 
<luestions do not belong here, but briefly stated: 1t appeared on the surrace 
of ,the Lode rhalt there were two distinctly different veins. Besides, this 
Lode has a distinct foot waH, and hanging wall. The foot wall is an 
intru:;ive Chlorite formation (Mt. Davidson) and the hanging wall is an 
igneous andesite porphery formation. The bonanza are bodies were locked 
in the wide sheared and fissured zone between the diorite and the andesite 
formations. In addition to · this complexity, the claims had parallel end-
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lines, bUit no side-lines, that is, the l<x~ators had so many feet along the 
vein, marked off in lots of 100 feet, but the claim5 extended up the 
mountainside, and down it, indefinitely. 

Bill Stewart recognized and understood the geology of the Comstock 
Lode, that there was only one vein, instead of Itwo, and therefore the later 
claim jumpers had no valid title to their ,locations. This contention was 
proved correct when the mines reached certain depth5; heside5, the leading 
geologists had mainltained that this was the ·formation of the Comstock 
Lode. Stewant was retained ~n 1860 as counsel for ,rhe original locators, the 
corporations which were formed, and/or their assignees. He won case 
aliter case from the beginning. (This litigation lasted some four years and 
it would take a hook of major length to discuss it fully.) 

Two of the important suits brought were the GQuld and Curry and the 
Chollar-Potosi. The judge, really a roferee, after a long and tedious 
examination of the evidence, declared that in his conviotion Stewart's 
clients were right, that the alleged two ledges were part of the 5ame 
vein, or Lode, ,and he also adjud.ged thM an order of injunction should be 
granted, expelling the trespassers on the land of the original locators. 

The fabulous stories which came out of this liltigation have 110t been 
enti,rely set fo~th. Some of the hest legal talel1lt wa5 pitted again:.t Stewal't 
and his partners, Alexander W. Baldwin and Moses Kirkpatrick. In one 
argumel1Jt Baldwin, not tl1enhis pantner, kept badgering him by objec­
tion after objection. Finally it nettled Stewart to the lXJint where he said 
to Baldwin: 

"You little shrimp, if you don't stop those tactics, 1'U cat you." 
Whereupon Baldwin replied, "If you do you vvill have more braim in 

your helly than you have in your head." 
Stewart liked a person who could come back at him in that way. He 

made Baldwin his law partnE-'T. 

It must be known here that many of the judges, appointed hy the 
National Goven1mcn:t to the Ternitory of Nevada, received inadequate 
salalJies. These jurists were oalled upon to rule in suits involving millions 
of daHars. And litigants were not above brihery. In one ease, one of the 
judges was to be paid $15,000.00 to rule in a certain way. The money, 
paid in gold coin, was taken at night to the hotel room of the judge. The 
"go-between" knocked at the door. The judge's wife knew he was coming, 
so she answered the knock. Opening thc docrr, she offered her long 
night robe to ,receive the heavy coil1ls, but the weight of it tore off the 
robe and the embalTI'assed lady was left standing, naked as a worm. 

Because Bill Stewalrt knew, as did many other persons, that the 
judiciary of the Territory of Nevada was corrupt, (one of the representa­
tives of the corporations said the chief trouble with ithe judge5 was ~hat 
the sons-oF-guns wouldn't stay bought, once they wCfe paid), he exposed 
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their corruptions and physically forced the entire judiciary to resign. 
Because of Bill Stewart's legal acumen, infinite reSOUIces, and uni­

form success un winning law suits, his fees were enormous. Of him and 
his fabulous income from these sources, it was said: 

"William. M. Stewa~t, the old inv.incible, tireless in devotion, in­
capable of fa,tigue, master of mining-camp juries, 'received $165,000.00 
from the Belcher Minung Company and $50,000.00 from the Yellow 
Jacket Mining Company in single fees . His professional income during 
these years of Comstock Litigation was over $200,000.00 a year. The 
litigation was said to have cost over $10,000.00; Stewart emerged a multti­
millionaire." 

But Bill Stewart's reputation did not come out of this period of litiga­
tion untarnished. One of the lowl newspapers "wote that, "Duning the 
flr~ few years of the Comstock, the dominating indiviclual was undoubt­
edly William M. Stewart ... He was a man of large plans, immense 
fertility of resource and unflinching coumge." Burly, fran kspOkcn, 
powerful, menltally and physically, h'e was said to "tower ahove his 
fellow citizens like the C,olo$$uS of Rhodes and :to contain as much brass 
in his composition as that famous st,btUt' ever had." 
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WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART - STATE MAKER 

ImpoI1tant events took place rapidly in we~tern Utah 'J'enitory in the 
fall of 1857 and the spring of 1858: a Provisional Government was set 
up in Genoa, a Constitutional Convention was called, a newspaper, the 
Territorial Enterprise was estrubl~shed, and a delegate elected to go 
back to ,Washington, D.C., with petitions to ask the Congress for a 
separate territory. In the midst of these evel1lts, the news of the rich dis­
covery of the Comstock Lode reached ,the se.ttlements of western Utah 
Territory, some thirty miles away. The first TUsh to Washoe was from 
these areas. 

Among the first persons ,to come to the Comstock rush in 1859 when 
the news reached California was William Morris Stewart. He waSi so 

impressed with the richness of :the Comstock Lode he decided to move 
from DownieviHe to Ophir Diggings (Virginia City) the following year. 
In the spring of 1860 he paeked up his law books and went to Genoa to 
open a law office. He rented the second story of the old Reese's Station 
log housc. There in the first house in Nevada and the first seat of govern­
ment, StewaI1t a.rgued his 11rst cases before judges w,ith doubtful juris­
diction. 

The first attempts for'(l sepamte government in W estern Utah Terri­
tory were swept away With the rush and excitement of the silver 
discoveries. In the meantime, 1858, some of the entcrprising citizens of 
Genoa moved Ito Eagle Valley, laid out Ca.rson City, reserved several 
blocks for capitol buildings, and WiLth great Vligor pushed forward the 
sepa,ration movement. Wilth the aid of Califomia representaJtives, a bill 
was introduced in Congress for the creation of the T erritory of Nevada. 
President Buohanan signed the bill 2 March 1861. 

In the patronage for the appointees of the Territory of Nevada, James 
W. Nye, New York City, Orion Olemens, Keokuk, Iowa , and Bonjamin 
B. Bunker, New Hampshire, Attorney Ccncml. A full complcmerit of 
other of£i·cers was chosen, but not one of~hem came fl'Om Nevada Terri­
tory. Covernor Nye, as directed hy ~he Territoria1 Act, divided the T cri-i­
tory into election districts. Territorial legislators were el ected and the 
first Territorial Legislature of Nevada convened Octoher 1, 1861. 

In 1860 Stewrurt moved his famiily from. Virginia City >to Carson City 
where he had huilt a large cut stone, wood-trimmed home on the nOIth­
west corner of King and Minnesota streets. Carson City and Virginia City 
were the largest towns in ,the Territory and cach one of tl1Cm wished to 
be named the capital. Stewart saw ,rhat Carson City had grcater advan­
tages for better living than its 'l1ival, so he uscd his tinHuencc ,to locate thc 
capital there - the climate was better and it had good water, also. There 
was a considerable contest for members of the T erritorial Council, state 
senator under state government, and for the House of Rq)rt'st' ll'tacives, 
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( the Territori'al Assemhly). Anxious to find out how Bill Stewarlt stood 
on the subject, a committee inquired of him where he thought the 
capital ought to be. When he said Garson City, he was elected to repre­
sent Empire Gilty, a section near Carson City. 

Since Stewart knew he ha.d heen elected to swing the majority vote 
for Carson Gity, he stayed home the day the delegaJtes were gathering 
for the Territori~l'l legislMive session. Of each one heinquua:ed how he 
wanted his county bounded and where he waI1lted its county s~liI:. Each 
one told him; he framed the county bill divid1ng tllc Territory into 
counties ~md fixing ,the county scarfs. It "vas under!>tocxl beforehand that 
a vote for Carson City as the capital, meant the setting up of the county 
se3'ts as the delegates had requested. The contest was sharrp and Virginia 
city lost by three votes. The result of this trade - county seats for Carson 
City the capital, resultedl in five smaIl counties in western Nevada -
Washoe, Storey, Lyon, Douglas, Orm!sby. As the county seats were 
l<x:ated in those days, each one was one-half day's buggy ride from Carson 
City. Thus, a round trip to the capirta'l and back again in one day was a 
mo~t convenient means of carrying on mate business. 

The Ilrst Nevada Territorial Legislature was called together on Octo­
ber 1, 1861, in 'a stone huilding at the Warm Springs Hotel, loaned by 
j\hra:ham V. S. Curry. After the preliminaries of organization were gone 
through and the preSident of the Council had made his 0ren~ng address, 
StewaI1t and Thomas Hannah were appointed Ito wait upon Governor 
Nyc, and to inform him the two houses were ready to recoive any com­
munication he might he pl~lsed to make to them. Governor Nye then 
delivered his Message in v~hich he ou:tl~ned all of their duties, and urged 
them to be guided by "an enthusiastic p<lJtriotism. for the Union." 

StewaI1t's partioipation in the organization of Nevada Tenitory and 
the contributions of his legal skill made him the most prominent member 
of the Ter'ritorial Council. His inHuence prevailed throughout its entire 
session, and as a member of more committees, he inllroduced more bills 
than 'any other member, all of whQch were adopted. 

Among StewaTt's most conspicuous achievemellts was the introduction 
of the first bill - AN ACT ADOPTING TIlE COMMON LAW. This bill was 
,the most extellisive of the session; it conitainoo seven hundred and fourteen 
articles under seventeen tides. He also wrote the laws which regulated 
the proceedings in civil cases in rhe courts of justice, defined the judicial 
d~!ltricts, fixed the terms of the Distniot and Supreme Courts, and located 
the county seo'l!ffi. And Ithrough his influence he located the Capitall of 
Nevada at Carson Oty. 

The most historic incident which took place during the Le~slative 
session was the completion of the transcontinental telegraph system: it 
conneoted October 23, 1861. The plivilcge of sending the first wire over 
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the ,lJine was given to the Neva,cla Territorjal Legisl:ature. Stewart was 
appointed Chairman of the committee, assisted by Thomas Hann:rl1, to 
dra£t a telegraphic message to President Lincoln: 

RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL, THE HOUSE CON­
CURRING, THAT -

Whereas, the privilege of forwarding the Hrst telegraph mes­
sage across the cO'JlJtinent, has been giVien to the Legislative 
Assembly of Nevada Terdtory, therefore be it, 

RESOLVED, THAT THE SAID COMMUNICATION SHALL 
CONSIST OF THE FOLLOWING LANGUAGE, Viz: 

Nevada Territory, Ith.rough her fir~t Legislative: Assembly, to 
the president and the people of the United States - Grecting: 
Nevada for the Union, ever tme and loyal! The last born of 
the Nation, will be the la~t to desert the flag! Our aid to the 
extent of our ability, can be relied upon to crush the rebelltion. 

Signed, THOS. HANNAH 
William M. Stewart (Chairman) 

Committee from the Council 

Signed, W. P. HARRINGTON 
Samuel D. Youngs, 

CommilJtee from the I-louse 

Stewart resigned as a member of the Territorial Council in 1862; 
mining litigation was ahsorbing most of his time. 

Mr. and Mrs. Stewal't and lilJtle Bessie moved from Carson Cliy to 
Virginia City in 1863, where the Stewarts had built a large two-story 
frame house on Stew<lJ-,t Street, named for him, high upon the steep 
slopes of Mount Davidson. It cost $30,000.00 to huild. During the politi­
cal campaign of thnt year when Stewart was ,a candida,te for Unite,d 
States Senator, he gave Mrs. Ste\.vart $40,000.00 to go to San Franoisco 
to purchase furniture for the home. 

In addition to having Mrs. Stewa(lt buy furniture for their h0111e, he 
wished also Ito have his wife out of the Territory of Nevada while the 
ulmJY<liign was going on. She was a loyal Southerner. Her bther had heen 
Covernor and United States Senator of Mississippi. Indeed, at thattJime, 
1863, Senator Foote was a member of the Confoocr<1Ite Congress and his 
two sons were serving in the Confederate Army. 

( Since the candidates for offic.e were a part of 1ihe baHot when the first 
Constitution of Nevada was subm~,tted to the people, and since this 
Constitution was defeated, there were no state officials elected.) 

The Virgi!I1lia City Stewmt home was given to Mrs. Alexander W. 
"Sandy" Baldwin, widow of Alexander Baldwin, Stewart's lruw partner, 
after her hushand had been roilled in a milroad accident in Oakland in 
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1868. Later Mrs. Baldwin marcied Genoral J. B. Winter and the couple 
moved to San Francisco. 

The Stewart-BaldWin home survived the Virginia F~re of 1875, albeit 
the fire did burn to the frollit garden. When the mines were shut down 
in 1879-1880, and many families moved away, the large 'homes became 
vacant, including the Stewa'J.1t home. 1.t remained as such unrtlll after 1887, 
when it was torn down and the lumber used to rebu~ld the Piper Opera 
House. (It was bought for $100.00.) 

Along with h~s law practice, Stewart engaged in many mining opera­
tions. With seveml associates, he acquh:ed a valuable mine in Gold Hill, 
and to work the ore they built a mall on Carson River, constructed a road 
to it, bought eight teams of six mules each to haul the ore, purchased and 
h'<1d delivered a hundred tons of hay and a hundred tons of barley. And 
the firm built another mill in Gold Canon just below Gold Hill. Every­
thdng was ready for the pmtners to make a fortune of several miHion 
dollars. In fact, before they began mill operations, they were offered a 
half million for these holdings. 

In December, 1861, there came one of the most terrific storms ever 
known ~n Nevada. Snow fell five and six feet deep where it seldom ever 
fell. Followin.g .the snowfall, a wann rain sot in, melting the snow and 
precipitating the worst flood in history. Water filled the mine and the 
£lood ;took out both mills With the hay and grain. The Stewart fi.rm lost 
a half million dollars in a Single night, and jt left them with no money 
to pay their men or to buy food for the an~mals. 

This terrific loss would have depressed most men, but Stewart re­
solved to rccoup as much of the loot fortune as he could. Hav~'ng a frien.d 
in San Francisco from whom he knew he could borrow considerable 
money, he left at once. Setting out on foot, for ,there were no stages run­
ning in such a storm, he wall ked and ran most of the way, stopping only 
for the nright at wayside inns. Finally, after great and heroic sacriFices, 
lle arr~ved lin San Francisco, borrowed the money, and retumed to Gold 
Hill. He sold the mules, paid oH the workers, and sold the mine for 
$60,000.00. And practically no one knew he had gone broke in a single 
night. 

Almost as soon as the Territory of Nevada was organized, a movement 
hegan to admit Nevada as a state. However, the Congress d~d not give 
Nevada this privilege until March 3, 1863. W,illiam Morris Stewart was 
elected one of the delegates to the ConstltuJtiona,J Convention to frame 
a constitution. His pa,rt in the making of the state's consti,turtion was com­
pamble to <that' in the first TeI'fIi.toria~ Legislature. And it was s~d by 
one of his colleagues "hat "he 'had as much to do in framing the State's 
organic law as did any other 'ha1f-dozen members." 

The question of de'V'ising revenue for the new Srate caused the bj,tter-
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est debates during the Convention. Since min~ng was the ch~ef industry, 
it was thought by a majority of the dclegaJtesthat it should bear the 
greatest burden of taxation. The taxation section of ithe constitution pro­
vided for '~taxing the shafts, drifts, and worlci.ng of the mines," as well 
as the bullion they produced. Stewart offered anamendmen!t to this 
pro~sion that only the net proceeds of the ~nes, known as the bullion 
tax, be levied. His amendment failed of adopllion. Stewart and associates 
knew thaJt the young mining industty could not carry this tax burden, so 
they worked against the adopllion of the constitution and succeeded in 
defeating it. 

The people of Nevada were, however, for statehood. The corrupt 
judiciary, irresponsible territorial officiaJs, the desire to elect ,their own 
officials, and the wish of President Lincoln to have more votes in the 
Congress ,to pass Civil War legislaltion, led to a request for an~her 
chance for Nevada to become a state. A second enabling act was passed by 
the Congress, March 22, 1864, a second consllitutional convention was 
held, and a second constitution was framed. Stewart was not a member 
of this convention, but the tax section which he had offered as an amend­
ment in the first constitutional convention was adopted. The people of 
Nevad;t overwhelmingly voted for this constitution September 8, 1864. 
The text of this constitution was telegraphed to President Lincoln, and 
he proclaimed Nevada the ,thirty--si:x;th State of the Union, Ocrober 31, 
1864. Stewa'rt campaigned for this ,second constitution as ~gorously as he 
had worked against the first one. And one newspaper wrote: 

"All aboard! The old ship 'Constitution' Captain Stewart, master." 
The first S~ate Legislature convened December 12, 1864. After organ­

i~ing, the first order of business was the election of Nevada's fi'Ist United 
States Senators ; Stewart was elected on the fi-rst ballot, December IS, 

In Stewart's election, the newspapers of California and Nevada "recog­
nized the need of the Pacific Coast .for la sound lawyer" - he had been a 
"fa1thful, trusted, and successful counselor of the heaviest mining interests 
in the west; an energetic, wide-awake go-ahead business man with un­
tiring physical and mental energy; a man thoroughly versed in the history 
and identified with 'the interests of his State. In electing Stewart, Nevada 
is sending ;to the United States Senate a man of commanding intellect, 
and of indomitable energy. Public opinion is certain of his unimpeachable 
loyalty, and admitted no question ,that there was no single individual ill 
the State of Nevada to whose efforts the Union BaLty was more indebted, 
than to Stewart's. It is N evada's good fOlitune to have a man wholly self­
made, possessing remarkable good sense, and \V!i,th nothing florid nor 
OI'nate about him." 

In the first five years that WiIJ,iam Morris Stewart had spent in Ne-
1864, and James W. Nye was eleoted the next day. 
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vada, he had Illaken a commanding paTt in ma:>tering the problems of a 
frontier mining cornmunrity with its charaoteristic contempt for law; he 
had forced a corrupt judiciary to resign; and he had laid the foundation of 
a Territory and a State; he had won a poLitical victory for ,the Union Parity; 
and he had become the first United States Senator £lrom Nevada. This 
year, 1964, is the Centennial of his election. 
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William Morris Stewa])t and James Warren Nye, the first United 
States Senators of Nevada, leEt San Francisco by steamer for Washing­
ton, D.C., by way of the Isthmus of Panama. Arriving February I, 1865, 
they took their oaths 6f office the same day as members of the Thirty­
Eighth Congress. 14 The follOwing day the TUffiTEENTH AMENDMENT of 
the Constitution of the United States, was adopted. Nevada had ,furnished 
the necessary votes for this aotion. The brst Nevada State Legislature was 
in session; it ratified this amendment February 16, 1865. 

Shortly after Senator StewaJjt arrived in Washington, he called on 
President Lincoln. Taking h~m by ooth hands, the President greoted him 
most cordia<Uy: 

"I am glad to see you here. We need as many loyal slates as we can 
get ... and the gold land silver in th~ region you rcpresenlt has made it 
possible for the government to maintain suffiaient credit to continue this 
ter;rible war for the union . . ." 

The first meeting between Senator Stewa])t and President Lincoln was 
the first of several they had before the President was assassinated April 
15th. It was ,the cu::;tom of the Presioont to stand in the doorway between 
two rooms in the White House where he received Senators, Representa­
tives and other officials oalling on him for business. A line was formed, 
and as each person explained his business, he would leave by the door 
where the P'rcsident stood. Senator Stewart has said that: "The dispatch 
with which Lincoln transacted business by this plan was marvelous ... 
He would often receive as many as a hundred representative men in two 
hours ... " If the matter could not be handled in a few minutes, the Presi­
dent would make an appointment for a later meoting. 

Within a week after Senators Stewa:r;t and Nye arrived in Washing­
ton, D.C., President Lincoln gave a dinner party to the Senators o£ the 
West. At the beginning of the runner he told his guests that he had two 
matchlE:'Ss story-tellers to entertain tlIem. Instead of the Senators telling 
stories, Lincoln told them 'himself. Some of them were on Senator Nyc, 
whom Tincoln had known during the campaign of 1860-61. Nye was, 
himself, a pretty good story~teHer, and the dinner party became a h~larious 
one, and it also made Stewart a good friend of the President. 

Ll\Jte in February, 1865, Stewart received a telegram from constituents 
in Nevada that the United States i\ttovney and the Register of the Land 
Office had begun prosecution against Nevada citizens for cutting wood on 

14 A fOllr and two-year term were assigned to Nevada. Stewart and Nye cirew 
lots, with Stewart, by accident, receiving the four-year term, Nye the two-year one. 
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public lands. A£ter s,tewaxt .had taken >the cOiIllp131ints to the officials in 
charge of ,these aotivities and w~th no satisfaction, he went to President 
Lincoln. After a brief explanation of his business the President, who 
understood the situation at once, shoved a tablet across the table to Stewart 
and asked him to write the names of persons who could discharge the 
duties of Attorney and Register. He did so, and the Pvesident ordc'Ted 
commission's to he made ont for them. Then he and Stewart had a most 
pleasant conversation about othcr things as though nothing had happened. 

A few days before the surrender of General Lee at Appam,]ttox, 
Stewalt went to City Point, Virginia, Grant's headquarters. President Lin­
coln came to the same place by steamer. The purpose of the gathering of 
the President, United States Senators and '3fmy and navy officers, was a 
review of General Grant's arn1y. A temporary platform was erected for the 
review. General Grant sat next to the President, wMle Senator Stewart sat 
next to the General. 

In order that President Lincoln and the pacrty of visitors could have 
a better view of the army, severa'! fine horses were brought to them to ride. 
When the orderly led the horse to the Senator from Nevada, and after he 
had looked at his frock coat and silk hat, he inquired of him: 

"Arc you a good rider?" 

"I've been in the habit of riding horses in the West," was Stewart's 
reply. 

"Well, you must look out for this horse." the orderly admonished. "He 
came D us from .the Confederate Army." 

Stewart and a group of officers mounted their horses and rode off to 
inspect the surrounding country, President Lincoln following with his 
aides. vVhen the party was 011 the return journey, Stewart's Confederate 
horse decided it wlished to return to rebel lines. The Nevada Senator tells 
the story well: 

" ... my horse raised his ears, twitched his nose, looked longingly in 
the direction of Richmond, s(Jllealed a couple of times, and then started 
for the Rebel lines as hard as he could go ... I went along with him. I 
did not [C{X)gnize any likely place to get off. My coat-tails stood out 
grandly in the Fresh breeze, and my plug hat saiiled off like a big hlack 
crow as my steed, scenting his old friends £rom afar, took one of those 
broken-down mil fonces, and headed for Lee's army." 

Stewal1t gripped the horse w1uh his legs, held on with alJ his might, 
and yanked on the hit in his horse's mouth. Finally, with all his strength, 
he loosened the bit and a cavalry officer, obserVing ,the runaway hor~, 
rode between Stewart and the Rebel lines, and stopped him. On the way 

~ back to Washington ,that night, Stewart satin the seat in front of the 
VPresident, who leaned c)ver and said: 
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"I'm glad that horse did not make it necessary for me ito make an 
application to the General of the Confederate anny for an exchange of 
prisoners for a United States Senator, as we have never captured any 
Conf.ederate Senators." Lt seems Lincoln had been viewing Stewart's re­
trea,t with great amusement through field-glasses. 

On the day before President Lincoln was assassinated, Stewart was in 
New York City. There he happened to meet his old friend and former law 
pa'r.tner from Nevada City, Californ~a, Judge NHes Searls, who expressed 
a desire to meet President Lincoln. Stewart ~nvited him to go to Washing­
ton with him that night, and to call on the President the next day. These 
two old friends stayed up all night .talking about old days in Nevada City, 
consequently they missed the ten o'clock ~siting 'hour of the President, 
and had to wait for the seven o'dock one in the evening. 

On lihe evening of April 14, 1865, Stewart and Searls called at the 
White House. They sent in .their cards by an usher who soon retumoo 
wirth a card on which was written: 

"I am engaged to go to the theatre wirth Mrs. Lincoln. It 
is the kind of an engagement I never break. Come with 
your friend tomorrow at 'ten and I shall be glad to see you. 

A. Lincoln." 

These words written to Senator Stewart were the last ones Abraham 
Lincoln ever wrote. On their way from the White Housc the President: 
was just putting his wife ~n a carriage. When he saw Searls and Stewart 
he extended his hand cordially, and Stewart: introduced Searls to the Presi­
dent. The President repeated what he had said on ,the note Ito Stewart. .l!t 
was the last time he saw the President alive. 

Judges Searls was most pleased thaJt he ,had mot Lincoln, had heard 
him speak, and 'had a good look at him. Stew3'rt accomp-anied Searls to the 
crain, and then walked back up town alone, deciding to go to Ford's 
Theatre, also. But when he arrived there he found such a crowd he 
couldn't get in and went to the room of his California friend, Uni,ted 
States Senator John Conness. 

These two Senators had been talking bUJt a few minutes when a 
colored man rushed in to tell them of Ithe news of the attempted assassina­
tion of Secretary Seward. Rushing out to help prevent it, they learned of 
the assassination of President Lincoln. The events of that tragic night are 
records of history, but what few persons know is the pam Senator Stewart 
took jn swearing in Andrew Johnson as P,resident of the Un~<ted States. 

President Lincoln died shortly arter daylight, and wjthin minutes 
Senator Foot, of Vermont, Chief Justice Salmon P. Chase and Senator 
Stewart were on their way to the two hotel rooms, occupied by Johnson. 
With some difficulty they aroused .the Vice-President. When he opened 
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the door he was in his bare feet, and only partly dressed .In many letters 
and in his Reminiscenses Senator Stewart has described the events of that 
day. 

He said that Johnson put on a rumpled coat and looked as though he 
had been on a "bender" for a month. "I Ie was dirty, shabby, and his hair 
was matted as though with mud mom the gutter." The Chief Justice ex­
plained their mission. Johnson seemed dazed', but got himself together and 
raised his right arm as far as he could reach and ~n a thick, gmff, hoarse 
voice, said: 

"I'm ready." 
On several occasions Senator Stewart has written that there were three 

persons present when Johnson was swom in - Chief Justice Chase, U.S. 
Senator Foot, and himself - "All statements to the contrary are absolutely 
false." 

SemHor Stcwacrt's committee assignments were to plot the course of his 
legislative accomplishments in Congress. Because of his profound knowl­
edge of the law, he was appointed to the JudiCiary Comm~'ttee, likewise 
that of Puhlic Lands, and Pacific Railroads. And when a commj'ttee on 
mi,nes and mining was created, he became a member of that committee, 
also. 

Senator Stewart knew when he was olected hy such a majority in 
Nevada it WclS due to his promise to seek legislation for the possessory 
rights and titles of the mine owners. He had won their rights in the courts 
of Nevada, now he must earry the fight to the Congress. Because of its 
importance to one of the largest industries in Nevada, it is told in a fuller 
account. 



WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART - 1827 - 1909 

WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART AND THE 
NATIONAL MINING LAWS.15 

39 

It has praotically become axiomatic to associate mining with the area 
between the eastern slope of the Rocky Mountains and the Pacific Coa:>t, 
and f,rom the Canadian border to MeXico. It was the discovery of precious 
metals that brought hundreds of thousands of people from all over the 
world to this region. They swarmed over the land scooping up the gold, 
which was there for :the taking. There were so few minors at first, 'ther~ 
seemed to he sufficient for everyone. But as the gold-seekers became a 
flood of humanity, something had to be done to regulate their activities. 

One of 'the significant events of the history of the world was the dis­
covery of gold in California, January 24, 1848, just a week or more before 
the Treaty of Guadalupe-Hidalgo was signed February 2nd wirh Mexico, 
transferring all of the western mineralized region to the Un;ited States. 
Whi,le the pseudo-authority of Spain and Mexico had been theoretically 
the law of the land, there were few oHlcialsthere Ito enforce them. All of 
the land not recognized in the above treaty became Public Domaan o£ 
cl1e United St,ates. Hence the gold-seekers were trespassers. But Httlc did 
they calfe as ,they worked the gravel beds, the streams, and the dry creek 
beds for the precious metal. The Mexican.-Spanish laws regulating mining 
in Europe, and transfeNed to the Western Hemisphere, gave all wealth 
of an a'rea to the crown. This authority could lease, selll or gran.t con­
cessions for income from these sources. But the orown always demanded 
its "royal fifth" or twenty percent of the ~ncome. 

Amoricans who rushed to the first discoveries paid li~tle or no attention 
to any author~ty until they, themselves, for self-protection, had to have 
some mks or regula,tions governring Itheir industry in a given area. The 
result of this was ,the fonning of mining districts and the framing of rules 
and regulations. While every discovery, large or small, was different in 
tonain and moth ods of mining, essentially the rules were 'the same. 

As 3Jny group of Anglo'Saxons used -to demociaitic methods of making 
laws would do, men working in. any given area would call a meeting by 
word of mouth, or by posting a notice on a tree or cabin. A self-appointed 
chairman would take charge of the meeting and a recorder would be 
elected or appointed to take the notes of the meeting. The first rules were 
simple and direct: they defined and generally named the geogr<l1phic area, 
the number and size of the claims each man could hold; 'they provided for 
the recording of their claims, and the way a dispute among them could be 
settled; they designa1ted the way a claim could be secured (i11, most cases 
a pick or shovel left in ·the center of the workings was sufficient to hold 

15The legislative fight for free and open mining was concomitant with laws 
concerning Reconstruction and other legislation. 
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a clruim), and the way it could be "jumped." And where there was water 
to work the placers, the rules aJt hTSt regubted the 'Use of it. 16 In con­
sequence of the more or less satisfactory application of these rulos, similar 
codes wore made in an mining districts covering many thousands of square 
miles.17 They formed the basis for the present system of free and open 
mining lin the United States and ,the National Mining Laws. 

These first minjng codes, made as early as 1850, applied only to placer 
clruims. I,t wasn't long before the placer miners found the sources of their 
free gold in >tIle quavtz ledges above them. 

Placer mining is different from quartz mining. A placer miner wJshes 
to hold his claim no longer than it takes him Ito wash out the gold, after 
which he abandons rhe land. His investment in tools to work his claim 
is negligible; they could be paid for in a small poke of gold dust. Bu~ 
quartz mining ;required a morc elaborate code of mining laws, and a. 
considerable expenditure of money. 

Wlilliam Movris Stewart, a placer miner at hrst and later a worker of 
quantz mines, was chainnan 18 of the fi'rst meeting of quart,-; miners in the 
region around Nevada City, California. Held on December 20, 1852, 
the rules werc longer and more in detail than placer mining ,ruleS. The 
cardinal points in these rules concerned the possessory rights to the motal 
in the ledges, ~md 'bhe Ilength of ,time and amount of work <to be done to 
hold the clruims before forfeiture of ground Ito claim-jumpers. The original 
pll)rasing of these rules written by Stewart remains today as the mos~ 
~mportant part of the present minling laws. And the cardinal point is the 
right of the owner of the claIms to follow the ledge or ,the vcin; also the 
"dips, SPUIl'S, angles and varia>tions" of that vein, between the pa~allel cnd 
lines of the mining chim in which the vein occured. 

In mining parlance this phrase is referred to as the apex law, which 
means thalt the pal1t of the vein which carries any values may be mined in 
every wl1i~m of natu~e when it was fonned - and to the surface of the 
ground 1£ the ledge were discoveredaJt depth. 

These principles of quaTtz mlinung were carried Ito Nevada and applied 
to silver mining. And it was William Morris Stewa'rt, the framor of thesQ 
rules, the lawyer for the largest mining intorests on the Comstock LOde 
and other mindng camps, who s{rccessfully argued and won the suilts, 
1860-1865, in Nevada courts. It was bnte that he hard the ~ldvantage of 
other lawyers. Of him they said: 

16 Allen Grosch, one of the two brothers who mined in Gold Canon and prob­
ably were the first discoverers of silver on the Comstock, was the recorder ofl the 
mining district at Mud Springs, now Eldorado, California, 1850. 

17 The estimated size of this area was 55,000 square miles and 600 miles in 
length. 

18 Et Jupra. p. 16. 
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" ... his stMemellits were as cleflJr and stmightforwalrd as 
possible, avoiding ealrefully any semblance of legal quibble 
ortrrick. He placed himself on the level of the juries, spoke 
to their emde sense of justice and fOJimess, and S'ffove to 
convey t:he idea that his clients were entitled to a verdiot in 
equity even more :than Dy law. His opponenrts protested 
,that he was endowed with a faculty of imposing the sub­
Hmoot absurdities upon juriesl as pure and spotless ,trutili , 
but the success of his method was grumblingly adm~red."19 
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In this success he earned the title of the "grealt Jf\'\der of the Washoe 
Bar" and the same WJ1i!tcr said that "no one ever gets the advantage of 
him and few ever try it. The moot ambitious are content wiJ~h the glory 
of preventing Stevvarrt from getting the advantage of him. I am a veteran 
lawyer and when I have made a drawn game with him, I am saJtis£ied." 

The mining ,interests of the We&t could not have had a better repre­
sentative go to Congress than William Morris Stewart. He had success­
fully fought for 'Ilhe prinoiples of the miners in ,their rules and Tegula!tions; 
he had protel1ted 1:hoi,r rights in the part he took in f~aming the Constitu­
tion of Nevada; and 'he had successfully argucd thc'ir (['ights before thc 
courts of Nevada. Now it became his privilege >to carry 1Jhis stmggle to a 
conclusion in Congress inthc writing of the Nauional Mining Laws, and 
testing these >laws hefore ,the Supremc Court of the Unitod States. 

When Scnator Stewart took his seat in the Sen:ajte of the United 
States, Febmrury 1, 1865, one of the big problems before Congress was, 
how to ·finance the Civ,il War debt. The Treasmy had issued billions of 
doNars in greenbacks, really fiM money. How ,to redeem this inflated 
currency was a serious problem! Every legishntor in Congress kncw of the 
California gold production, and had heand reports of Ithe enormous rich­
ness of ,the Comstock Lode and other Nevada silver camps, which were 
fhen attracting world-wide attention. 

Soon after Senator StcwaIlt went Ito Washington, D.G, hc was illV'iitcd 
to make a speech in CoopC'f'S Union Institute, New York Citty. The 
knowledge of the richness of Western mines was the basis upon which 
legislation was then being framed for the confiscation of them by 1!he 
Uni!ted States Government. Why cooJd not ,the Nacional Debt be paid 
by the sale of the mines on the Public Domain? 

Legislation affeccing the mineral lands on the Puhlic Domain. before 
1865 waS not sufficienltly devoloped to define the rights of the miners 
and/ or thc position of the Governmell)t in relation, Ito them. This un­
settled qucstion may have continued hrdefinitely had notthc Civ~l War 

19 There were 304 civil cases in Virginia City for the conrt term commencing 
March 7, 1864; 217 of which were mining suits. And the law firm of Stewart, 
Baldwin and Kirkpatrick had most of them. Virginia. Unio1l, March 6, 1 %4. 
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greatly increased the National indebtedness. The first aotion taken was 
the recommendation of the Secretary of the Interior to Congress that 
Il'evenue be secured from the sale or lease of the Western mines. 

Mr. George W. Julian, Indiana, ron twice for a sealt in, the House of 
Representatives and was eleoted both times upon a platform to seU the 
mineral lands at Hli0tion to help pay the expenses of the Oivil War. He 
was made the Ohairman of the Committee on Public Lands, and he 
became Ithe chief opponent of the Senators and Representatives who were 
tfJgh6ngfor the possessory and fee title rights of the mihetrs to thcir 
claims. 

The mine owners of Nevada became so alanmed over the discussion 
on selling, leasing or tax,ing the m~nes in 1864, they petitioned the Ne­
vada State Legislature to forward a Rcsoluition to the Congress requesting 
that no aotion be taken on the bill to tax the mines until Nevada's repre­
sentatives could reach Washington, D.C. 

The fi~ biH introduce.d in the Thirtty-eighth Congress was one to 
raise money to liquida.te the National Debt, and one of its main provi­
'Sions concerned .the tax on the proceeds of the mines. Senator Stcwal't 
delivered a long speech against taxing gold and silver ore; he struggled 
valU:anl~l y but vainly to have the word "buNion" struck from the bill. 
Lwter, however, a Conference Committee on the! revenue bill was ap­
pOinted and thas time the Senator was successful in 'having bullion struck 
out and his phrase of1 a qualification on taxing the mines subst,itlllted. 
Thus, Senator Stewal(lt won his first round in the Senate, not to' hurden 
the mine owners with heavy taxes. But the western representatives were 
aware that they had to be a'lert always to protcrt their chlief indusbry. 

On February 10, 1865, Stewart requested in a TIesolut,ion that Con­
gre9S add to their list of commi.tltees, one Dn Mines and Mining. The 
Resolution was not acted upon alt thalt time but Stewa1nt introduced 
another and similar Resolution on March 8t'h; this time it passed. Senator 
John Conness of California was made the Ohairman and Stewart was 
appointed a member. This was a second victory for it meant that all 
Ilegislallion directly affecting mining had necessadly to' be referred to it. 

When Nevada was proclaimed a State, no provision was made for her 
Federal Courts. The bill for the creation of a Federa:l Court Distncict in 
Nevada was inlvroduced by Henry G. Wort:hJ:ington, Representative of 
Nevada. The matter, referred to' ,the C,QJnmittee on Judiciary. was re­
ported, and was passed. When the bill reached Ithe Senate, SteWa11t offered 
the fj'fst amendment: 

That in aotions respecting mining claims ,the custDms and 
regu~ations of the miners shall be regarded as law, and 
enforced by <the CQurtJS of the United States ... 
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At hrst this amendment was opposed, but Stewart made such a con­
Vlincing speech that he gained supporT\: &om o~her Senators and was 
successful :in getJting it adopted. 

'Dhe second amendment offered by Stewart recognized the p<>..<;se~'isory 
title as stated in the minors' rules and reguI:aJtions as foHows: 

And be it ,fuJ.1ther enacted, that no possessory aotion between 
individuals in any of the courts of the United Staltes, fOT the 
Tecoveryof any mining tide or for damage to any such tirle, 
shall be affected by the faot rhaJ\: the paramount tide Ito the 
land on which suah mines are, in the United States, hut 
each case shall he adjusted by the law of p0SSossion. 

The nrst case Ito be tried before the United States Supreme CourT\:, 
testing the legality of Nevada's CoUirt Hill, was appealed from Virginia 
Oity, Storey County, Nevada. The action brought in the suit, Sparrow 
v. Strong, for the recovery of a certain mining claim on land belonging 
to ,the United S/tates GovClrnment, was begun while Nevada was still a 
TeHitory. StewarT\: was the counsel fOT the plaJirutiff. He argued that the 
TeJ'ritorial Legislature of Nevada had passed laws giving miners certain. 
rights in the territorial counts. And with the implied sanotion of the 
NatiOnal Government had :indirectly recognized the possessory claims as 
property, without the interference of National auth'ori,ty. He further 
alleged ,that Ithe N3Jtional Govenlment, through the Federal Courrts, 
.could not dismiss thc writ of error, because the controversy concerning 
/the possesSOTy right to a mining claim was oapable of being valued tin 
money. 

The lengthy opinion in the suirt of SP,liNOW v. Strong was written by 
Chief Justice Salmon P. Chasc. He sustained Stewart in his amendments 
and arguments in the "Courts BHI." Justice Chase said in part: 

... that history informs us that under this lcgislati<m, and, 
not 011i}y without inlterference hy the National Government, 
but ~mder its implied sanoti<m, vast mining interests have 
grown up cmploying millions of capital, and contrihulting 
largely to ,thc prosper-,ily and improvement of the whole 
COUll!l!ry ••• 

SenatOT StewaJrt's open letter written to United States Sena!tor Alex­
ander Ramsey, M,inncsota, was incorporated in Chase's written opinion.2o 

"Upon the discovery of gold in Callifornia, in 1848, a large emigration 
of young men immediately rushed to that modcm Ophk. These people, 
nu.mbering in a few months hundreds of thousands, on arciving 3Jt their 
future home, found no laws governing the possession and occupation of 

20 Since this letter has not been printed in full, its entirety is here quoted. 
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mines hut the common law of r'ight, which Americans alone are educated 
to administcr. They were forced hy the vary necessity of the case to make 
laws for themselves. The reaSOn and justice of \the laws they formed 
challenge the admrimtion. of all who investigaJte ,them. Bach mining d~s­
triot, in an area extending over not less than fifty thousand square miles 
{'armed ,i,ts own rules and cmtoms throughout the entire a:eglon was so 
great as ,to obtain all the beneficial results of woll--digcsted laws. These 
,reguhlltions were thoroughly democra~c in their character, gua[1ding 
against every form of monopoly and requiring cOIlitinucd work and 
occupa,tion in good foaith to constitute a valid possession. 

"Atter the admission of Oalifornia as a state, in September, 1850, Mir. 
Fremont, then Senator from that State, introduced a biB, the purpose of 
which was toesvablish police regulations in the minos. It imposed a small 
tax on the miners to defray the expenses of the system. Many Senators, 
when the bill camEl up for .discussion, expressed the opinion that the 
mines ought Ito be sold or some means devised by which a d~root revenue 
might he ohtained from that source. Various ,amendments were offered 
to cffeot these purposes. But, Mr. Benlton rtook a lea:(Ung pal~t in the 
discussion and contended throughout that a good policy required that the 
mines should Iremain free and open for exploration and development. 
Mr. Stewar't SU9ta.ined Mr. Benton. 

"The arguments of Sel1<~tors in favor of free minring finally prevaiIed 
and amendments looking to sale or direct revenue were voted down; and 
the bill finally passed ,the Senate, withou.t material ~mendment in i ts 
original form, hut failed in the House from want of '~ime to consi,der it. 
Before the meoting of the next Congress ,the fact became known that the 
111ino[6 themselves had adopted loca~ 'rules for their own government, 
which rrondorcd aotion on the part of Conwess unnocessary and from 
thart time to the present non-action has been the policy of the Government 
with one single exception. The solemn declaration, however, just mcn­
Itioned, on the part of the Senate, of a just and liheral policy to the miners, 
was hailed by them as a practical recognition of their posses~ry rights, 
and greatly encouraged and stimulated the mining el1iterpdse, and laid the 
foundation for a system of local govemment now in fuB force over a vast 
'region of countJry inhabited by nea,rly a miNion men. 

'The legislarture of Oa'lifomia, at ,their following session, irn 1851 , had 
under consideraltion the suhject of legislaotion for tha mines and after 
full and careful investigaltion, wisely concluded to declare that the rules 
and regulations ofl'he mincrs themselves might be offered in evidence in 
'all con,trovejrsies respeDting cla·ims, and when not in conRiet wirth the 
Constitution or laws of the Un~ted States, should govern the decision of 
!the aotion. A series of wise judricial decisions moulded these regulartions 
and customs into 'a comprehensive system of common law, embracing not 
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only mining law (properly speaking) but also reguila1ling il:he use of water 
for mining purposes. The same system has spread over all the interior 
staJtes and terliitories where mines have been found , as far east as the 
Missouri niver. The miner's law is a part of .rhe miner's naulIl:e; he made 
it, and he likos it, 'Drusts tit, and obt.)'s it. He has given ,the toil of his li.fe 
to discove-d wearJth wh~ch, when found, is protected by no higher law 
ilihan enactod by himself, under the implied sanction of a just and generous 
govemment. M>ilners, '<IS a communi,ty, devote threc-fouvths of their aggre­
gate labor to exploration and consequently are and ever will !Temain, poor, 
while individuMs amass large fortunes and the treasury of the world is 
augmented and replenished. 

"Persons who have not given ,thi~ subject special attention can hardly 
realize the wonderful results of this firee system of mining. The incentive 
held out ,to ,vhe pioneer by the Teward of a gold or silver mine, i'f he can 
find one, is ma~ica>l upon ,the sanguine temperament of the prospector. 
For nmr a C1uartor of a century a race of men , consti,tuting a majority hy 
far of all ,the miners of the far west, patient of Itoil, hopeful of success, 
deprived of the associations of homel and famify, have devottXI them­
selves, with untiring energy, to sinking sh~fts, Tllnn~ng tunnels ,thousands 
of feet in solrid granite, traversing desclts, climbing mountains, and 
endUiring evory conceivable hardship and priva,tion exploring for mines, 
all founded upon the <idea that no dlange would be made in this system 
>that would deprive~heI11 of thci,r hard-earned <treasure. Some of 'tlhcse 
have found valuahle mines and :a sure prospect of vveahhand comfort 
when the appliance of capital and machinery shaH be hrought to their 
aid. Others have received no compensation hut al1lticipation - no rewaJrd 
but hope. 

"While these people have done Httle for themselves, they have done. 
valuable service for this government. They h~ve enhanced the value of 
the property of the nation nearly one hundred percent; have converted that 
vast unknown 'fegion, extending from Briitish Columbia on 'the nortih to 
Mexico On the south, and from the eastern slope of the Rocky Mountains 
to the western decline of the Sierra Nevada into the great: gold and silver 
fields of ,tihe United States, surpassing in richness and e"ltent ,vhe mines 
of mly other nation of the globe. I a!>SElIIt, and no one famj'liar ",nith the 
suhject will question the faot, that the sand plains, alkaline desel1ts, and 
,dreary mou11Ita,il1S of rock and sagebmsh of <the great anterior, would have 
been as worthless today as when they were marked by geugraphers as 
,the Great Amorican Deselit, but for this system of free minling fostered by 
our neglect, and matured and perfected by our generolls inacl,ion. No 
miner has ever doubted the continued good ,faith of rhe goverrnent, but 
has put ,hrus trust in Jits justice and liberality, traversing mountain and 
desert as incessantly and hopefuilly as the farmor of the west has ploughed 



46 WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART - 1827 - 1909 

his £ieIJ. What he now occupies, he has discoverod Hnd added to the 
wealth of the na'tion. 

"This good faith of Ilhe governmel1lt ( promised as it wore, by ,the 
aotion of the Senate sixteen yeams ago) not on~y inspired enterprise, and 
led to discoveries by the magnitude and importance of which cannot be 
overootNll<Hed, but in the >!rime of severest tr.ials of the Union, no people 
were mme loyal than the minors. They lost no opporhmity to enlist in 
your armies, or contribute to the support of tho government. Their liberal 
donations to )the Sanitauy Fund for its sufforing heroes. The Uttle town in 
which I reside contr.ibuted in gold coin over $112,000, heingat the time 
about thilJ)ty doHms to each voting inhabitan~; and a like )ibemHty was 
displayed by the whole coast. The people are unly grateful to a generous 
governmerllt, and time seems to have strongthened the regard they feel for 
theiif native land ,and their early homes. But they look with jealous eyes 
,upon every proposition ,for the sale of the mines which they have dis­
covered and made valuable. Any puhJ.ic man who adovcates it, with what­
ever motive, is liahle to be condemned and d~sml'ded as an unfai~hfu~ 
servant. The TeaSon for this is ohvious. 1t is ,their all, secured with a sale 
at auction, where capital is to compete with poverty; fcraud and intlDigue 
wi,th truth and honesty. It is not because ,they do not desire a fee"simple 
title, for >this they would prize ~~bove aU else; but most of them are poor, 
and unable to purohase in competition w~th capitalists and speculators, 
whicl1 the adoption of any plan heretofore proposed would compel them 
to do; and forr these reasons the opposition to the sale of the minoral lands 
has been unanimous in the lT1ining states and territories. 

"To e~tend the preemption system applicable to agrieuItm",l lands to 

mines is absurd and impossible. Nature does not deposit the preciolls 
metals ,in rectanguler forms, varying fro111 one foot to three hundred feet 
in width, dipping from a perpendicula.r from one to eighty degrees, and 
conrsing through for vein mines. lIt is a vein or lode that is discovered, not 
a ',:/ua,oter seotion of land, marked by surveyed boundaries. In working a 
vein more or less land is ,required, depending on ·i-ts size, course, dip and 
a great variety of other circumstances not po6sible to provide for in passing 
general laws. Sometimes these veins are found in groups, within a few 
Feet of each othor, and dipping into the earth at an angle of from thirty to 
fifty degrees, as at Freiberg in Saxony, or Austin, Nevada. In such case a 
person buying a single aore in aI rectangular f01111 would have several 
mines at the surface, and none at the five hundred or thousand feet in 
depth. \i\1ith such a div,ision of a mine, one owning ~t at the surface, an­
other at a greator depth, neilther would be justified in expen.ding money 
in costly machinery, deep shafts, and long tunnels, for the working of the 
same. Nor ,"vill it do to sell the land in advance of discovery, for this would 
stop explorations and praotically hllli>! our mining wealth to the mines 
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aheady found, for no one would 'prospect' with such energy upon, the land 
of another, and land spcculators never find mines. T ,he lll,inerallands must 
remain open and free to exploratllon and development; and while this 
policy is pursued our mineral reSOU'fces aTe inexhaustible. There is mom 
enough for every prospector who wishes to try his luck in hunting for new 
mines fnr a thousand years of exploration and yet there wiH ,be plenty of 
mincs undiscov~red. Jt would hea n<Hional calamity <to adopt any SY9tem 
that would close th:tt region to Ilhe prospector. 

"The question then presents itself, how shall ,the gnvernment give ti,tJle 
to anything so impontant for permanent prosperity, and avoid these intoler­
ahle evils? I answ~r, there is but one mode, cmd thra.t is to aSSlJIre the title 
to those who. nnw or hereaf.ter may occupy accol1ding to local rules, suited 
to the character of the mines and the circumstlanees of each mining 
district. Tn the increasing agitaJtion of the su hjeot hy the illltmduotllon into 
Cnngress of bills which miners regard as a sy~tcm of confiscatinn, and 
whioh shnll continue the system of free minting and hold ,the mineral 
lands open to exploration amI occupa,tion, subject to legislaltrion by Con­
gress and <local rules; somothing ·whic.h recognizes the ohligCl!tion of the 
government to respeot private rights which have grown up unde<r jts tacit 
consent and approval, and which shall be in hammony wri,th the legislation 
of 1865, proteoting possessory I1ights, irrespectivc of any permanent interest 
of the U nilted Sta:tcs. The system will be in harmony w~th the rules of 
p.t"opeIlty as LJ nderstood by a mi'llion mell , "Jiith the legislation of nine 
st3ltes and tenriJtorieS' ,,,,ith ,a course of judicial decisions extending over 
near a quarter of a century, and fiinally ratifried and confirmed l~y the 
Supreme Court of ,the United Stattes; in hannony, ,in 5ho]1t, with justice 
and good policy. 

WM. M. STEWART"21 

A system such as the elo<Juent Senator conceived to be accordant with 
these ideas was introduced by him into the Senalte in June, 1866. 

The faotrhat Stewalnt had g<1Jined the recogni'tioll of the (..I nited States 
Supreme COlll't of "possessory mining nights" was olle of hjs greatest 
sources of pride. Indeed , 'it was a uriumph! 

But full rights for Ithe Western miners was not yet won. On April 9, 
1866, Senator John T. Sherman, Ohio, ehaim1an of ,the powerful Finance 
C01lllmi~tee, inDroduced a hill framed by the Department of the Treasury, 
for the occup~~tion and Tegulation of minoral lands in the Unitod States. 
The hill provided that <the mineral lands be surveyed into legal subdivj'~~ons 
and sold to the higho~t hiddcr. There wore provisions in the bill in regard 
to. the person who had di scovered and/ or developed them. The bill was 

21 A public letter to Alexander Ramsey, United States Senator of Minnesota, 
John \Villiam Wallace, Cases argued and adjusted in the Supreme Court of the 
Uniterl States, December term, 1865, III, 1870. 
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,referred ,to the Commiuee on Mines and Mining. The two westem mem­
bers of this committee, Stewart and Conness, were appointed Ito draft a 
mining bill. This hill. was written entirely by Stewart; it was reported on 
May 28 as a suhstitute to Sherman's hill. And on June 18, Stewart ex­
pla.ined the mel,ilts of 'the hill in ,a formally wuittenspeectll. He said in pmlt: 

ii • • • that the equities had been seeure:d by the pioneers, who 
had developed the mineral regions of the Pacific Coast by 
their energy and industry. While the local government 
sanotioned .thei~ possessory rights and the government acqui­
esced hy i,ts silence, ,the miners relied upon ;the good faith 
of thc United States that their property rights, thus acquired, 
would be ~·espected." . 

Stewart I)()ntrayed forcefully '\the rapid devetlopment of the mining 
regions hy the m08t entlrgetic and sclf-s(1cDiHcing (face of men that ever 
occupied a nl:W coullltry." He also called albtenlbon to the faGt~hat ,the 
crocLit of the nMion had been su~tained through the prodlll'tion of gold 
and 6ilver by these pioneers of ,the Pac ific Coa~t. At [lIst <the billl13.d only 
two advocates - Stewa,rt and Conness - but .rhei'r forcoful and logieal 
arguments won a sufficient ·number of proponents to pass the bill on Jun e 
28th. It was sent to the I louse of Representatives on Ithe same day. 

'['he Stewal1t-Conness bill should have gone ito ;the Committee on 
M,ines and Mining hut Ceorge Julian succeeded in having it roferred to 

the COl11mi'btee on Publ~c Lands, of which he was the Chairman. The 
Nevada Senwtor addressed this committee, expla inling its merits. IIis force­
ful arguments won all of the committee members exeept Juhan. 

About the time the mining hill vvas undor discussion, Representative 
I ligby int'IOduced a hill concerning the :right of way of ditohes and canals. 
This hill passed the I louse and was sent to the Senate where ]t was referred 
to the Committee 011,1 Public Lands, of which Stewart was a member. 
StewaJrt had all of the biB struck out except <the enacting cLause, suh­
'sti'tuting his mil1.ing hill for the provisions of the ditch and canal hill. 

The ditch and can'al bill passed the Senate; it was sent to the House, 
where ,it was pbced on the calendar as a H ouse bill with a Senate a mend­
ment, rherefme, !it could not be referred to rthe CommitJtee of Public Lands 
'vV'ithout the vote of the Hoose. Thon Mr. Julian brought in his bill for the 
<:onfiscation of the mines endorsed by hi., cornmi~tec on Puhlic Lands. 
When the vote was taken, JuUan faund that the sentirl1ent had changed. 
This change had been effected by Senator Stewart; he had personally 
gone to eaeh member of t!l1at hody and explained ;the situation ,to him. The 
ditch and canal bm passed the House July 26, 1866, by a two-thirds 
majOl'ilty. Thus the fast mining laws of >the UnMcd States were adopted 
under the strange title of: 
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AN ACT GRANTING THE RIGHT OF WAY To DncH AND 

CANAL OWNERS OVER THE PUBLIC LANDS, AND FOR OrHER 

PURPOSES. 

49 

The members of Congress present at the time declared that the work 
of Senator Stewart, in convincing the members of the House of Represent­
~tIives hy private ~nterviews of ,the justice of the cause, was the most 
eamest and effeotive ever witnessed. 

Julian said that "when Stewallt found that his bill was going to be 
defeated in the I-louse by referring 'it <to ,the CommitItee on Public Lands, 
he reso])ted to sha;rp practice," and when the bill finally passed, Julian 
scored h~m and refeNcd to "the indecent haste" of Stewant and Conness 
"in the plot to obtain legislation under false pretenses." Julian, however, 
was callod to order for making "reflections on the Senate." 

BlI1idly, the original] Naltional M~n'ing Laws of 1866 gave the "mining 
locator an absolute deed of quilt-claim of an right, title and anterest of the 
United. States in and on the mineral lands." The law contained eleven 
sections and each section protected and defined the rights of the m~neTS. 
StewalDt said that ",the CquaIltz) miner would prize fee title above all else." 

Tlhe escape from complete confiscation of the mines was very narrow 
and the miners and the mining industry owe Sen.ator Stewart a great deal 
of gDMitude for his unceasing fight in their behaH. 

A perfect syMem of mining laws could not be expected in advance of 
both experience and development, nor could the demands of the futu:re 
of the industry provide for Ithe various and compllicated situaJtions which 
might arise in ltihe operations of rruning. Thus it was that two supplements 
ito the original mining act of 1866 were introduced hy Senator[ StewaDt in 
1870 and 1872. 

The first one was passed July 9, 1870, which proviclal for the patenting 
of placer claims; the second one was a general .revision of the original act 
of 1866. Neither one, however, ch~lllged the principles of the nrst act . The 
1872 act limited ,the miners in certain instanccs; it concockxl the right of 
miners to make laws for themselves; it defined the extent of a claim; it 
cheapened and simpHfied Ithe mode of obtaJining patents; and it provided 
that the mining laws harmonize more with the land system of the United. 
Stlltes. 

Appreciwtion of Stewart's eifoDts in behalf of mining poured in to him. 
Letters hy the dozens were wrinren to him and man.y of bhem can be read 
lin the COLLEOTIONS OF STEWART PAPERS. Hc liked ,the approval voiced 
by his contemporaries in ,the Senate when he won these viotories. Senator 
Raymond said: 
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"Sen;3tOlf Stewart has displayed both courage and judgment 
in its preparation (mining laws) and has given new proof of 
intelligent, earnest devotion to ,tJhetrue interests of the 
mining industry." 

From the time of rthe passing ofuhe first bill,William Morris StewaJ1t 
has been referred to as "THE FATHER OF THE MINING LAWS OF THE 
UNITED STATES." Through the years many attempts have been made to 

revise the oiigina.J bills and many bills have been introduced in Congress 
to bring about these changes. But every time they have been introduced, 
they have failed in passing. Thus the National Mining Laws of 1866 and 
1872 remain today the laws of this industry. 

It is impossible today, one hundred years IMer, to appraise the hendits 
that have accrued to the discoverers and developers of the minerals in the 
United States and their possessions. Immediately ~t made it possJhle for 
the United States Treasury to hegintlhe redemption of greenbacks into 
gold and silver. Billions of doll airs derived therefrom have been poured 
into ,tJhe arteries of trade. With this money cities have heen huih, milroads 
constructed, cahles laid, banks established and hundreds of indu6ltries 
developed. It is not, however, ,roo much to say that 'i,t placed the United 
States foremost among the nations Qif the WQirld. 

So long as Senator Stewart was in the Senate, he had to defend the 
principles of free and open mining. This story will be told later in this 
biography. 
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SENATOR STEWART AND RECONSTRUCTION 

Even before the Civil War was over, measures for Reconstruotion of 
the st:aJtes in the rebellion had been ,introduced 1<n the Congu:ess. Sena,tor 
Stewart ,took an aotive part in this legislation. There were two reasons 
for his interest in it; first, he knew ,that Nevada had been admitted to 
support legislation introduced by President Lincoln's adm~nrrstmuion, and 
secondly, because of Mrs. Stewart's relatives who had fought on the 
Confederate side. Her father, Senator Henry Stuart Foote, although 
opposed Ito secession, was a memher of the Confederate Congress during 
the War. And her two brothers, W. W. Foote and II. S. Foote, kid 
fought in the Confederate Army. 

Almost at once icllC Foote family, Wlith m,any relat,ives in Virginia and 
Mi,ssissippi, was brought face-tO<face wi,th Johnson's harshJ measures in 
his Amnesty Proclamation of May 29, 1865, when it excluded persons 
WOJ.1th $20,000.00 or more. This mClsm.'e deprived 'the prominellit and 
intelligent Southern leaders, among them Senart:or Foote, temporarily of 
their civil rights and any participallion in Reconstruction. And they were 
entirely at bhe mercy of the carpet baggers and negroes. 

When the Civil War was over, Senator Foote attempted to escape 
through ,the Northern lines, but he was cmght, arrested and held on 
his own recognizance. Senrutor Stewart, wi~h ,the aid of Secretary of War. 
Stanton, urged ,the release of the aged Foote, and arranged for him to 

address President Johnson; Foote ,told Johnson, how he held him in great 
esteem .as any othar Southerner would, and added ,that he ( Foote) "had 
four daughters,22 eight gmndchildren, and an only brother living on the 
Pacific Coast," Ito which place he wouM go if he were given his freedom. 

President Jolmoon remained unmoved by Foote's entrooties and 
ordered Stanton to see that he leave the limits of the Unitod St,]tes "Vithin 
fOI1ty-eigiht hours, undCII penahy of heing "arrested and dealt with for 
treason and rebellion against the United States Government." Secretary 
Stanton ordered General Dix, Commander of the Union Amly in New 
York; City, to see that this order was carried ow. Foote unit went to 
Canada and bter to Europe, spending considerable time in Ltaly.23 

From) the time that Senaltor Stewart enltered ~he Congress in 1865 
until his first IWtirement from the Senate in 1875, he took an active and 
conspicuous pa!1t in ,the work of Reconstruction. He was :the first Con­
gressman to advance the idea of uruversal amnesty and wffrage, whic.h he 
!incorporatod into a Resolution. On March 16, 1865, he offered this 
ResoluTion which required the rebels, 'themselves, rto do those things 

22 They were !iv-ing in San Francisco and Oakland. 
23 Foote returned to the United States after political disabilities of citizen­

ship were removed. He first moved to Tennessee, later President Hayes appointed 
him Director of Mint at New Orleans. 
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neces&'lIrY to restore [the States which they had carried into rehellion against 
the Union. 

Two of the provisions of the Resolution were of interest in that they 
were in anticipatJion of the Civil Rights Bill and later the Fonrteell'tl1 and 
1 :ifteenth Amendments: 

Section I . ALI discriminations among the people because of race, 
color, or previous condition of serv,itude, eithor in civil 
rights, or the right of suffrage, are pr0hibited; hut the 
States may exempt persons now voters from restTil,tions 
on suffrage hereafter imposed. 

Seotion 2. Ohligations incurred in a,id of insurrection or of war 
again.9t the Union and claims for compensation for 
slaves emancipated are void and shall not be assumed 
or paid by any State or the Un~ted States. 

Many lotter9 of approval of this Resolution were 'sent ItO Senator 
Stewart and newspapers wrote txHtoJ.1ials of praise for it. Although this 
Resolution was not adopted, the principles embodied in it were finally 
secured after many years of struggle. 

Two of the first bj,J]s il1'troducOO during the period of Reconstruction 
and referred to the judiciary Committee, were the Freelhnen's Bureau 
Bill and the Oivil Rights Bill. Stewa11t disapproved of the former bill. In 
the first place he dlOUght it confened too much power upon the com­
mission appointed ,to enforce it. And in the second place it was modeled 
after the law giving the Bureau of Indi1an Affairs power ovor the Indians. 
StewaIJt was entirely acquainted 'vvi,tIh the dishonest administration of this 
law. 

In the deba'tes on ,the Freedmen's BUTeau Bill, StCW<111t'Si Southern 
sympathy, deepentxl by ,the knowledge of how his wife's family was 
sufforing in the South, was forced to defend his stand. This much he did 
with great courage: 

"~ have never expressed that sympathy in this haH, but I now con­
fess ,that I have sympathy for the ll1asses of white pcople of the South. 
I have sympMhy for the women . .:nd chiMren who have suffered under 
the tremendous war. I 'have sympathy even for those who have com­
mitted these crimes and made the natrio.n mourn. OUIf duty to punish 
Clime docs not deny us the r~ght to sympaithize. I have sympathy for 
eJ:ring humanity alwa.ys, on all occasions; ' and, since I am charged with 
havling sympathy for the South, without ever having expressed it, I 
take this early opportunity to express it. I have also sympathy for the 
widows and orphans of the North that have been bereaved by this 
terrible contest . . . I have sympathy for the poor negro who is left 
destitute and in a helpless condition. I ami anxious to enter upon 
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pruoticallegislation that shall help all classes and aH sufferors, without 
regard to color, ,the whiltes as well as the blacks." 

The Freedmen's Bureau Bill passed both I louses, but Johnson vetoed 
it. Stewart thought he was right in doing so. 

When President Johnson learned that Senator StewMt was opposed 
to the Freedmen's Bu[eau BiB and that also his vote was the deciding one, 
he sent for him on ,the evening hefore the vote was taken on his message 
to Congress asking ,that his veto be sustained. This much Stewart agreed 
to do, but only if Johnson wolllld assure him that he would sign the Civil 
Rights Bill. The President solemnly pro·mised that he would do so "by 
all that he held sacred."24 The next day the vote was taken, and Stewart 
kept his }YcI!l:t of the bargain. A short time later, howevor, Johnson vetoed 
the Civ~l Rights BiU. From that !time on Stewart never tmsted Johnson; 
he voted to impeach hjm whenth-at question came up. 

Senator StewaJ)t was unalterably oppo~;ed to the Military Bill enforcing 
,the Fourteenth Amendment. He dedrured emphaJticalily that he would 
never vote for a bill providing for 3 military government per se. T'hert 
must lbe some provision. for the ultimate restoiaition. of ,the <rebellious states. 
The debate on this bill was long and protracted. Stewart led the fight in 
the Republican caucus to add a provision for reconstrul,tion of the states, 
~md won his fight. He was so convincing in his arguments his opponents 
could do nothing else. Because of this victory, Stewart had great weight 
on aU matters of Reconstruction. 

In. the campaign of 1868, General U. S. Grant was elected President. 
This election 3,150 returned a Republican majority in both houses of Con­
gress. Stewart was reelected .fori a full term and assigned to the same 
committees he had previously served on.25 

24 Representative Horn of Missouri was present when Johnson made his promise. 
25 Stewart was unanimously elected by the Nevada State Legislature. He was 

at first opposed by Charles DeLong but he withdrew his opposition rather than 
divide the Republican party. In a short time DeLong was appointed U. S. Minister 
to Japan. 
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MARK TWAIN AND BILL STEWART 

On the morning of August 8, 1861, two brot:hers arrived in Carson 
City who were to be associated with Bill Stewart for many years to come -
Orion and Samuel L. Clemens. The ,former !had been appointed Ter­
l'itorial Secret3Jf)( of Nevada by President Lincoln, and Ithe 13Jttcr had 
come a'long to be a secretary for his brother. The relationship bctw·een. 
the Territorial Secretary and Stewart was a purely political one - Stewart 
greatly aided ·the fiTst officials of Nevada in ,the execution of their duties. 
Bu.t ·the association of Sam Clemens and Bill Stew3iDt was entirely a 
different one. 

Sam Clemens was to 'report the proceedings of the Territorial Legis­
lature for the Territorial Enterprise, and in doing so he could present 
politicalIy ambi'liious politricians in any way he chose. His devastating wit 
and biting satillre made him a person with whom to reckon. Sam was the 
dean of reporters who gathered informally cll1d had grea.t fun lampOOning 
~he eccentricities of the legsilMoTs. During the f)'ffit session of the Legis­
lature, these reporters fonned a Third House with Sam Clemens, the 
governor. In a mock session of this group, the legislators came in for a 
lot of "kidding." Sam Clemens got in some hard 'J,icks against Stewart in 
sa61I:izing h~s speeches, especially on the ·taxa,tjon of the mines; Sam 
Clemens, ;in ,the role of presiding officer ruled when a person could speak, 
and usually sM ,him down wibh an hilarious outburst of laughter. 

Sam said that when Bill Stewart got the floor and began his long 
harangue about the poor miner, he addressed: 

"Mr. President, I insist upon i,t, ·that if you tax the mines, you impose 
a burden upon the people which will be heavietr than they can bear. 
And when you tax the poor miner's shatits, and dri£ts, and bed-rock 
tunnels, you a.re taxing his property; you arc not taxing his sub­
stance; ... you are taxing 'his hopes; . .. taxing the yearnings of 
his heart of hearts! . . 

When Clemens coul4 stand these pleas no longer, he slammed 
down his gavel and exclaimed: 

"Take your scat, Bill Stewart! I am not going to sit here and 
listen to that same old song over and over again. I have been re­
porting that ~nfern;}l speech for the ,last thi1Jty days, and I want 
you -to understand that you can't play it off on .this Conven:tion 
any more. When I want to I wiU remember it myself - I know it by 
heart, anyhow-If you can't add somet!hpng fresh to it or say it 
hackw:llI'ds, or sing it to a new tune, you have simply got .to simmer 
down for awhile." 
Readers of -th~s story will recognize Sam Clemens as ,the inimitable 
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Mark Twain. FrrOln the two ye,trs and nine months he had spent in 
Nevada, and about the ·same time he had l~ved in California, he had 
emerged the greatest humorist on the Pacific Coast. Indeed, the name, 
"Mark Twain," which pseudonym he had taken while reponing for 
the Territorial Enterprise in Virginia City, 1863, had reached the east­
ern part of the United States. From his newspaper articles and leotures 
on the Hawaiian Islands, he was becoming a national and popular figure. 

Before Mark Twain sot out on his tour of the Holy Land in June, 
1867, he had called on Bill Stewart in Washington, D.C. They had 
renewed their friendship from old Nevada days. About tthe time the 
steamer was to depart, Stew,1l1t had written Mark a ·letter, offering him 
the position of private secretary, a posicion hc thought would give him 
sufficicnlt leisurc time to wl'ite his book, "Innoccnts Abroad." It was 
August before Mark Twain wrote Stewart he would accept the position. 

During the winter of 1867-1868 Mark Twain and Bill Stewart 
roomed togother at 224 "F" Street at rtIhe comer of 14th, Washington, 
D.C. They took thc.rr meals at Willard's Hotel, and Mark established 
his headquarters with a hrilliant newspaper correspondent named Riley, 
whom he had known in San Francisco. 

At this time, Mark Twain had three things on his mind: he wanted 
to make some mOlley, he wished to SL'Curre a government position for 
hrother, Orion, and he wished to write .The matter of being a secretary 
to a senator seemed to be a seconda'ry matter with him. He did make 
money, and he did write some eJ<icellenit altiicles, but he was not able to 
obtain a job for Orion. 

The secretary arrangement was 'a brief matterr. It was by now 
impossible for Mark Twain to IsclJt1e down to any sorious business, 
especially handling the letters he was sUPlx>sed to write to Bill Stew­
art's constituents in Nevada. The whole business of government seemed 
ri.diculous to him and he expressed it to his folks when he wrote home 
that he was "hohnohhing with these old Generals and Senators and 
other humbug~ for no good purpose." 

Mark Twain did not last 'long as secretary to Senator Stewart­
about two and one-half months. And the living arrangements were not 
satisfactory either. Because Mark ,had to do moot of his writings afte:r 
sessions ,in Congress were over, and because he did much prowling 
around late at night, he almost frightened to death the priim old maid 
who kept the rooming house. She had oomplained to Stewart, who, in 
turn, wa'mod Mark that he must reform :his habits or else he would 
thrash him. It is not known what particular incident tonninated the 
association between Bill Stewart and Mark Twaiin. 

That had feelings were engenderod is evidenced by what Mark 
wrote in articles soon after he resigned: "My late Senatorial Secretary-
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ship," "Facts Concerning the Recent Resignation," and other articles. 
And when "Roughing It" was published, Stewart is pictured in a ridicu­
lous cartoon with a black patch over his eye, supposedly made so by the 
sound thrashing Mark had given Bill. 
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SENATOR STEWART AND THE FIFTEENTH AMENDMENT 

During t,he campaign of 1868 there had been a general demand of 
the people of the United States for further extension of the rights of 
the negro. With this expression Senator Stewart was an fun accord, but 
Senator Charles Sumner of MassachusetJts was v,iolently opposed to ~t. 
Stewart wanted a Constitutional amendment, Sumner wished for legis­
lation. This contest between two oftlhe most powerful men in the 
United States Senate is one of the greatest in aU history. The story is 
too long to tell here. Indeed, it is worthy of a thesis to tel'l it fully. 
But the important rounds in the sparring of these legislative giants can 
be told, since it was one of the most impOl'tanrt pieces of legislation 
Stewart ever introduced during his long and successful career in the 
Senate. 

Before some of the aspects of this contest between Stewart and 
Sumner arc told, it must be said here that Stewart had a considerable 
a(lval1ltage over Sumner; President Grant and Bill Stewart had been good 
friends when Grant was a young Lieutenant stationed m San Francisco 
in the middle 1850's. They were togetiher frequently and Stewart says 
in his Reminiscences that "night after night we would wander around 
the City together, visi1ting games, and saloons and other sights. We had 
many adventures in those early days, and perhaps I would not stretch 
the truth in saying that we were a uiBe wild. Young Grant drank 
considerably and he had no advantage of me in this respect." 

Senator Stewart and President Grant renewed their acqua,intanee 
in Washington, D.C. , after the War. And many evenings were spent 
together talking over old times. In fact Stewart was a confidant of Grant's 
in keeping him infonned of what was going on in the Senate. At least one 
night in every week during Grnnlt's ,first teml, Stewart was linvited to 
the Whitc I-louse for dinner. After dinner Grant and Stewart would 
retire to a privatc room where Stewart would briief Grant on the 
character and actions of different members of Congress. 

The first great contest between Stewart and Sumner came over 
the adoption of the FIFTEENTH AMENDMENT in the Judiciary Committee. 
During the days of Reconstruction he was a warm champion of the 
Negro slave, and long prior to his advocacy of the FIFTEENTH AMEND­
MENT, he had given many arguments in favor of "Imperial suffrage and 
universal amnesty." 

Scna,tor Stewart felt that the time was right to brJng up the 
FWI'EENTH AMENDlVIENT while the great popularrity of President Grant 
was stil:l fresh in the minds of the people. Alt the first meeting of the 
Judiciary Commi~tec in the Thirty-Ninth Congress, 1869, Stewart 
brought lip the Resolution embodying the principle of the Amendment 
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and spoke at some length about it. After he had spoken, he moved 
that the resolutions relating to ~he Amendment to~he C()ns~itution grant ' 
ing equal suffrage without regard to race or color be taken up. Senator 
Roscoe Conkling, a member of the commiirtee moveu that "all Tcsolu·· 
tions, bills and other matters relating to colored sufhage he rdorrcd 
to the Senator of Nevada." It was unanimously passed. 

Stewart then took all the papers rebting to the proposcd arnerl(]mcnt 
and changed the phraseology to read that: 

"The right of c~tizens of the United States to vote or hold office 
shall not be denied or abridged by the United States or any State 
on ~ccount of race, color, or previous conditions of servitude." 

The committee without suggesting a change of the language, auth­
orized Stew'art to report the amendment as read, and furth er authori'/ed 
him to report adversely on the many other propositions referred to him. 

He had great difficulty in getting the Resolution taken lip for 
consideration, but finailly on January 23, 1869, hc succeeded ill bringing 
the Amendment before the Senate. Tlhe vote was 33 to 9. The discussion 
was long and elaborate. Senator Sumner, who although greatly op­
posed to it, would not allow himself to go on record as such. Instead, 
he used every tactic possible to thwart it; and absented himself on its final 
passage. After days and nights of struggle and dehate, the TIe solution 
passed by morc than the two-~hirds majority. 

When the Resolution went to the House of Representatives, it 
passed a suhstitute Resolution in language entirely different to the 
Senate. A conference committee was appointed with full and Free de­
bate. The ultimate of ~his Ilong discussion, lasting until three o'clock in 
the morning, was the agreement of this committee to accept the Resolu­
tion as Senator Stewart wrote it wiirh the exception of the words "to> 

hoid offIce." And so, William Morris Stewart, the first United States 
Senator from Nevada, had the distinct honor of writing the FIFTEENTH 
AMENDMENT as it went into the Constitution of the United States. 

During this time, the Nevada State Legislature was in session. Stew­
art had previously requested the telegraph office in CaIson City to 
remain open that night for an impo~tan:t dispatch. J Ie kncwthat if 
the proposed amendment werc sent by mail, it would not reach Nevada 
before the Legislature closed. The amendment was sent by telegraph and 
repeated back to Stewart for confirmation of its accuracy. On March 1, 
1869, the FIFTEENTH AMENDMENT was adoptc.d by the Nevada Legis­
lature, the first one to do so in the United States. 

Senator Sumner continued his attack on l'he Senator from NevaUa. 
This denouncoment was pa'rticularly spectacular when the vote came up 
to admit the reconstructed Southern States. Stewart fa vored the Icad-
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mission of the States of Virginia and Mississippi. Sumner called him a 
traitor and made long speeches about "his plighted faith" in joining 
the Democrat5 in voting for the admission of ~hese seceded Shltes. 
(Stewart was not the only SenMor who courageou~I'Y allied himself with 
the Democrats to restore the Southern States to the Union.) 

Stewart's attack on Sumner was devastating. Accusations and re­
criminations went back and £01'th between Stewart and Sumner. In the 
course of ~he heated arguments, Slllnner called Governor-elect Walker 
of Virginia a traitor. So vili,fying ,vas Sumner, Hannibal Hamlin, Vice­
president and President of the Senate, called Sumner to order. Never in 
hJs proud and important career as Senator had such a disgrace come to 
him. He was so humiliated he took to his bed in mortification. He could 
say nothing but "this is too horrible." Although Hamlin said to Senator 
StewaI't, "You were too severe," he came to him afterwards and said 
that he agreed with him. 

The quarrel between Stewart and Slllnner was still not over. In 
July, 1870, Charles Sumner advocated strongly a bill to naturalize the 
Chinese. Senator Stewart had a hard fight on hi,s hands before he 
finally defeated this hill. Sumner goaded him, quoted the sOfiiptures, and 
said that his opposition was inconsistent witJh the provisions in the 
Fifteenth Amendment which SteW31t had worked so hard to have 
adopted. Stewmt knew the attitudes of the Chinese when he lived on 
the Pacific Coast where there were at that time some 80,000 of the 
Or,ientals who were hrought over to America as contract labor by the 
Six Companies of San Francisco. 

IIowever Stewart's chief ohjection to ~he Ohinese Naturalization 
bill wefe the differences in ~he pagan and Christian religions. The 
Chinese 'had DO idea of what was meant by a Chr,istian oath. Stewart 
said he was opposed to the Chinese merchants who imported coolies for 
contract labor to be naturalized at their (the merchants) dictation to 

participate in preserving t'he institutions of the Unhed States. 
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WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART AND 

THE DEMONETIZATION OF SILVER 

With oharacteristic zeall to do as much as he could to fulther the 
interests of his State, and to look after its industries, he and his colleagucs, 
Senator Nye and Representative Worthington, inrroduced legislation to 
build a United States Mint in Carson City. 

S(}{)n after the arrival of Nevada's first Congres.~men in Washing­
ton, D.G, a bill was introduced to establish a mint. The bill passed and 
the Secretary of the Treasury appointed three prominent Carson City 
I'esidents, Mint Commissioners. It was their duty to find a localtion, to 
determine how the mint could be constructed and used for other purposes. 
Abraham V.S. Curry was appointed the Chairman; and t:he first papers 
giving instructions to A. Curry, Superintendent of Construction, Carson 
Mint, to begin construction, arrived in Carson City, July 17, 1866. The 
announccment of the arrival of these papers was noted by the booming of 
a cannC)J1 and the ringing of hells. Ground was broken July 18, and 
the cornerstone was laid by the Grand Lodge of Masons of Nevada the 
fallowing September 24th . Senators Stewar.t and Nye were present for 
this glorious occasion, both made appropriate speeches. It took two 
years to construct the huilding w'hich was prohably a record for that 
time. Since the foundation is seven feet below the hasement floor and 
is bid in concrete, and the building is tvvo stories high, it was slow in 
being constructed. The machinery for the Mint came on November 22, 
1868. and it was put into motion in the afternoon of Novemher I, 1869. 
However, it was reported that the first coin struck off was a half-dollar 
piece on January 8, 1870. 

The construction of the Carson City Mint was a great hoon to 
mine owners in Nevada. It meant that bullion could he hauled there, 
assayed, and the values received tin coin. It also meant at this time, with 
the Uni-ted States monetary policy of free and unlimited coinage of gold 
and silver, that any citizen could take his bunion to the mint and 
receive coins in return, less the seigniorage deducted for minting. 

All students of the monetary system of the U n,ited Sta-tes and 
especiallv collectors and mCl'chants dealing in the sale of coins know of 
the "ins and outs" on the minting of coins at the Carson City Mint. But 
what ll10st people do not know is that the law creating and establi9hing 
the Mint was never repealed. The discontinuance of minting coins there 
was the diabolical and disgraceful procedure used hy Secretar,ies of the 
U .S. Treasury and Congressmen in bringing about legislation for the 
demonetization of silver, the dropping of the silver dollar ~n the list 
of coins to be minted in the Mint Bill of 1873, and the failure of the 
Secretaries of the Treasury to include the money to operate the Carson 
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Mint in their requests of appropriations of Congress. The Carson City 
Mint ceased mint~ng ~,Q, 1B~J. • ';" "_, 

It is impossible to give in this abridged account of ,the life of William 
Morris Stewart a full account of the campaign against the repeal of the 
free and unlimited coinage of si,lver at the ratio of 16-1. It will be 
sufIicient to tell here that the British bondholders had purchased large 
amounts of United States bonds issued during the Civill War. At the 
time of purchase, bo~h England and the United States were on the 
gold standard. And England, having the greatest amount of gold of any 
nation in the world, wished to retain thiis position. Fearful lest they be 
paid in silver which was coming on to the market in great amounts 
f'Wm the silver mines of Nevada and other western states, an Inter­
n,ational Monetary Conference was called in Paris in 1867 where Sen­
ator John T. Sherman, Ohio, effected the passage of a resolution re­
commending the single gold standard for aU nations of the world. 

Returning to the United States, Senator Sherman bocame the 
champion of the single gold standard. He was supported by American 
and English banking interests. Senator Stewart, with the masses of the 
American people and the silver indw,try, championed t,he policy of the 
free and unlimited coinage of silver. 

Sherman began his campaign by having the long bill drawn up by 
the Sccl'etary of the Treasury, revising entirely the coinage system of 
the United States. Thiis bill, introduced into the United States Senate 
and referred to the Finance Committee, of which he was Chainnan, was 
six years in going vhrough Congress. During this time, the bill was 
printed thirteen times by order of Congress and it was considered during 
five different sessions of rhe House and Senate. The course of the bill 
began on April 25, 1870, and ended February J 2, 1873, when the 
Conference bill was passed, and it was said to have bocome a law with­
out the "yeas and nays" being called for. 

In tracing the course of the Mint Bill, it seemed ,that the silver 
dollar was included in the list of coins until the summer of 1872 when 
Senator Sherman, other American legislators, U.S. bankers, and Euro­
pean representatives of the Rothschild banking ,interests of Rome, Lon­
don and Paris, paid a vi3it to the United States. In their western tour 
they went to Virginia City, Nevada, where ,they were taken down 
the mines and were shown the vast vaults of unmined silver, including 
the newly discovered "Big Bonanza." When the bill was reported on 
December 16, 1872, Section 16, descl'ihing the silver dollar, had been 
shufficd or juggled out by the clever manipulation of the numbering 
of the Sections. 

The omission of the provision for <the silver dollar escaped the 
notice of the senators and representatives of Nevada and other western 



Effie Mona Mack Collection 

STEWART CASTLE, CONSTRUCTED 1873 
DUPONT CIRCLE, WASHINGTON, D. C. 



62 WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART - 1827 - 1909 

silver states. It was passed without detection of this omission by other 
leading members of Congress. President Grant, who later declared he 
did not know that the bill omitted the silver dollar, sigred the bill at 
once. 

A comment to be made here relates to Senator Stewart and his 
colleagues who were completely defrauded in the omission of the dollar. 
There is no doubt but what these representatives should have read vhe 
bill every time it was amended and reprinted, but there is such a 
thing as "political honor" and when Senator Sherman was asked if 
there be a dollar in the bill, he said "dle bill docs provide for a dollaoc 
which will float all over the world." The dollar he was referring to was 
the TRADE DOLLAR which could not circulate in the United States, 
but was coined at the request of western merchants to compete wi-tlh the 
Spanish and Mexican dollar in trade with the Orient. 

The first time that anyone was aware that the dollar had been 
dropped was when the Superintendent of the Carson City Mint was 
given orders in 1875 to buy less silver for this pll1pose. The fraud was 
detected and the whole deal called 'The Crime of '73" by Senator 
Stew'l'rt. Silver began to decline in price fcom $l.29 an ounce; it COn­
tinued to decline oach year thereafter until 1895, when it reached an 
all time low of fifty cents. And with the decline of silver came the decline 
of the population of Nevada and its revenues. 

Senator Stewart retired from the Senate in 1875, but when he 
returned in 1887, he began his fight for the remonetization of silver, 
which he kep~ up until his second retirement in 1905. This story will 
be told later. 

After Mrs. Stewart and two daughters, Bessie and Annie, returned 
to the United States after having spent two yealfs in PH'l'is, two years in 
Germany, and 'two years in Rome, she and the Senator erected "Stew­
ad Castle" in 1872 on what was known as Dupont Circle in Wash­
ington, D.C. The Senator and some associates purohased a large tract 
of land in that vioinity and because severall of them were mining men 
from the West, and because Stewart had fathered mining legislation, it 
was wferred to as "The Honest M,iner's Camp." Tlhis home was truly a 
magnificent one - five stories high and 80 feet from the street floor, it COn­
tained many rooms. Mrs. Stewart purchased much of the fmni:ture in 
Europe. Her salon was Sixty feet long, was furnished ,in old Florentine 
style, and upholstered in Beauvais tapestry. The ball room, often used, 
( both the Senator and Mrs. Stewart loved to dance) was seventy 
feet long and furnished in teak wood carved in China. The stable and 
servants' quarters (mostly negroes) in the rear of the Cast.Jc were ex­
tensive also. The Stewart home was >the center of social acoivity and 
they loved to entertain. Mrs. Stewart inherited considerable of her 
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father's repartee and because she spoke so many languages fluently, 
many foreign diplomats were included in thcir guest lists. 

In 1875 Senator Stewart decided to retire from political life and 
resume private law practtiK.~. When President Grant learned that 
Stewart was r.ot going to run again for the Senate, he offered him a 
seat on ,the Supreme CoUDt of the United States. Stewart said that 
he appreciated the honm greatly but that he preferred the excitement 
of the court room to the quiet and studious life of a Justice. 
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And then in 1871, an International scandal broke in which Stew­
art was involved. It will be remembered ~hat Mrs. Stewart and their two 
daughters, Bessie and Annie, had gone to Europe in 1865, spending two 
years in France, two in German y, and two in Ita] y. They learned to 
speak ~he languages of these countries fluentI y. Most of this time uhey 
were also with Henry Stuart Foote, Mrs. Stewart's father, who was 
exiled from the United States after the Civil War. 26 When President 
Grant pardoned ex-Senator and ex-Confederate Foote, he returned to 
the United States. In 187J, Stewart went to Europe and visited London 
where he bought the Emma Mine of Utah for $150,000. The story of 
~his mine and its operations does not belong here, but suffice to say 
Stewart was involved in the flotation and promotion of the stock, in 
which a great many people lost considerable money. 

Mr. and Mrs. Stewart had loased The Castle in Washington, D.C. 
to the Chinese Embassy bofore returning to San Francisco, where he 
opened his law office and took .in Peter Van Clief, his former Downie­
ville, California, law partner. Stevvllrt practiced also in Nevada and 
Arizona , and mined in California and Mexico. William F. Herr,ill was 
their law clerk, hut soon he was admil'led to the har, when he was 
made a part of the Emu of Stewart, Herrin and Van Clief, one of the 
best in the city. Their clients wore among the most influential people­
SenatOlI and Mrs. Leland Stanford, John W. Mackay, W. E. Sha-ron, 
and Charles Lux of .the firm of Miller and Lux; the Central Pacific 
Railroad, the Nevada Bonanza finns, the Spring Valley Water Company, 
and other Western corporations employed their firm as counse1. 

Stewart could not, however, let the mining game alone. Once he 
was back in the West, he plunged into the purchasing and developing 
of mining properties for the next ten years. I lis first fortune had come 
to him in nhc J 850's in mining and he had made and lost several more 
~ortunes in ~he following 25 yea/rs. On.e of his first ventures in 1876 
"vas with his old friend, Senator John P. Jones, Cold Hitll, N evada, in 
the Panamint Mountains, on the edge of Death Valley, CalifornJa, hut 
a hundred miles from civilization. 

In one of the few raV'ines in the Panamints there was an old silver 
mine which had been prospected and worked from time to time. Be­
cause this area w;i:~h grass and water was so far from civilization, it was 
an. excellent hideout for renegades and bandits. These outlaws, always too 
lazy ·to work themselves, laid in wait for someone else to do the work. 
Then they would collect their share of the profits by taking them away 
from the legitimate workers. They were willing to sell out to Jones and 
Stewart. 

26 When the family came home from Europe, the Senator built Stewart Castle, 
1872. 
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WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART RETURNS TO LAW PRACTICE 

1875-1885 

The political affairs of the Territory of Nevada during the first 
[nre years of its history were almost entirely in the hands of William 
Morris Stewart. Indeed, he was practicaHy a dictator during these 
years. \Vhen he was elected to the United States Senate in 1864 a 
multimiUionaire, other leaders came forth to take his place and to make 
their mark and their fortunes in Nevada. Few people sayv in Wilham 
E. Sharon, San Fmllciseo, who was sent to Virginia City, Nevada, to 

set up ·a hraneh of tlle Bank of California in that year, a successor to the 
brusque-frank-outspoken domineering Stewart. 

It would seem at first that Sharon was the antitype of Stewart, 
but that was not the case. Although he was small, compactly built, 
quiet in manner and reserved and formal to the point of coldness, 
there were points of similarity. Both men were of strong will, positive 
opinions and prompt ·in action. They were both capable of fonning large 
plans and were alike, fertile in expediencies. Stewart and Sharon got 
things done, albeit they executed their projects in a different manner. 
Stewart was impatient- bold and reckless-while Sharon waited cooly, 
though not sluggishly until, in his judgment, the time was ripe for 
action. Stewart was by nature a leader and a dramatist; Sharon was a 
director and strategist. The lawyer was always in the foreground; the 
financic'T was in ~he front or rear, as best suited his designs. The 
fonner may sometimes be blinded by passion in his ownintcrcsts, hut 
the latter was never so. 1 '~le always saw everything clearly as best suited 
his needs. 

James \V. Nye served his alloted two years, 1865-1867; he was 
re-elected for one term, 1867-1873, and he wished to be elected a('1ain but 

C> 

new titans had taken over. J'Ohn Peroival Jones, popular mine superin-
tendent, and most successful in his Comstock Lode investments, wished 
to go to the Senate and he was willing to spend any sum of money to 
get thore. lIe defeated Nye, who lived only three years longer. 

Stewart did not wish to get into the W. E. Sharon-Adolph Sutro 
fight, 1874-1875. Always reckless with his own expenditures, he was also 
most indulgent with his family. He needed to recoup his fortune which he 
intended to do by resuming active la.v practice and by entering the mining 
fidd again. Besides, the Sutro facDion would he aga>inst him. He had at 
first backed Sutro in his Sutra Tunnel project; indeed, he had incorporated 
the company and had been its first president. However, after the most 
prominent mine owners on the Comstock had opposed his soheme, 
Stewart turned against it, too. 
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Active work began on the Wyoming and Hemlock, as these mines 
were known. Shafts were sunk and an expensive quartz. mill and re­
duction works were erected. Since the ore deposits were called "pipes," 
whicJl ex'tended but a few feet in depth or in any diroction, they did 
not yield much ore. However, out of these pipes about a million dollars 
were extracted, and had there been a few more of these riob pockets, 
the owners would have had all of their money back and a profit besides. 
As it was, the Wyoming and Heln!lock involved a heavy loss to the 
investors. 

llhere would also have been a much heavier loss if the outlaws 
who hung U!wwld the mine waiting for the bullion to be ready to take 
out had succeeded in stealing it. Knowing tha.t these bandits could dis­
pose of their loot to "bootleg" assayers, Stewart and associates hit upon a 
soheme to prevent this steal. T,hey had some lalIge moulds made in 
whicJt a ball of silver, weighing 750 pounds, could be run. Then they 
smelted ,~he ore, reduced the concentrates to bull~on and ran out rho 
enormous silver cannon-balls. 

When rhe former bandit-owners saw what the mine owners had 
done, they were greatly agitated and remonstrated winh the owners. 
Stewart said vhey could have them .if ,they could carry ~hem away. 
Well, "half a dozen of them pried, and tugged, and strained, and 
grunted, trying to hoist one of them on a mule, but that made the mule 
mad, and by and by he took a hand <intlhe proceedings, and madetihose 
outlaws feel pretty sick, and after that they gave it up, and while we 
(the owners) were loading five of the silver cannon-balls on an im­
mense freight wagon, they sat around disconsolately and solemn, like 
paB-bearers at a funeral." So, this venture of Stewart in the Panamints 
was not successful. 

One of Stewart's large investments was in the Oneida Mine, Ama­
dor County, neaT Jackson on the Mother Lode. He paid $100,000 for 
the mine. \iVhen he went lip there to look over his purchase, he said to 
the workmen that if anv man could not do the work ,he could do, 
(Stewart could do the ~ork of three men) he would lose his job. 
There was scarcely a man left. 

He put his brother, Samuel de Count Raleigh Stewart, in charge 
of the mine. While he was up there, Mrs. StCWat't came up for a visit 
in 1873. At this time their third daughter, Mary Isabelle "Maybelle" 
was born. But this mining venture was similar to others in which 
StewaI't invested heavily. He could not spend the time from his law 
praotice and other activities to make it pay. He sold out very cheaply. 
The Oneida Mine was a good gold-quartz mine; it was worked succes­
Sively for some years thereafter. Some of Stewart's mining exploits took 
him far afield of his law office. 
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One of the most bitterly fought min~ng suits that ever engaged the 
attention of Stewart and associates was one that aTose over a dispute in 
Eureka County, Nevada, the Albion vs. The Richmond. A battery of 
capable lawyers were arrayed against Stevval[t; :bhey fought hard all or 
the way. The suit was contested in the State court of Nevada and 
carried to the United States Supreme Court. Although Stewart finally 
won the suit, he said, "It was a costly one." While he was in Eureka 
he made some fr.iends who came into his later life-George Cassidy and 
Charles C. "Black" Wallace.27 

Newly discovered minin.g camps always had their (1uota of mining 
suits: 'The Bodie Excitement" was not the exception. Stewart was 
employed hy so many firms in that camp, be spent a good part of 1879-
1881 trying suits involving property there. Alrhough Borue, more than 
8,500 feet in altitude, was not the county scat, he spent most of his 
time in that city. From all accounts of his contemporaries in Bodie, and 
from men who were there during the height of the e~citement, the rep­
utation of this mining camp was n.otorious. A man for breakfast, mean­
ing at least one man was killed every night in some brawl, was the 
commonplace event. 

From the pen of Grant H. Smith, who was a young lad of fi:fteen 
years and the only messenger boy for ,the local telegraph office at that 
time, one gets a good word picture of ~his camp, also of William Morris 
Stewart. Smith described Stewart as he saw him when he delivered mes­
sages to him. He said that he towered ahove everyone else, Uilways 
walked about alone, and moved "like a cathedral." 

Other mining suits took Stewart to Tombstone, Arizona, during its 
most eNcitino times and durino the reign of the "Clantons and the Ea[lps." 

00 . 

While there, Stewar,t and others went prospectin.g in the surrounding 
country and he was present in the little tmvn of W.irlcox when~he first 
Southern Pacific train went through. It. was a great occasion, he said, 
and all the cowboys and settlers for miles around came to gape and to 
stare at the new means of travel. On hoard the train were the railroad 
officials and a number of other dignitaries. When the tl'a~n came to a 
stop, many of them came out to take a look at the scenery, among them 
a clerical"looking man with a "stove-pipe" hat. When the cowboys saw 
that headpiece, it took them just six seconds to get the drop on it. The 
passenger dashed hack into the coach and hid under a seat until the 
train left. Stewart's law suits in Arizona were soo complicated in nature, 
he told the litigants that ,~he m~nes involved would be exhausted before 
the suits were sottled. H e suggested consolidating them. Drawing up 

27 Cassidy was elected to the House of Representatives from Nevada, 1880-
1884; Wallace was employed; by the Central Pacific Railroad to handle their 
affairs in Nevada, especially. in the State Legislature. 
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papers for this purpose and having ho~h sides agree to the proposals 
ended trou hIe in the courts. 

I-Icnring of a rich discovery in Sonora, Mexico, Stewart and others 
organized a prospecting trip into an old mining camp. But mining in 
Mexico was enrbirely different to that in the United States. And after 
prospecting for several days, they concluded they didn't want mines in 
Mexico. During his life time Senator Stewart: had large personal hold­
ings in mines and many of them could have given him a fortune had 
he had the time to devote to their operations. However, in several cases 
he had to sacrifice them at great losses because they conflicted with his 
official du ties. 

By 1880, the first great mining excitements in the Western States 
were over, the important mining su:its were resolved, and the mines were 
being worked. The litigation which had hrought millions of dollars to 
lawyers engaged by mine owners was practically over, too. There were, 
however, other civil suits to engage their attention. The most celebrated 
one was Sarah Althea Hill vs. William E. Sharon. Sharon, who had been 
elected to succeed Stew.lIt in 1875, and who had actually not been 
present in Congress Juring the first year of his term, had more important 
things to do than to sit in Washington, D.C. The great Bank of Calif­
ornia suspended payments August 26, 1875 and the next day the lifeless 
rorm of \ViJliam Chapman Ralston, the President of the Bank, was 
picked up on the ocean beaoh. Sharon, partner of Ralston, rushed to 
San Francisco to resolve the affairs of the banking institution. In the 
settlement Sharon received the handsome home, Belmont, which Ral­
ston had built down the peninsula from San Francisco, and whicn he 
had furnished lavishly. Since Ralston had often used the home for 
business deah associated with the Bank, Sharon continued ~he practice. 
The Palace Hotel had also COlne into Sharon's hands and Belmont was 
considered an adjunct of this hostelry. Sharon, a widower, and over 
sixty Yl.:<lrs of age, put Sarah Althea Hill, a strikingly heautiful young 
woman, in Delmont, as hostess at Belmont. 

Soon, Sarah Hill would have enough of Sharon and left him; 
she had produced, however, a written contract of marriage. ShaTOn 
brought suit to set aside the alleged contract while Sarah countered for 
a divorce and alimony. Because Sharon was a resident of Nevada and 
Miss Hill lived in California, it gave Un~ted States Courts jurisdiotion 
over ~he suit. Miss f--l ill's leading counsel was David S. Terry, who had 
hlled Broderick, and later had come to the Comstock and opposed 
Stewart in 1860. Stewart did not come into the legal picture for Sharon 
until several suits and counter suits had been brought, dtc'[laring the 
marriage contract a forgery. 

28 Later Stewart acquired interests In mines 111 Zacatecas, Mexico. 
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It was the handwriting that Stewart employed as his strongest argu­
ments that the contract was a forgery. He applied the most searching 
analysis and cold logic to Sharon's signature; he examined each up 
stroke, each down stroke, each terminal and each change in the writing, 
and th{~n he had each One photographed and then compared with a 
quantity of genuine ones. The proceedings in the Sharon vs. Hill 
case reads like a racy novel and so do the printed arguments used by 
Stewart. He was most polite to Miss 11m in his cross examinations, but 
his irony was sa,id to be so "cutting" it exasperated her to the point 
where ~he threatened to shoot him. There were many inaccuracies in 
her testimony which she said was due to her "faulty memory." 

During the course of the trial she had consuMed Mammy Pleasant, a 
noto:ri:ious San Fmncisco fortune teHer, for a ohmm to win or kill Sharon, 
and she had tried to hrihe his Chinese valet to gain access to his rooms, 
and to poison his food. Some of her witnesses were sent to prison for 
perjury. Stewart hrought out forcefully that "no wife would have acted 
so." The trial in the Superior Court covered 80 days of actual trial. 

Meanwhile Senator Sharon died November 13, 1885, and Miss 
HiH married Judge Terry. In December, 1884, the Court gave the ver­
dict to Miss Hill and aUmved her $7,500 for back alimony, $2,500 a 
month thereafter, and counsel fees. Sharon's heirs tried in vain to have 
the verdict set aside and in 1888 the old suit in the Circuit Court was 
revived, and came before Judges Field, Sawyer and Sahin. crt will be re­
membered that Terry had been a memher of ~his court.) Terry and Sarah 
thrrotened trouble; ~hey came into the court room armed, had to be dis­
armed, removed from the court room, and imprisoned for contempt of 
court. On July 7, 1889 the verdict reversed the State Supreme Court, and 
in March, 1892, Mrs. Terry was adjudged insane, and ,her hushand was 
appointed her guardian. But his appeal, however, was dismissed. 

The following year Judge Field, with David Nagle, a Deputy 
Marshall, was travoling over California on judicial business and just 
happened to he in the town of Lathrop when Judge Terry entered the 
dining-room. He saw Judge Field, walked up to him, and sJa,pped his 
face. Marshall Nagle jumped up and shot Terry dead. Nagle was freed 
on the ground he was protecting the Justice from an angry man. Thus 
ended the Sharon vs. Hill 29 case hut some ten years later David Nagle 
was arroi1;.tcd a hody guard for Sena.tor Stewart in the heated campaign 
In Carson Citv in 1898. 

(Mr. Stewart however, had closed his law office in San Francisco 
in 1885 and had had no further proceedings in the case. Mr. Herrin 
had continued to handle the case with skin and ability). 

29 Sharon spent one year in the Senate. He was absent for almost five years 
of his six year . term. James G. Fair, one of the hig four of the Bonanza firm, 
succeeded him, 1881-1887. 
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WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART RETURNS TO 

THE UNITED STATES SENATE 1887-1905 

Senator Stewaxt l'etumcd to Carson City, Nevada, in the summer 
of 1885 and bought a home at the southwe~t corner of Robinson and 
Minnesota Streets. He remodeled the house into a much larger and more 
spal1iol1s one and landscaped the garden, planting trees, shruhs and 
flowers. By June 22, ~he foHowing year, the Senator and his wife were 
ready to entertain. The Morning Appeal stated that they had an old-fash­
ioned house-warming where "there was feasting, music, and everyone 
had a good time. The guests were all made to feel very comfortahle and 
at home. All who had paid ·their respects to the ex-Senator and his 
wife since the new 'house was huilt, were invited." 

It was generally known, and the newspapers so stated, that the 
Senator had come hack ,to live in Nevada again so that he could run 
for the United States Senate. John W. Mackay had urged him to do so, 
and had come to Nevada and announced that he was backing Stewart 
ngainst United States Senator James G. Fair, who wished to succeed 
himself in 1887. 

O))e of the main reasons why Stewart wished to return to the 
Senate was to rectify the ltc-rime of '73," which had been responsible for 
the alandestinc dropping of ,the silver dollar from the ,l.ist of coins in the 
Mint Bill of J 873. Fair accused Stewar.t of voting for this bill, which 
Stewart never denied, but always stated that there were many other 
prominent men who did likewise. Fair also attacked Stewart's pr.ivate 
llife, for which the btter offered to debate him on the stump. Stewart 
promised the people of Nevada that if he were elected he would prove 
that the crime of demonetizing silver was unknoll.Jn ,in the Senate, and 
that it was the work of a secret conspiracy led hy Senator John T. 
Sherman, Ohio. Stewa~t was elected in January, 1887. 

In addition to the desire Stewart had to try to remonetize silver, 
there were a numher of other prdhlems ·in Nevada for which he wished 
to introduce legislation: irrigation of the arid lands, hetter education, 
the American Indians, indebtedness of ~he PacifiC Railroads to the 
United States, and some laws for furthering the reconstruction of the 
Southern States. 

It was stated in a previous section of this story that the fraud of 
the "vrime of '73" was not detected until in 1875 when the United 
States M-ints were instructed not to huy more sliver. At once ·the silver 
mine owners, who by this time were situated in many of the Western 
States, hegan to look into the Mint Bill. The fIrst 'legislation to remonet­
ize silver was introduced by Riohard P. "Silver Dick" Bland, Represent­
ative of Missouri, who had lived in Nevadadming the discovery period 
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of the silver excitement. He and Senator Stewart were good friends 
at that time. Indeed, he was one of the ,lawyers to examine Bland 
when he :lsked to have a !license to practice law in Virginia City, 
Nevada, and had signed his license. 

The biII, sponsored by Bland and Senator AHison, Iowa, and 
known as the Bland-ALlison Act, 1878, provided for the free and un­
limited coinage of silver at the ratio of sixteen pa,Pts of silver to one 
part of gold. This law provided far 'fhe United States Treasury to 

purchase $2,000,000 to $4,000,000 wort:h of silver ,to be coined into silver 
dolhrs. It was th~s law which Senator Stewart wished to replace with 
a free coinage law when he returned to the Senate 1n 1887. 

Senator Stewart ·held the ,theory that ~he expansion of the currency 
was necessary for prosperity. From 1887 to 1893 the gr~'ltest effor~s of 
his .},ife were directed toward obtaining the free coinage of si,lver. He 
helieved, llowever, that the idea'l currency should not be hased upon 
a metallic standard alone, hut rather it should be hased upon the pro­
duction of one or more metals, merely fiat money, irredeemable paper 
money made legal tender by <law, or a mandate to pay, represented hy 
certificates. Suol~ a currency would be entirely dependent on rhe credit 
of the Government. 

On December 15, 1887, Stewart !introduced a hill to restore silver 
to its place as a money meta,l; he made an extensive speech about the bill 
at this time. The bill, referred to the Committee on Finance of which 
Shennan was the Cha,irman, slept, but Stewar{ continued to bring 
up the bill and rhe question of silver on all occasions. It was at ~his 
time that Stewa~t made John T. Shelman "wear a hair shirt." Point by 
point, Stewart proved hy quotations from Sherman's speech on the bill 
to codiry the Mint Bill of 1866, from which the silver dollar was omitted, 
and by which silver was demonetized, that Sherman, chairman of the 
Committee on Finance, deceived the Senate. Shennan told the Sen­
ators that the~e was a "silver doHar" ~n ,vhe bill. To be sure, there was a 
silver dollar an it, but the dollar provided in the biH was the TRADE DOUAR. 

Senator Sherman tried, in vain, ,to prove that there was no deception, 
and among many ovher things, he said "the dollar provided for by this 
biB ( Mint Bin) is the precise equivalent of the five-franc piece." The 
more Sherman ,attempted to explain, the more entangled he became, un­
til Senator Stewart said, "The question is what you did say, not what 
you now thin.k you meant to say." Stewart also prov,ed from the 
CONGRESSIONAL RECORD that Mr. Hooper, chairman of the Committee 
on Coinage, \Veights and Measures -in the House of Representatives, 
alIso deceived that body.30 

30 Senator Stewart le.d th.e fight in the National Republican COllvention in June, 
1888, to prevent the nomlllaTlOn of Senator Sherman, President of the United States. 
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The fight for free silver coin'<lge was continued by the silver Senators 
of the West. The debates and speeches on this suhject are long and 
technical. Finally on July 14, ]890, the House of Representatives passed 
a free coinage bili}, Apparently the Senate was in favOT of the hill, hu.t 
when the Committee on Finance discussed the bill a suhstitute one, 
which came to be known as the Sherman Silver Pur<.,hase Act, was 
reported and passed. 

Briefly this bill instructed the Secretary of the Treasury to purchase, 
from time to time, silver bullion in the sum of four million five hundred 
ounces ... at !)he market price ... and to issue Treasury notes of the 
United States in payment for such purchases of silver bullion in denom­
inations of not less than one dollar, nor more than one thousand dollars. 

The readers of this fight for free coinage, made by the Senator 
from Nevada, win recognize that these one ' dollar bills ·in circulation 
today and ever since 1890, are the ones which arc now being called in 
and retired completely. And the pure silver bullion purchased between 
1890-1893 under this act and stored for the redemption of these Treasury 
notes, is now being used for other puryx>ses. ( Not onl y arc the metal 
silver d,)lIars fast disappearing, but also all the silver certificates for 
which one could demand silver coin. ) The story of the repeal of the 
Sherman Silver Purchase Act will be told later. 

'While the silver bill was engaging the attention of Congress, 
another imlx)rtant bill was urged by President Benjamin Harr.ison, who 
wished to have the Federal Government control all elections, local and 
national. To this end Henry Cabot Lodge of Massachusetts, then a 
menlber of the Huuse, introduced a bill Tunc 14, 1890 to amend the 
Federal election laws. Debate and amendments were offered to this 
~lc(ltion BiB, popularly caBed the Force Bill. l it provided that under spe­
CIal officers, appointed by ,vhe President of the U ni,too States, aU ellxtions 
to be held under tIle miHtarv forces offJhe NatiOnal] Gove~nment. This 
long bill was alIso ambiguou~ and sweeping in its provisions. Evell the 
Congressmen confessed thev did not have a full and real knm'lJedO'e 'O'f it. , 0 

. Senator Stewart, who ,had been a friend of the Southern 'States 
from the days of Reconstruction legislation, was most opposed to the 
Force BiB. The bill was debated in oo~h Houses O'f Congress and 
was ready to' be voted upon O'n January 22nd, ·1891. StewaI1t canvassed 
the Senate and fO'und there were just enough Senators paired in favor 
to carry it hy one majority without the vote of Senator Leland StanfO'rd, 
GaIifomia. Stanford had gone to New York which wa~ tcmpororily cut 
off by telegraphic communication from Washington, D.C. by a violent 
snow, hail and rain storm. Before Stanford had left, Stewart had told 
him he may wish to pair ,him, but the bHI came up without Stanofrd's 
pair. So Stewart resorted to strategy. 
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On the afternoon of the day the Force BiH was to come up, Stewart 
overheard a conversation in the cloakroom that Senator Nelson Aldrich, 
in favor of the bill, was going to New York and was to leave at five 
o'clock. Stewart had every reason to helieve that Aldrich was going for 
the purpose of getting Stanford to vote for the Force Hill. Stewart anq 
Aldrich were on vhe same train, but as the train noared New York City, 
Stewart went into the haagaae com))artmcnt and told the baggageman 

'" 0 , 
he wished to have the fastest team possible to take him to the Windsor 
Hotel. With generous tips, the team did take the Senator to the Hotel 
in quick time. Upon arriving there he found that Senator Stanford had 
been in a severe cab accident and could see no one. However, Stewart 
explained his mission to Mrs. Stanford, who had heard the previous 
conversation with Stewart over the possible pa.jring of rhe two Senators. 
She called Senator Stanford's Secretary and dictated' the following 
dispatch: 

"Pair me against the Force Bill and all matters connected therewith. 
(Signed) Leland Stanford" 

Stewart requested the Secretary to go downstairs with him and 
when they reached the office £loor, they mot Senator Aldrich at the 
elevator, going up to see Senator Stanford. Stewart told him he was too 
late, and the Secretary showed him the dispatch. And thus the Force 
Bill was defeated. If it had passed it would have meant that United 
States soldiers would have been stationed at every election held in the 
Southem States. 

In the days of Reconstruction and following, it will be rememhered 
that Senator Stewart had tried to prevent discrimination against persons 
who had participated in the Rebellion. He had known personally and 
politicaHy how hard the Southerners had striven to restore their economic 
and- political status in the Union. So, when Lucius Quintus Cincinnatus 
Lamar, member of one 0f the most distinguished fml1Hies, was nomin­
ated by President Cleveland in 1888 as Associate Justice of the Supreme 
COlll't of the United States, the Judiciary Committee found him well 
qualified for this appointment, but it did not wish to confirm him 
hecause he had been an officer in dIe Confederate Army during the Civil 
War. Senator Stewart was in favor of his appointment, and pu:bli~hcd 
an open letter stating so. In it he gave a full account of Mr. Lamar's 
activities after the war was over. He had accepted every penalty im­
posed upon Southcmers, he had taken the amnesty oath, he had been 
restored to full citizenship hy a two-thirds vote of Congress, and lIe had 
worked diligently to have Southerners unite with the North in every 
way for the benefit of the country. 

The debates on the nomination of Mr. Lamar were bitter. The 
Sell<lite was almost evenly divided· between the Democrats and the 
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Republicans, with the former having two in ,the majority. Again, through 
persuasion of Senator Stewart, Senator Stanford was convinced that 
L.Q.C. Lamar should be confirmed as a Justice of the Supreme Court, 
and he was. And the last attempt to rhwalJt ~he full reconstmction of 
the south was ended by this action.31 

Although the Shennan Silver Purchase Act gave some relief to 
silver mine producers, it didn't begin to absorb all the bullion that was 
offered. The silver Senators continued their fight for the free and un­
limited coinage of silver at the ratio of 16-1, or 412.5 grains of silver to 
23.8 grains of gold. Because so much silver was offered for sale, the price 
of this metal continued to decline until it reached the all-time low price of 
fifty cents. And while this abundance of silver was being offered, 
Gresham's Law was operating against it: "Cheap money dJ.1ives good 
money into hiding." Under the Sherman Aot, gold could be exchanged 
for silver and hoarded. During the time silver was dec1ining, the prices 
of agricultuml products were also declining, wages were going down, 
unemployment was increasing, and hard times were being experienced 
everywhere, especially in the South and West. The silver Senators 
maintained, along with those from vhe agriculhlral states, that these 
conditions were caused by the scarcity of money. What was needed 
was the free and unlimited coinage of silver! The gold standard advocates, 
or hard money men, maintained that it was the endless chain of exchang­
ing gold for silver ,tJhat was causing hard times. 

By 1890 the leaders of rhe farmers and silverites were convinced 
that their salvation lay in the fomMtion of another politicaJ party. The 
Populists or People's Party consisted of voters from both major parties. 
Andrhe State of Nevada, now down to some 42,000 people in popula­
tion, went for James B. Weaver from Iowa, Presidential candidate on 
the Populist ticket. This party had included a plank in its platfoml for 
the return of silver to full use. Senator Stewart was reelected on this 
ticket without ever returning to the State. And fo:r not doing so, he 
was referred to as "the carpet-bagger from the little State of Nevada." 

Although Nevada gave the Popu1list a majority in 1892, the leaders 
of the major parties, in sympathy with the silver mine owners, did not 
wholly subscribe to the Populist platform. At a meeting of the leaders 
of Nevada State Press Association in Dayton in the above year, it 
was suggested that another third party be created with the main pro­
vision of free silver in its platform. In Nevada as elsewhere there were 
Silver-Democrats and Silver-RepubIicans, likewise Gold-Democrats and 
Gold-Republicans, with the Silver Democrats having the majority.32 

31 The reader will note some of the shades of the Force Bill and the confirma­
tion of Mr. I,amar for Justice still prevalent in the integration laws and the 
activities of full · Civil Rights for the negro. 

32 From 1892 to 1906 the Silver-Democrats elect"d most Nevada officials. 
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By 1893 the nationwide busines,s depression was rapidly reaohing its 
lowest point. In less than six months four hundred hanks failed, eight 
thousand businesses failed, and many rrailroads went into receivership. 
This panic, lasting four years, was one of the worst the nation had 
ever experienced. The fear that the Government could no longer main­
taintlhe gold standard was one of the worst contributing factors to panic 
condItions. Many gold standard leaders said that the chief cause of the 
depression was the obnoxious Shennan Silver Purchase Act, and Presi­
dent ,Oleveland was convinced of it also. Accordingly, he ealled Con­
gress at once into special session and requested the immediate repeal 
of this Act. The silver Senators went into this fight with a detennined 
resolution to prevent it. By every strategem of parliamentary tactics 
Stewart sougllt to prevent the vote from being taken on the repeal bill. 
On one occasion he spoke constantly and never left his seat for 46 
hours. The repeal was successful, but the gold supply kept diminishing. 
Every student of American history knows that the credit of ,the United 
States was saved only by the heroic action taken by President Cleveland 
when he offered many malions of dollars of United States Bonds to be 
purohased in gold. 

The repeal of the Shennan Silver Purchase Act in 1893 was 
costly to the State of Nevada in another way. When. ,the Secretary of 
the Treasury presented his budget for the operation of his Department 
and its affiliated institutions, he did not include a sufficient amount of 
money to keep the Carson Mint open. It was converted into a United 
States Assay Office where only bUillion was purchased.33 

When President Cleveland nullified the Shennan Silver Purchase 
Act by refusing to consider it mandatory to buy silver, Senator Stewart 
assailed him bitterly in the Senate and in rthe public press. 

In June, 1891, Mr. Nicholas Bidd1e, editor of the New York 
Telegram, offered to throw open that paper to a debate to all comers 
for and against silver. Mr. Stewart said he would challenge the World 
and a series of articles were written by him-the first one appeared 
June 20, 1891. Stewart went to New York City and stayed at the 
Holland House. All day long he was seen about the city and at 
meals he was at Delmonico's Restaurant, always at the center of a 
group of prominent New Yorkers. 

Every few days in the Telegram, articles appeared agarinst sHver by 
Andrew Carnegie, Henry Clews of Wall Street, John Jay Knox, ex­
comptroller of the Treasury, Theodore W. Meyers, Comptroller of New 
York City an(1 many others. Without a day's delay, every time in .the 

33 The Carson Mint remained an assay office until 1933 when this branch of 
the Treasury Department was closed. It was then used by the United States 
Government for an ollfice for the W.P.A. activities in Nevada. In 1939 it was sold 
to the State of Nevada and made into the Nevada State Museum. 



76 WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART - 1827 - 1909 

next issue, appeared an article by Senator Stewart ripping up his oppon­
ent's argument. His friends and opponents were astonished at the length 
and composition of h~s articles. They did not know how he found time 
to write them, as from morning until late at night he was always seen 
about town. As a matter of fact his flow of ~deas and his rapid fire 
English were so great he could dictate vhem to his Secretary in a few 
each night before he got into bed. 

This debate went on well into the winter of 1891-1892. A good 
descriptif)n of Senator Stewart was given hy the New York Press when 
he arrived once: 

"Senator Stewart of Nevada took New York by storm yesterday, 
or rather as muoh of New York as saw him sally forth and walk down 
Broadway enveloped in a huge fur overcoat of silver gray foxskins 
trimmed with buffalo cuffs and collar. The senator is six feet in height. 
The coat reached to wi~hin .two inches of the sidewalk. He 11as an erect 
bearing and has the white whiskers of a patriarch, so I'hat his appearance 
was picturesque in the extrCllle." 

Mr. Biddle awarded the victory to Senator Stewart, but said chat 
his views were all wrong. The victory, grudgingly granted, was won, 
Biddle said, because no one of equal ability had appeared to meet him. 

In addition to his work in the Senate, Senator Stewart canied on a 
most aggressive popular educational campaign in behalf of silver and the 
expansion of the currency. He purchased and combined two newspapers, 
The Silver Knight and the National Watchman, known as the Silver 
Knight and the Watchman, in Washington, D.C. in 1891. In each issue 
on page one there was a pointed cartoon, drawn under his direction, and 
iUustrating some important point of rhe campaign. This paper was pub­
lished until ,the seL'Ond defeat of William Jennings Bryan in 1900. Stewart 
had a conStiderable staff of persons to publish this paper. It was never 
a paying proposition and he Ilost a great deal of mOiley in keeping it 
going.34 

However, his book, 'The Functions of Money" was the most impor­
tant publication he ever wrote. He considered it his greatest effort in 
behalf of the white metal. In addition to tJhe hundreds of pages printed in 
tlle CONGRESSIONAL RECORD of his speeches,35 he wrote the book, "Silver 
and the Science of Money." 

After the two oldest daughters of Senator and Mrs. Stewart were 
marcied, Bessie to Captain R. C. Hooker, and Annie to Thomas C. Fox, 

34 Newspapers all over the United State~ and ,in many foreign countries carried 
articles written by him or about him. A comment on these articles is ,to be fou nd 
in the "Critical Essay" at the end of this article. 

35 It would take several volumes the size of a bound CONGRESSIONAl. RECORD to 
C'ontain all of them. 
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Mrs. StewaI't and tlheir youngest daughter, Maybelle, began leisurely a 
tfiip around the world in 1889, which lasted two years. They visited 
Ohina, Korea, Japan, Java, Greece, Palestine, Egypt and Constantinople. 
During their absence "The Castle" was leased to the Chinese embassy 
from 1886-1894. When the Chinese gave up the house, the Stewarts 
found ,vhat the house and its contents had been greatly ahused. Bedsteads 
had been destroyed by burns from opium-pipe smok,ing, fish and other 
Chinese foods had been cooked in the bathrooms jn open braziers, and 
the handsome original furniture had not been kept in repair. The dam­
ages w~re estimated at $30,000; the Senator made a claim on the Chinese 
Govenmlel1lt but at this time the Chinese throne was totterling, and the 
Stewarts setded for $3,000 as better than nothing at all. 
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SENATOR STEWART AND IRRIGATION 

When Senator Stewmt returned to vhe Senate in 1887, he resolved 
to do something about the reclamation of the arid lands of ,the west.36 

Nevada ranchowner constituents had written many letters to him telling 
hillll of their problems, how to get waste water to waste lands. In his 
study of how ancient civilizations in Africa and Asia had sustained 
thousands of people by irrigating vast areas with conditions similar to 
~hose of the western part of the United States, he was convinced that 
it could also be done here. These Nevada ranch owners had fared well 
during the mining era, approximately from 1850 to 1880. Af,ter the 
decline of the mines, however, there was little or nothing to sustain 
these settlers. 

The first step taken hy Senator Stewart to impleme111t his ideas on 
ir,rigation was to introduce a Resolution in the Senate in 1887 to create a 
O :mlmittee on Irrigation. This Resolution was adopted and a similar one 
was passed in the House of Representatives.37 Senator Stewart became the 
first C~lairman on Irrigation in the Senate which included western and 
southern congressmen.38 It was early decided by the Committee on Irriga­
tion that a complete survey must he made of possible reservoir sites on the 
Public Domain; $350,000 was appropriated by Congress for this purpose. 

Major J. \-,y. Powell, a Civil War veteran, had estabHshed a reputa­
tion for himself by exploring the Grand Canyon of the Colorado in 
1869. In 1879 he had become the Director of the United St~~tes Bureau 
of Ethnology, and a year later, of the United States GeolOgical Survey. 
Because of ,these experiences he was placed in charge of making a care­
ful survey of reservoir sites. One of the first things he did was to 
withdraw millions of acres of the Public Domain from sale Or homestead. 
This order praoticaUy dosed many of the Puhlic Land Offices in the 
western states. Hundreds of letters of complaint poured in to the 
Administration and to the Committee on Irrigation. A portion of a 
letter wri~ten by Senator Stewart :in answer to these complaints explains 
the situation: 

"Major Powell is ambitious, unscrupulous and incompetent. His 
scheme to prevent all settlemel1lt or the acquisition of title where the 
initiatory steps have been taken to the public lands has paralyzed 
the West. The land offices of the West are practically dosed. The 

36 The lands considered were west of the 100th Meridian. 
37 The northern and northeastern Congressmen were consistently and con­

tinuously opposed to legislation favorable to irrigation. 
38 Senator Stewart was a member of the Public Lands Committee in the 39th. 

40th, and 43rd Congresses; he was Chairman of the Select Committee on Irrigation 
and ReclamatiQn of Arid Lands in the 50th, 51st, and 52nd Congresses; he was 
also a member of the Committee on Irrigation in the 54th, 55th, 56th, 57th, and 
58th Congresses. 
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necessity for irrigation is used by Major Powell as an excuse for 
vast appropriations to be squandered on favorites for supposed 
scientific purposes. He is king of the lobby. Nothing can be done 
with irrigation until the question can be considered independent of 
the impracticable, sdfish, and ambitiorus schemes of Major Powell. 
Every Senator, Member and Delegate from the West is unalterably 
opposed to his ideas. No compromise can, be made until the public 
lands are again open to settlement ... If the $350,000 appropriated 
for irrigation had been placed in honest hands, much could have 
been accomplished before this time. Major Powell has wasted nearly 
all this money. He has great power in Congress on account of the 
vast appropriations and patronage he controls and may succeed in his 
scheme but the representatives of the people wal oppose his folly to 
the end.39 

The result of these complaints was the removal of Major PoweH 
from office, but he and his followers kept legislation from being passed 
and made the entire subject of irrigation unpopular in many parts of 
the United States. Not until the administration of President Theodore 
Roosevelt was favorable legislation passed. He had lived in South Dakota 
and was well acquainted with the problems of western farmers. 

Before the Congress closed in the spring of 1889, the Committee on 
Irrigation succeeded in getting an appropriation of some $80,000 to 
permit the Senate SpeCial Committee on Inigation and the Reclamation 
of Arid Lands, consisring of seven prominent Senators and a staff of 
assistants to visit the arid regions of the United States with a view to 
becoming better advised as to what legislation was necessary to promote 
irrigation. The tJhinking of the members of the Committee was that 
they, themselves, wished to see these lands, to talk with the ranchers 
personally, and to be able to formulate some policy for fur'ther action. 

Senator Stewart, in charge of arrangements, chartered a Pullman 
railroad car from the Northern Pacific Railroad to start from St. Paul, 
Minnesota, on August 1, 1889, and to proceed westward, swinging 
through the Dakotas, Montana, Wyoming, Colorado, Utah, Idaho, 
Nevada, California, Arizona, New Mexico and Texas. Muoh of the 
detailed planning for this expedition was made by Senator Stewart 
in San Francisco. Because he found that one car was not going to be 
sufficient to make~he Committee comfortable, he requested the Union 
Pacific and the Southern Pacific Companies to furn)sh an extra car to 
be carried free over their lines. The Southern Pacific and the Northern 
Pacific sent several officials along with nhe Committee to point out 
pertinent matters concerning the country over which they were to pass. 
Stewart was not only given an extra car for his Committee, but a tJhird 

39 Letter to W. H. Hall, Esq., San Francisco, California, July 6, 1890. 
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caT for staff work was furnished in some places. 
The car carrying the Irrigation officials attracted a great deal of 

attention. The people at the prearranged stopping places along the route 
were enthusiastic and cooperated in giving the Committee information. 
The Committee arrived jn Reno, August 21, 1889. It was reportcd that 
the hitch-raHs were filled with ranchers' horses, buggies and wagons; 
they had come great distances to present their problems. The cars were 
shunted off on a railroad siding where they remained for several days, 
being picked up by regular trains when their schedule was finished. In 
Nevada .~he cars stopped at Elko, Winnemucca, Lovelock, Reno, and Car­
son City. The Reports of tJhis Committee filled many pages in the 
CONGRESSIONAL RECORD. . 

From the inforrnation gained from interviewing hundreds of per­
sons, the Senate Special Committee on Irrigation and Reclamation of 
Arid Lands realized that the cost of storing w3lter, diverting streams, 
digging canals and ditches, to get the water on to the land was far 
beyond the means of individual ranchers. Itt: wouJd require cooperative 
efforts on their part or governmental aid. The Carey Act of 1894 passed 
by Congress to encourage cooperative enterprises, authorized the gift of 
irrigable lands to western states on condition ~hat they permit private 
companies to construct reservoirs, and convey the water to the lands, and 
to be permitted ,to charge for this service . .4hhough the land itself could 
be purchased for fifty cents an acre, the cost of getting ,~hc water to 
the lands under ,uhe Carey Act cost from thirty to forty dollars an acre, 
plus maintenance; hence, this privilege fell far short of free land. Never­
theless, a number of irrigation projects under this Act opened in eight 
states.40 

Senator Stewart continued his efforts for irrigation and aided 
greatly in getting the Reclamation Act, sometimes called the Newlands 
Act, of 1902, passed. The T mckee-Carson Irrigation District which re­
claimed the land of rhe old lake bed of the Carson River was the first 
one opened in the United States. Fallon is rue center of this district. Since 
1905 ,,,here have been many irrigation projects completed; all of them stem 
from the foundation laid by Senator Stewart and the members of the Com­
mittee on Irrigation. 

40 Several companies were formed in Nevada hut none of them was carried 
10 completion. 
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SENATOR STEWART AND EDUCATION 

There was no o~her field of endeavor in which Senator Stewart 
took a greater interest tJhan in education. He was compelled to leave 
home at 13 years to continue his own education; and he had to perfonn 
humble and humiliating work Ito make a living for the next eight years 
to obtain the formal education he was to receive. He never forgot the 
struggle he had during this time, and he recaHed these experiences in 
many of his wri~ings. He always took a great interest in education and 
was constantly giving advice :to younger persons to get I'he best educa­
tion they could. He sent his two oldest daughters to Europe for six 
years, 1866 to 1872, to learn to speak foreign 'bnguagcs and to finish 
their education through travel; and he sent his youngest daughter around 
tohe world in 1889 with her mother when she was sixteen years ald. 
He educated his two oldest grandsons at Groton School for boys and 
Yale Univcrsity.41 And he sent his granddaughter, Bessie Stewart Fox, 
to private school in Washington, D.C., and to the Bishop Whitaker 
School for Girls in Reno. In his letters to his grandsons he expressed his 
deep feeling for a good education: ii • •• I am exceedingly delighted to 
notice the improvement you make in your letters, which shows you are 
attending to your studies and are making good use of your time. It is 
especially gratifying to me to learn that you stand so high in your exam­
inations. What you do now will detemline your standing in after life. If 
you are industrious and ambitious and obtain a good education, yw will 
a~ways be able to succeed in this world. An early education is the most 
valuable inheritance a boy can have. With it he is arnleu and prepared 
to battle with the world and make a nHme for himself. I expect to be 
very proud of you, and rely upon you to pursue your studies witJh intelli­
gence ilnd to conduct yourself in such a manner that you will never 
be ashamed of what you do. Always do those things whioh wiU make 
you feel truly noble, and all your friends will be proud of yoU."42 

The interest Senator Stewart took in the University of Nevada was 
most profound. From the time he returned to aCl'ive political life in 1885 
to his retirement in 1905, he did every~hing in his power to make it an 
outstanding institution. The legislation in its behalf in the Congress, the 
adV:ice he gave to members of the Board of Regents, and the assistance 
in securing good instructors was constant. The story of vhe Senator's 
concern for the UniverSity of Nevada is given in a separate seotion of 
this biography. 

41 Richard C. Hooker became a Colonel in the United States Marines. I-Ie died 
in Shan~hai, China, in command of the Fourth Regiment stationed at that place; 
Harry S. Hooker became a lawyer and was a member of the same firm with 
Franklin D. Roosevelt in New Ynrk City during the nineteen twenties. 

42 Letter written in 1891 to his grandson, Richard Hooker, while he was attend­
ing Groton. 
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In 1890 Senator Stewart was appointed a Trustee of Stanford 
University; he continued to be a Tmstee for the next fifteen years. 
From the earliest CQld Rush days 'in Californ~a ,he was a friend of Mr. 
and Mrs. Leland Stanford. Indeed he became counsel for the Central 
Pacific Raillroad of which Mr. Stanford was one of ,~he builders, and 
the first President of the Company. T,his friendship continued throughout 
the years; there was close political relationship when the two men were 
in the United States Senate in vhe 1880's and 1890's. Part of this story 
has been told. 

Senator Stewart aided Senator and Mrs. Stanford to organize and 
establish Stanford University. Senator Stewart's advice on University 
policy was constantly sought; and vhis advice continued long after Sen­
ator Stanford died. In a letter written in 1903 to Mrs. Stanford in which 
she sought his opinion on a change in the policy of the University, Sen­
altor Stewart said: H ••• I have read the correspondence with a good 
deal of interest and wish to say that I hear,tily approve the stand you 
have taken in the matter. In holding fast to the institution and not yield­
ing to every innova.tion, you wm succeed in making the UnivCfl'sity 
( Stanford) what it was designed to be by your distinguished husband." 

From the earliest years Senator Stewart was in the West, he took an 
abiding interest in the American Indian. At that 'time, however, the 
Indian was forced to live On Reservations provided by.the United States 
Government and to accept rations for their bare existancc. They were 
kept under control by the presence of U n;ited States soldiers stationed on 
or near the reservations. In 1873, Senator StewaI1t became a member of 
the Committee on Jndian Affairs, at which time he learned considerable 
about these people. 

When Senator Stewart re-entered politics, he began actively to do 
something about the conditions of the Indians. He thought that the great­
est good could come from educating them to earn their own living. In 
1891 ,he introduced legislation for the approp11iation for an Indian sohool 
in Nevada. At <the same time an effort was made to have education of 
Indian children made compulsory. Two hundred acres of ranch land, 
southe,lst of Carson City, was bought and the first huilding for the 
Stewart Indian School, (named for Senator Stewart) was erected. 

During the time Senator Stewart was a member of the Indian Affairs 
Committee, ( he was Chairman of the Committee from 1901 to 1905) , 
he travelled to a number of areas ""here there were Indians. He aided 
conSiderably in resolving many of the problems of the Indians in 
Oklahoma and Texas, an-l dUTing his aSSOCIation with Indian Affairs, he 
learned much about their origins and customs. 
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SENATOR STEWATIT AND THE UNIVERSITY OF NEVADA 

There was no other institution in the State of Nevada in which 
Senator Stewart took more interest ,than in the University of Nevada. He 
assisted greatly in getting the 90,000 acres of Public DomaJin transft~rred 
to the State of Nevada for tlhe purpose of est~blishing a public university 
as provided for in the Morrill Act of 1862. These acres were selected in 
Elko County and !'he University was founded in that city in 1874; it re­
mained in Elko until 1885 when the campus was moved to Reno. 

From the papers and correspondence of Senator Stewart, it is 
definitely now known rhat he had considerable to do with this removal 
to Reno: In his -letters to constituents in Nevada written from Washing­
ton, D.C., he discussed the site of the present campus as compared to 
other sites considered in Reno; he also thought the price asked for the 
ground on the present campus was too high; he did not favor the way 
the Regents werc selected; and he suggested a moredolTIocratic way 
of electing them. 

After the Regents were elected 'in 1888, he wrote letters freljuently 
to some of them - discllssing the qualifications of the President, and 
courses to be given. 

To a member of the Nevada State Senate from Wa~hoc ('.,Qunty, 
Senator Stewart expressed himself forccfuUy in a letter: 43 

"I dcsire to call yoar attention to the University. You under­
stand all about the needs of that institution and that it should 
be managed efficiently and economicaUy, and above all that rhe 
people should he satisfied that everything connected with it is 
free from all party advantages. It must ,be the University of all 
the people or it cannot prosper. No State University has ever 
succeeded that was run by a political party . . . YOll will 
recollect that it was understood at the time the law was passed 
providing for the election of Regents that e<wh political party , 
should be represented on the Board ... I want every citizen 
of Nevada to feel that he has an equal interest in that institu­
tion, and I want 'the parents and guardians of the pupils also to 
feel ,,,hat there are no politics and no political favors with the 

, in~titution ... You wHI pardon~hese suggestions. I take a 
deep interest in the success of the UniverSIty and I believe 
the course I suggest essential to its continued prosperity." 

To the Honorable ILL. Fish, Regent of the University, Senator Stewart 
wrote that, "The State University is more ,important to Nevada than any 

43 \Vritten January 31, 1891, from 'Washington, D.C. 
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other institution, and will ultimately hring laTger returns. If it can be 
known abroad that the educational advantages of Nevada are equal, if not 
superior, to those of any other western state, it will he a great inducement 
to permanent settlers to come and live among us." 

In the selection of a President of the UniverSity of Nevada, he 
wrote to Oharles E. Mack, Regent in 1893,44 in which he recommended 
th'at "f0r the interest of the State University that there be a vigorous, 
Sitrong, ambitious man at the head of it who has executive ability ana 
management." 

The second largest building to be erected on the Reno campus of 
the University of Nevada was Stewart HaH, named for Senator Stewart 
in appreCiation of the many things he had done for the University and 
for legislation he secured in the Congress to aid its progress. In the 50th 
Congress he helped greatly in securing the passag~ of~he Hatch Brll, 
appropri<vting $15,OOO annually for the support and maintenance of 
agricultural and mechanical colleges connected with the Universities 
of the various states. 

Just previous to the adjournment of the 50th C.ongress, Lieutenant 
John "Jack" Neall, in charge of the Reserve Officers Training Corps at 
the University of Nevada, was ordered to rejoin his re.giment. He had 
considerable to do with the organization and setting up of military 
tmining at the University, which Senator Stewart was largely respon­
sible for gaining. When the Senator went to Washingtoll, D.C., in 
1887, there were only forty officers stationed at different institutions in 
the United States, and they were assigned on the basis of population. 
As a member of the Committee on Education and Labor, Senator Stew­
art had this law modified with the result that the UniverSity was in­
cluded in 1888. 

When it hecame known that Lieutenant Neall was going to leave 
the University, telegrams were sent to Senator Stowart by University 
officia,ls and prominent Reno citizens. The Senator went immediately to 
the Secretary of War and to the General of the Army and had this order 
rescinded. 

In the 51st Congress, legislation was further passed making addi­
tional appropriations for the agricultural college and experimental 
station connected with the University, sweHing the annual appropria­
tions from the General Governmcnt to $40,000. He aided the University 
in many other ways by contributing aN kinds of books, publications, 
documents, speeches, maps, and pertinent Jiterature. I Ie also saw to it 
that plants, shrubs, seeds and trees for the Univers1ity grounds were 
sent an!1Ually to the University. Largely through the influence of Senator 
Stewart, Miss Hannah Clapp, Carson City veteran teachor and founder 

44 C. E. Ma.ck is the uncle of the writer of this biography. 
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of the Sierra Seminary in 1860, a private school in that city, became 
one of the first teacher-librarians of the University.45 

When Stewart Hall was opened on rhe campus, a request was made 
of a picture of Senator Stewart to hang in this buidding. A large framed 
photograph was sent "with his compliments." When the picture was 
presented, of him it was said tha:t, "The Senator has great interest and 
the sin serest solicitude and regard for~he State UnIversity ... and 
that in Senator Stewart the University of Nevada has a staunch frjend, 
and one who is ever ready to display his friendship for it." 

45 The photograph of Mrs. Stewart aC'companying this biography came firom 
Miss Clapp's collection. Miss Clapp's hoine in Carson City is today onc of the sh ow-
residences, and a part of the Sierra Seminary is Still standing. . . 
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"THE SPOILERS" 

from ,the time Senator Stewart was the Cha~rman of the Quartz 
Miners' Meeting setting forth rules and regulations for this kind of 
mining in 1852, to the successful passing of the National Mining Laws 
of 1872, and to the end of his Senatorial career in 1905, he fought to 
keep free and open mining the policy of rhe United States, its territories, 
and its possessions. 

The last great fight in behalf of American citizens to thcir possessory 
rights came in 1901 when he prevented some designing Americans from 
despoiling the claims of the original locators of placer claims in Alaska. 
On September 22, 1898, placer gold was discovered on AnviI Creek, neaT 
Nome, Alaska, by some Scandinavian whalers who had been residents 
of this section for some years. After the discovery, they covered the 
Creek with placer claim locations according to the local customs in the 
region. 

The news of this discovery reachedl'he outside world, and the 
"Rush to Alaska" from Dawson , the Yukon, and the Pacific Coast was 
similar to that of California and Nevada half a century before, and the 
same problems confronted the original locators as they formerly had. The 
newcomers were exasperated that there was no avaibble ground, so 
they proceeded to ignore the rights of the first locators and they jumped 
theh- chims. Their chief arguments In doing so were rhe alien owners, 
and th'lt they had located more than one claim. (Two of the first locators 
were naturalized citizens and one had declared his intention to become 
a citizen). 

The Alaska Government Birll, approved May 17, 1884, provided 
that the general laws of Oregon should he in force in Alaska, in So far 
as they were aprlicable. One of these laws provided vhat "an alien may 
acquire and hold lands or any right thereto or interest therein, by pur­
chase, (~evise, or descent, and he may convey, mortgage and devise the 
same." But the "jumpers" were not to he daunted by these laws; they 
caNed a meeting of the miners in the District on July 10, 1899. The 
vote of them declared that alI former locations were void. 

Later in the sumnwr of 1899 Charles D. Lane, San Francisco, a 
good friend of Senator Stewart, and John W. Mackay of old Comstock 
clays, now wealthy and of good standing, negotiated w.ith the Oliginal 
locators on Anvil Creek for their claims, paying them $300,000. They 
also acquired more claims in the neighborhood and incorporated them 
along wiuh other mining interests, Lane's Steamship lines from San 
Francisco to Nome, and his warehouses and railroads from Nome to the 
mines, into the Wild Goose Mining nnd TradJng Company. At the 
same time, Alexander McKenzie, an inRuential politician from Min-
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nesota, purchased the titles to the jumpers' claims on Anvil Creek, and 
organi3ed a corporation capitalized for $15,000,000. 

In 1900, a Bill was pending lin Congress providing for a civil govern­
ment for Alaska, containing, among other items, a provision permitting 
aliens to acquire property. (The Bm was essentia:lly the same as the 
1884 Dill, except some items were added to cover new conditions in the 
Territory). Through McKenzie's political influence in Washington, D.G, 
he had an amendment to the Bill added to validate his right to the 
jumpers' claims. Mackay and Lane requested Stewart to prevent the 
passing of this amendment. 

The fight lIed by Senator Stewart against the amendment to the Bill 
giving American citizens exclusive rights in Alaska, took up almost the 
entire attention of the Senate on April 16, 1900. He addressed the Senate 
for nearly three hours, explaining the min~ng laws of the United States 
and their relation to the amendment. He defended the rights of the 
Swedes, Norwegians and Laplanders who had located the first claims in 
the Nome district. In the defense of the naturalized citizens and those 
who had declared their intention to become oitizens, he was assisted hy 
other western Senators. The amendment was defeated, and the Civil 
Government biU for Alaska became a law without it. 

This same hill contained a provision for three judges for Alaska. 
Arthur H. Noyes, an old friend of McKenzie, was appointed the Judgc 
for St. Michael, the district in which the claims were situated. Mc­
Kenzie's attorney, disregarding the new government hill, prepared COll1-

p1<"ints to dispossess the original locators of their rights on their claims. 
The complaints were heard by Judge Noyes who, in turn, appointed Mc­
Kenzie Receiver of all mining property concerned. The latter immediat­
ely took possession of the claims, seized all the gold dust the claimcrs 
had, and is~ued injunctions against t;he Wild Goosc Mining antI Trading 
Company. 

So gross were the irregularities and so scandalous the procedures of 
the court in the ~ssuancc of the injunctions, Lane appealed to the Circuit 
Court in San Francisco, presided over by Judge W. W. Morrow. When 
all of the evidence was presented to him, he ordered all property rc­
stored. Again McKenZie refused to comply with the law. Whereupon 
Judge Morrow sent two United States Marshals to Nome with orders to 
enforce the Court order, to arrest McKenzie, and produce him before the 
court. \Vhen McKenzie refused to deliver the gold dust taken from the 
claims, the Marshals, protected by United States soldiers, hroke open the 
safe, took out the gold dust and brought it along with McKenzie to San 
Francisco. 

McKenzie was tried, found gu,i1ty, and sentenced to one year in the 
Alameda County Jail, Oakland, California. McKenzie appealed to the 
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United States Supreme Court, but the lower court was sustained. 
An effort was now made to get rid of Judge Noyes. The evidence 

bTOUght out in McKenzie's trial was sufficient to implicate him in the 
scheme to disregard the provisions ofehe Alaska Government bill which 
Senator Stewart had established. Stewart laid the facts before the United 
States Attorney-General and Preslident McKinley. McKenzie's friends 
tried tv save Judge Noyes, but their efforts were of no avail; lIe was 
removed. 

After McKenzie failed in his appeal to the United States Supreme 
Court, he asked President McKinley to pardon him. Many of his influ­
ential friends signed the petition presented to the President. At first the 
President refused. However, when it was noted that McKenzie's health 
had failed, the President pardoned him, but not, however, until he had 
turned over a quantity of gold dust which he ,had succeeded in shipping 
to Seattle before his arrest. 

There were many dramatic events in this episode, many of which 
are set forth by Rex Beach in his novel, The Spoilers. Some of the 
characters can be easily identified with the fictitious names in the hook: 
Senator Sturtevant of Nevada is Senator Stewart, McKenzie figures as 
McNamara, and Judge Noyes is Judge Stillman. Beach characteriizes 
Stewart, and has McKenzie say that, "There's no dangor. I have the books 
where tIley will be burned at the first sign. We'd have had our own land 
laws passed but for Sturtevant of Nevada, damn him. He blocked us in 
the Sonate."46 Other characters in the book were known ,]ater in Nevada. 
Cherry Malotte of the "Spoilers" is said to have become the wife of Key 
Pittman, later United States Senator of Nevada. 

When Senator Stewart took the Hoor of the Senate to expose the 
machinations of "The SpoHers" he was so enraged and so vehement over 
their fraudulent deals, and his language was so profane in his speeches, 
they had to he eXJpunged hefore they could be printed in the CONGRES­
SIONAL RECORD. 

A:1other territorial application of Senator Stewart's thorough Jmow­
ledge of mining laws came when he reconciled the American Mining 
laws with the Spanish laws of the PhHlipine Islands. He said, "It would 
be difficult for Americans (mining in the Is<lands) to measure their 
claims in meters instead of feet, exac~ly at right angles . . . and no one 
wOllld want to invest money in developing a (PhiIlipine) claim restricted 
to the vertical line of the claim." Stewart's amendments were adopted and 
the Phillipine mining code is a combination of the old Spanish laws 
and the United States Statutes. 

A happy combination of circumstances made it possible for Senator 
Stewart to complete in this masterly manner the great task of framing 

46 Rex Beach, TI,e Spoilers. 237. 
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the mining laws, and protecting the miners' interests. Through his per­
sonal expcriences in the mining world, hi~ litigation on the Comstock, 
his participation in framing of thc laws of Nevada, his championship of 
the industry in Congr~s5 and in the Supremc Court of the United 
States, he built a lasting monument to himself. And for this service he 
is entitled to~he gratitude of every mining community in the United 
State~. 
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THE PIOUS FUND CASE AND SENATOR STEWART 

When Theodore Roosevelt became President of the United States 
in 1901, he was anxious that disputes between nations be set~led by 
arbitration rather than by war. The Internabional Court of Arbitration, 
set up at The Hague on the suggestion. of the Czar of Russia, provided 
that nations could submit cases to th~s Court. Under the Treaty estab­
lishing this CUllrt, each country named four eligibles as judges. When 
a. disllUte was submitted by protocol, each side named two of these 
eligibles, but not of its own nation. The four then selected an umpire 
who presided over the deliberations. There was no appeal after ten 
days, and then, only on new evidence prior to that. 

The first suit heHrd by The Hague Court was the Pious Fund Case, 
of which Senator Stewart was the Chief Counsol. The suit was on behalf 
of the Roman Catholic Church of California against the State of Mexico, 
for the recovery of interest due the Cathol~c Church of California. As 
early as 1697 donations were made by religious Spanish noblomen and 
women in thanksgiving for their good fortune in obtaining so much 
revenue from their provinces in the New World. Donations to the fund 
were continued thereafter from time to time to ] 765 and known as the 
"Pious Fund of the Californias." Its purpose was for uhe civilizat,ion and 
conversion of the Indian natives of the Californ'ias and for the propaga­
tion of the Catholic faith. In )753 especially large donations were 
made by the Marchion~ss de bs Torres de Rada and the Manjuis de 
Villa-Puente, swelling ,the -total to many millions of doNars. 

When Mexico gained its independence from Spain, this fund be­
longed solely to that nation, and when Mexico ceded the southwest to 
the United States, the missions of Californ~a were to receive their propor­
tionate share of the fund. But after 1848 the Mex,ican government failed 
to pay the agreed interest on that part of the principal belonging to the 
missions of Upper California. The particular question submitted to The 
I-Iague for arbitration in 1901 was for ,the amount of principal and 
interest due after it was submitted to arbitration by the United States 
and Mr:;~ico at the Convention of July 4, 1868. 'Vhere was a disagreement 
among the Commissioners at this time, but Sir Edward Thompson, Eng­
land, the Umpire, made the decision: He fixed the principal for Upper 
California as $717,618.50, and the interest due at $904,070.79. This 
amount MeXiico paid. Since that year, Mexko ,has failed to pay the 
interest. 

A massive collection of papers were hrought together by the fonner 
Bishops and Archbishops of California and the State Dopartment of the 
United States, which were thoroughly studied by Senator Stewart and 
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his associates in the case.47 He made a finished argumen1t, supported by 
these archives. The case was heard during the Congressional Reeess of 
the late summer of 1902, from September 15th to October 14th. The 
decision was unanimous for the United States. The judgment won was 
for $1,420,662.69 Mexican money, back interest $42,050.99, to be paid 
annually -thereafter and forever in si,iver. Senator Stewart's fee was 
$40,000. 

47 Jackson H. Ralston, International lawyer, American Agent, W. L. Penfield, 
Solicitor General, United States State Department" 'Walter S. Penfield, American 
Secretary, H. B. Armes, United States State Department, W. T. Sherman Doyle, and 
Garrett W. McEnerny, Associate Counselors from California, and Archhi,hop 
Riordan, Roman Catholic Diocese of San Francisco. 
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POLITICAL CAREER OF SENATOR STEWART 

Shortly after Senator Stewart arrived in CaHfornia, just out of the 
Sophomore Class at Yale University, 1850, and twenty-two years of age, 
he joined the Democratic Party. Indeed, he published a Democratic 
newspaper in Nevada City, California, for a short time. And it is known 
that he belonged to the Know Nothing Party, a reform organization 
opposed chiefly to aliens. The first :rime he ran ,for office was in 1851; 
he was badly defeated for Sheriff of Nevada County. 

From 1853 to 1905, Senator Stewart was actively eng,l;ged in politics, 
(with the exception of 12 years-1875 to 1887-when he was in private 
law practice). On the day he passed his bar examinations, 1853, he was 
appointed District Attorney of Nevada County, to take the place of J. R. 
McConnell who had been elected Attorney-General of Camornia. Stew­
art ran for District Attorney of Nevada County the foHowing year and 
was elected. \\Then McConnell was given a six months leave of office 
by the California State Legislature, Stewart was appointed Attorney­
General for this time, on the recommendation of McConnell. 

\i\Then the Republican Party was organized in 1856, Stewart hecame 
affiliated with this Party and remained a staunch and loyal member of it 
the rest of his life with the exception of the six years he belonged to 
the Silver Party, 1892-1898. While practicing law in Downieville, 1856-
1860, he was not an office holder but his activity in politics was 
known- his first partner, Peter Van CHef, was appointed Judge. His 
second partner was Henry 1. Thornton, District Attorney of Sierra 
County. It was advantageous to have a former partner the judge before 
whom he had mining suits, and likewise to have a partner who was the 
District Attorney of the County. 

Coming to Nevada, then Utah Territory, in March, 1860, Stewart 
found peritions being circu~ated to organize the Territory of Nevada. 
While most of his law practice was in Virginia City, he buiit his home 
and established his family in Carson City, the proposed capital of the 
new territory. Having taken an active part in local, county, and state 
politics in Ca,lifornia, he began at once to make his influence felt in 
Nevada. While still a part of the Utah Territory, Stewart was elected a 
Selectman in Genoa, 1860. 

Alt'hough the Bill to create the Tenitory of Nevada was signed by 
President Buchanan, March 2, 1861, it was not ullltil October 1st that 
the Territorial Legislature convened. Stewart was elected a member of 
the Council, equivalent to State Senator today. Through his astute 
observations of an unorganized territory, he began to lay plans for guid­
ing and controlling the work of the legislature. Desiring to make Carson 
City the capital, he bargained with delegates from important commun­
ities to create counties and county seats for their votes. Because of his 
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profound knowledge of the law, he wrote the entire Civfl Code. Indeed, 
a c.ursory glance through the reports of Nevada's first legislature shows 
howinHuential Stewart was in moulding the destinies of a new territory. 

Through the friendship of James W. Nye, Territorial Governor of 
Nevada, whose influence in Washington, D. G, was impressive, and 
William Morris Stewart, who had demonstrated his ability as a politician 
and a lawyer, plans were laid to have the Territory of Nevada made a 
State. Stewart, elected a member of the first Constitutional Convention 
of Nevada, took a most active part in framing a constitution. 

He failed, however, to have the section he proposed on the taxa­
tion of mines adopted. Being counsel for the largest mining interests 
in the territory, he realized that this young industry could not carry the 
tax burden to support a state. ClOSing his law office, he and his partner, 
Alexander W. Baldwin, rode horseback, stages, hired wagons, and even 
walked to most of the mining camps, explaining what the effects of 
the tax provision would do to their businesses. Stewart was also dis­
pleased with a provision adopted at the Convention which mled out any 
member of it from being a candidate for office. By this .time it was 
known that he was ambitious to he United States Senator. The Constitu­
tion was defeated. 

Stewart was not a member of the Second Constitutional Convention, 
but he was suffiCiently influential With the delegates to have the tax 
section modified to include a tax only on the proceeds of the mines. 
This Constitution was adopted overwhelmingly, with Stewart a staunch 
supporter of it. When the first State Legislature met, William Morris 
Stewart was elected the first United States Senator from Nevada, Decem­
ber 15, J864. To preserve the one-third rule in the United States Senate, 
Nevada was allotted a four and a two year tenn; Stewart drew the longer 
one. 

The accomplishments of Senator Stewart in his first term in Con­
gress has been reviewed in a former section of ·t'his biography; they 
were weJl publicized in Nevada, California, and eastern newspapers. He 
returned to Nevada to run for ,his second tenn in the Senate, 1868; he 
had little opposition and was elected unanimously to a six-year term. 
Senator Stewart went to Washington, D.C., a millionaire, thanks to 
his mining investments and the fabulous fees he had received for success­
fully winning the mining suits of the owners of the original locators of 
the Comstock Lode. 

Shortly after Senator and Mrs. Stewart went to Washington in his 
second term, they and a friend purchased a large tract of ground in the 
northwest section of the city. Selecting a site for a home, which later 
became 3 Dupont Circle, the Stewarts erected a large palatial residence. 
At fir~t it was known as Stewart's Folly or the Honest Miner's Camp. 
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Af.ter several more handsome homes were built nearby, including that of 
tilie Bciti::;h Embassy, it became known as Stewarrt Castle. Four stOl:ies, 
five with the room in the tower, eighty feet from the street level, 
it became the social center for diplomats and friends of the Senator and 
his family. 

The great expense in keeping up the Stewart Castle, what with its 
large entourage of servants, the lavish entertainments, and the stables of 
riding and driving horses, greatly diminished ,the Senator's for,tune. A num­
ber of his fomJer clients llIged him to retum to private -law practice. In 
1875 'he retired from the Senate, set up an office in San f)'ancisco, 
where he devoted the next twelve years to active mining and law 
practice. 

There were several reasons why Senator Stewart did not return to 
the Senate in 1875, chief among which was the number of multi-million­
aires who were ambitious for dlis honor. In 1873 John Pe~'cival Jones, 
Superintendent of the Crown Point Mine, Comstock Lode, and who had 
made a fortune rin Comstock mining stock, wished to go tot;he Senate. 
He was opposed by James W. Nye, who had had two ten11S in the 
Senate, the short one of two years, and a full term. While Senator Nye 
was a good politician and vote-getter, he was famous for his extravagance 
and for never having any money; he could not match the money Jones 
had. It was said that Jones spent more than a hal£ miHion dollars to be 
elected. When some one asked him why he spent so much money, his 
reply was that he was setting a precedent for futllIe candidates who 
wished to be elected. And he did set a precedent. From that time until 
the Australian haIlot system was adopted in Nevada in 1893, and even 
after that date, votes were openly bought. This story will he told later. 

Two Comstock millionaires ran for the Senate to follow Senator 
Stewart-W. E. Sharon and Adolph Sutro. Both candidates spent money 
lavishly-newspapers were bought, bands were hired, political agents 
employed, and large parades held with pa~d marchers. Whi1e Sutro was 
a shrewd and hrilliant leader, he was no match for canny Sharon, who 
was handily elected. About the time of the election, 1875, the Bank 
of California failed; business and personal problems kept Senator Sharon 
in Virginia City and San Francisco most of his six year term. It was said 
that he spent about one year in Washington, D.C. In spite of this record, 
he wished to succeed himself. 

In 1880, James Graham Fair sought the election to succeed Senator 
Sha,ron. He, too, spent great sums of money to be elected. It was a 
colorful campaign. Men, marching four abreast, carried illuminated 
hanners, lighted with pine knots, urging Fair's election. Sharon and 
Fait conduoted entirely different campaigns; Sharon, the suave white­
collared gentleman, remained in his ivory-towered offices and let hris ward-
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healers (u,spense the money to buy the necessary votes. Fair knew how 
to win votes from miners: he discarded his broadcloth suits and white 
shirts, and dressed like a miner; he drove his horse and wagon among 
the mining camps, speaking the language of the miners. It worked, 
and Fair, the first Democrat to be eleoted to the United States Senate 
from Nevada, won easily. 

At first, Senator Fair was interested in learning what went on in 
Congress, "but after the novelty wore off, his chair was usually vacant 
. . . preferring to while away the hours in his office, where, with feet 
on desk and a botde of brandy handy, he reminisced with other truant 
senators or entertained occasional eonstituents."48 

After the debaole of the Sierra Nevada Mine in Virginia City, and 
the closing down of a number of the leading mines in Virginia City and 
other parts of Nevada, the end of the Comstock Lode and Nevada's era 
of silver was sudden and complete. People left by the hundreds; some 
of them failed to lock the doors of their homes. Looters went in and 
helped themselves to whatever they wanted or could carry away. Business 
houses folded the great iron doors of their establishments and left the 
state; most of them went to Cahfornia. The price of silver steadily de­
clined to a point where only rich ore could be profitably mined. 

When the cities, counties and state treasuries no longer had the 
revenue from the mines, they had to retrench their expenditures. This 
story is a tragic one, but it does not helong here except that it hrought 
hack to the State of Nevada the one person who could do something for 
its declining fortunes-William Morris StewaTt. 

In 1885, Senator Stewart returned and bought a residence on the 
comer of Robinson and Minnesota Streets in Carson City. He and Mrs. 
Stewart remodeled the house, and again their home bec.lme 'l'he center of 
socia,l aotivities. At this time ,the Senator announced 'Dhat he was going to 
seck ,the election to the United States Senate to succeed Senator Fair. 
Stewart was urrged to return to politics largely by John W. Mackay, and 
the officers of the Central Paoific Railroad. The fonner wished him to get 
legislwnion passed to restore the free and unlimited coinage of silver, and 
the hLtJter to protect the railroad company's intorests in Washington. After 
the declrine of mjn~ng in Nevada, vhe railroad company "vas the largest 
Single taxpayer in the State. To prevent cJ<itJravagances on the pal1t of 
Sl'aIte legislflttors, rund to control hX'3,j politics, vhis company hired a "politi­
cal boss"-G C. "Charlie Black" Wallace, poweTful, and a forceful agent. 
His orders came from the railroad <.:ompany's offices in San Fmncisco, 
and he cavilled them OUit. So Stewart was backed by John W. Mackay 
and the railroad company.49 

48 Oscar Lewis, Sil·ver Kings, 168. 
49 Stewart had been a member of the legal firm in San Francisco that handled 

the railroad business. He was also a personal friend of Leland Stanford and C. P. 
Huntington. 



11')'om PlJ('k, August 12, 1896. 
Puck's first cartoon of Bryan, 
four weeks after his nomination. 
The ventriloquist is Senator 
Stewart of Nevada, typifying 
silver-mine owners. Bryan is 

the dummy on his knee. 
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Senator Fair did not wish to return to the Senate, but he did not 
wish to see Senator Stewart elected, either. He tried to get several Nevad­
ans to run against Stewart; Fair promised them support and he did 
everything he coU'ld to prevent Stewart's election. Stewart offered to 
debate Fair at any place he named in Nevada. Fair declined. Stewart 
was elected in 1887. 

With the same vigor that he had used ~n his former years in the 
Senate, Senator Stewart accomplished many things. He secured an 
appropriation for a Government BUilding ( the Postofhce) in Carson 
City, and the Stewart Indian School. He secured appropriations for the 
University of Nevada, and he took care of the Pacific Railroad Tax Bill, 
in addition to the terrific campaign for the free and unlimited coinage of 
silver 2t the ratio of 16 to 1. In spite of all these things, the population 
of Nevada continued to decline until, in vhe census of 1890, there were 
only a few more than 42,000 people in tJhe State. During the severe 
wintor of 1888-1889-1890, cattle men in Nevada lost thousands of head 
of livestock; it was impossihle to borrow money as the nation went into 
the depression of 1892. 

Senator Stewart, other silver senators, and the representatives from 
the sOllthern states maintained that hard times were caused for the lack 
of money. What was needed, they argued, was more silver so that the 
farmer and small hus,incssman could accumulate more money! But the 
gold standard merchants and bankers said that cheap money was the 
cause t)f hard times. The latter were powerful; they convinced Presi­
dent Cleveland that the Sherman Silver Purchase Act must be repealed. 
And ,It a special session of Congress, it was. 

At a meeting of the Editors of Nevada newspapers in Dayton in 
] 892, :l suggestion was made that a Silver Party he formed. This idea 
spread "like n,easlcs" th ey said, and soon it became a National Party. 
Stewart':> term in the Senate ended that year; he wished to be returned 
to resume his fight for silver. He was unanimously elec.ted to the Senate 
without opposition for :1nother term, and without returning to Nevada 
to campaign. 

With increased enthusiasm Stewart devoted his talents and energy 
to silver. Making countless speeches, publishing a newspaper, editing 
phamphlets, writing a book on money, carrying on a debate in a New 
York newspaper, he fought desperately for silver legislation. In 1893, 
the Carson City Mint ceased coining money; it was reduced to the 
rank 'Jf an assay office where only bullion was bought, but he could do 
nothing about it. 

Finally the great contest between the gold and silver forces eame 
in the summer of 1896. President Oleveland had restored the credit 
of the United States by selling gold bonds and the recovery from the 
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depression was noticeable. In the national nominating conventions in 
the sununer of that year, the Populist and Silver Parties were aligned 
against the Gold TIepuhlicans, with the Gold Democrats joining them. 
Senator Stewart and the more sober-minded silver senators favored 
United States Senator Henry M. Teller, a sHver-Republican from 
Colorado, for candidate as President. However, after William Jennings 
Bryan made his famous "Cross of Gold" speech in the Democratic Con­
vention, he was swept into nomination with a frenzy. He campaigned 
on the cheap money platform and for the 16 to 1 policy. Because he 
knew little jf anything about monetary policies, he spent as much time 
as he :::ould in the office of Senator Stewart in getting coached on that 
subject. The cartoon from Puck pictures Stcwart's influence on Bryan. 
And whenever Bryan knew that the Senator from Nevada was going to 
give a speech in the Senate, he slipped over from the House of Repre­
sentatives to hear it. 

During the campaign of 1896, Senator Stewart tried to give BTyan 
some advice: 5o He urged him "to go abroad, to travel over many lands. 
write descriptive articles of his journeyings ... a great man can't be 
too much on exhibition without weakening himself, he said." Bryan 
did travel many thousands of miles ~n the United States and spoke to 

hundreds of thousands of people from the rear platform of his special 
train. William McKinley, nominee of the Republican party and opponent 
of Bryan, never left his f>ront porch, speakig from 'his home to the crowds 
of people who came to hear him. The vote was close, and it was said tlhat 
if out of ~he 11,000,000 cast, 25,000 ofrhe votes had been distributed 
among several of ~he pivotal states, Bryan would have hcen elected. 

Although it was seen by a relatively few people, after the defeat 
of Bryan on the silver coinage ticket, it was rhe beginning of the end 
for the success of that slogan. Bryan contoinued his fight. He ran three 
times for Presidcl)t. In Nevada, the Silver Democrats won easily in 
1896.51 Stewart continued his fight for silver, expending large sums of 
his own money to wage it, but the forces of recovery and the gold policy 
of President Cleveland were changing the economic conditions of the 
country, and, also, the attitude of Senator Stewart. 

T'he unpredictable, accidental and remarkabJe discovery of gdld in 
three different pal'ts of the world at about the same time52 was the great-

50 Bryan had a reputation in coll ege for his oratory and deba'ting. He was 
elected to the House 'Of Representatives from Nebraska, where he had a chicken 
farm near Lincoln, and -practiced law. 

51 Tn 1892, every persun running fnr a state office on the silver ticket in Nevada 
was elected; in 1894 it was the same victory, but now called the Silver-Democratic 
party. The silver democrats continued to function and to elect many state officials 
until 1906. 

52 Gold was discovered in SOllth Africa, Australia and Alaska in the late 
eighteen nineties: -
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cst factor in destroying the arguments of the silver advocates in the 
United States. The argnment that gold was so scarce and silver so 
plentiful , was completely destroyed. Gold was now plentiful. Senator 
Stewart was one of the first statesmen to recognize this change in the 
world situation. Consequently, he ,drorred his light for sj,lver and re­
turned to the Republican Party and the gold standard. The public 
announcement of this change was hera'ided in national and Nevada 
newspapers. 

The starcling news that Senator Stewart was once more a member 
of the Republican party shocked rhe political foundations of Nevada. 
CIt will be remembered that the Senator had to stand for reelection in 
1898) . The Silver-Democratic Party had been in the "political saddle" 
in Nevada for six years and almost no one could get elected unless he 
unfalteringly belonged to that party. Hence, the Senator had a fight on 
his hands, physioally and politically. And thereby hangs a tal~: the 
fly in the political ointment was Francis Griffith Newlands, Represent­
ative frem Nevada for three tenus, 1892, 1894, 1896. He was now ready 
to step up and go to the United States Senate to succeed Stewart. 

Using the age of Senator Stewart, ( he was then seventy-two years 
old, an ancient state for those days) as one of the reasons for Newlands' 
announcement, he started his campaign to get to the Senate. Coming out 
to Carson City in the summer of 1898, Stewart took a suite of rooms 
at the Ormsby I louse; Newlands made his headquarters at the Arlington 
Hotel and the batrle was on in full force. Because Senator Stewart was 
sensitive that anyone would bring up the question of his age, he decided 
to prove to the world that he was hailc and hearty, 

H e went to San Francisco and bought a pair of large blooded trotters 
and. a :;trong new buggy and harness. Driving the team up to Nevada, 
he invited some men to join him to jog out to neighbo~ing towns, 10 to 30 
miles away where he wished to make- a speech . After speaking until late 
at night, they started back home. Stewart let the reins loose, trusting to 
a trait he had always found in weB-hred horses that I1hey would l<cep 
to t:>he trail. They flew ahng at 14 to 15 miles an hour until his compan­
ion clung wirldly to him and hegged him to go slower, as they bounced 
over ruts up hill and down dale, and. across the mountains. Fortunately 
the outfit held together. He repeated these speaking expeditions severa'] 
times 'in different parts of Nevada unti'l he never could get anyone to 
go with him. He heard no more talk ahout his age. Senator Stewart 
wrote ~hat, "No man is old while he is in full vigor of both mind and 
body." 

On the other hand M r. Ne'vvlands was what would be called today 
a hypochondriac. In a letter Senator Stewart wrote to a memher of the 



STEWART: "HA! HA! THERE SEE HIS HEART-'ANYTHING'!" 

Carson Daily Appeal 



Carson City Appeal 

NEWLANDS- " I ASSUME THE UTMOST GOOD FAITH ON BOTH SIDES; THAT 
YOU WILL SUPPORT ME FOR CONGRESS AND I WILL SUPPORT YOU FOR 

THE SENATE." 
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Nevada State Legislature, he stated that he «never heard of Mr. New­
lands being well a week at a time; it is either rheumati~m, gout from 
English high living, ( he was the brotiher-jn-Iaw of Lord Hesketh of 
England and he and Mrs. Newlands had often visited their relatives at 
their English castle), bladder trouble, headache, indigestion, or all so 
combined it required a syndicate of doctors to keep his feeble heart in 
motion." 

Charlie "Black" Wallace handled Stewart's campaign. He went 
about the State laying the foundations to get legislators elected to vote 
for Senator Stewart. This political game was a "rough one." And as the 
campaign grew in ferOCity, Stewart's friends became so fearful of his 
life they employed two bodyguards to be with him at all times-Jack 
Chinn, said to be an ex-boxer ,from Kentucky, and David Nagle, from 
CaHfornia, who had heenthe bodyguard of Justice Stephen Field when he 
was attacked by Judge Terry ,and Nagle had shot Terry dead. The Carson 
Daily Appeal supported Senator Stewart; the Nevada Union and Reno 
Evening Gazette ohampioned the election of Mr. Newlands. 

It was a costly campaign for both parties-Charlie Wallace, agent 
for the Southern Pacific, took care of Stewart's expenses; Mr. Newlands 
had become wealthy from being an agent for the Sharon estate in Nevada 
and California. It will be remembered that rin those days the Nevada 
State Legislature chose the United States Senators. CNewlands had al­
ready been chosen Representative in the Novemher, 1898, election, but 
he planned to resign, become Senator, and let the Governor appoint a 
Representative.) 

The Carson Appeal put on a vigorous campaign for Stewart when 
the members of the Legislature assembled in Carson City in January, 
1899. Every morning, for more than two weeks before the vote was 
taken, Stewart had a cartoon of himself and Newlands in the newspaper. 
Stewart is depicted as the large, robust healthy looking distinguished 
statesman, while Newlands is the effete Englishman with derby hat, 
sPaJts, plaid suit, buttonniere, and monocle. 

January 25, 1899, was a beautifui day in Carson City. The election 
of a United States Senator was always an exciting one, and the news­
papers reported that "all the ladies were out in their finery and would 
be seen in the galleries of the Capital." But this election was one of 
the most dramatic ever to take place in Nevada. Stewart was nominated 
in the Senate; in that hody he had a clear majority and won easily. (It 
was reported around that Newlands had writhdrawn ,his candidacy). But 
in the Assemhly of thirty members, it looked like a deadlock. 

The Reno Evening Gazette reported the election in this way: " ... 
the hour was noon, Speaker CLem) Allen, CChurchHl) was just reaching 
for his gavel to call the house to order for the election of a United States 
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Senator, when one of the "lamhs" (Wallace's man) whispered in his ear, 
but not low, that Wallace wanted him to come out in the hall just a 
minute. And the Speaker went." When the roll was called W . A. Gil­
lespie, Storey, was not present. He was sent for but he couid not be 
found. The vote was taken, Stewart won by one vote. The same 
newspaper reported later that, "The least said about it (the absence of 
Gillespie) the better ... He has gone away, and at this writing has 
not shown up ... " It was charged that Gillespie had been paid $5,000 
to stay away! He said "he went home as he had a right to do, because I 
knew there was no chance for a Republrican to be elected and I was un­
wilHng to playa part in Mr. Newlands53 scheme to produce a deadlock." 
There were various and sundry stories told conceming Gillespie's absence. 
One prevalent one was that he was asked to come across the street from 
the capital to a saloon for a drink and to ta~k over matters. The drink 
knocked him out so badly he was unahle physically to get back to the 
Capital building. 

It may be well to describe briefly here how votes were bought in 
the days before the Australian ballot law and the drirect election of 
United States Senators. From earliest times to 1892, the candidates' 
political agent handed a ballot to a voter who watched him vote, and 
then paid him the fee, generally $10. It was considered good business 
on the part of the voter to get the highest current fee for his vote. After 
the secret ballot, the voter was griven the customary $10 to vote right, 
and was promised 'an ,additional $5 H :the right canJidate were elected. 
But generally, the voter was so drunk the next day, he never showed up 
for his additionaa fee. The agent received ten percent of the money spent 
for his "cut."54 

The last term of Senator Stewart in the Senate, 1899-1905, was not 
as dramatic as previous ones. He succeeded in getting some of the Paiute 
Indian War claims paid to Nevadans, a part of the Nevada's Civil War 
debt was retumed, and he successfully argued the first case to be heard 
at The Hague. 

One of the most impressive accomplishments Senator Stewart made 
was in behalf of milk inspection, and of all dairy products coming into 
Washington, D.C. As a member of the Committee on the District of 
Columbia, he sought to have Congress pass a law to this effect. He set a 
good example in having installed at his farm at Ashburn, Virginia, which 
he purchased in 1895, some thirty miles west of the District, every 
known device for making his farm a model in sanitation. Here he bred 

53 Several months IMer Gillespie was seen as the Southern Pac:iflic ticket agent 
at the Oakland Mole. 

54 REMINISCENCES OF NEVADA EARLY-DAY LEGISLATURES. This story had been 
vividly ,told in a feature artkle by H. L. Considine, NEVADA STATE JOURNAl., February 
21, 1937. 
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fine hurses, and the best milk cows. The Ashburn Farm was not a paying 
concern; Senator Stewart could not give it his personal attention and 
he was forced to sell it at a considerable loss. But he laid the foundation 
for the Pure Food Act. 

In 1896, Senator and Mrs. Stewart decided to sell Stewart Castle. 
It was purchased by William A Olark, copper king and United States 
Senator from Montana. When Senator Clark came to Washington, D.C., 
to take up his oflloial duties, he announced he was not interested in buy­
.ing any home that did not seat 200 people. He paid the Stewarts $144,000 
for The Castle, but never lived in it. The story of why he did not con­
cerns ·the crashing to the floor of one of the full length mirrors when 
he went to inspect the house. The copper magnate had the castle torn 
down. He went over to New York City and built his mansion on Fifth 
Avenue. Senator and Mrs. Stewart purchased a new home at 18th and 
F Streets, opposite the home of their good friends, Chief Justice and Mrs. 
M. W . Fuller, where they surrounded themselves with many of the 
handsome furnishings she had had in the Castle. T 'hey were living there 
when the Senator set out for The Hague, and Mrs. Stewart went-out to 
Oak},and to vi~~t relatives. (It was at this {ime she was killed in the 
automubile acddent on September 12, 1902). 

By the turn of the Twentieth Century, it was noted that Senatur 
Stewart was one of the few Congressmen left who had taken part in the 
era of Reconstruoion, and that he had outlived every member of thc 
39th Congress. I-Ie had also outlived most of his early Nevada and Calif­
ornia mining colleagues, including all four of the Bonanza Kings. He 
was an ardent admirer of President McKinley and supported most of the 
administration bills; and he saw great hope for the nation in the youthful 
and vigorous young Theodore Roosevelt; he made his farewell speech 
for him. 

On October 29, 1903, he married Mrs. May Agnes Atchison Cone, 
48-year old widow of Theodore Cone, Washington, D.G, in Atlanta, 
Georgia. They lived in Washington until Dhe Senator retired in 1905. 

In 1904 he was asked if he would run for the Senate for another 
term; he gave the thought some con~deration and corresponded at 
length with his friends and associates in Nevada. But he found that he 
would be confronted with the same situation in 1905 as existed in 1875: 
the mining boom in Goldfield, Tonopah, and other new gold and silver 
mining camps in Nevada, had produced another crop of millionaires, 
most of them ambiuious to go to the United States Senate. He did not 
receive the nomination in the Repuhlican Convention in 1904; it went 
to George S. Nixon, who was eleoted and took office on March 5, 1905.55 

55 Senator Jones retired in 1903 after 30 years. of continuous service in the 
Senate; he was succeeded by Francis G. Newland~. 
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DEATH OF ANNIE ELIZABETH FOOTE STEWART 

Just as Senator Stewart was ready to embark to argue the Pious Fund 
Case at The Hague, he received word from his nephew, W. W. Foote, Jr. 
of Oalciand, California, telling him of the shocking news that Mrs. Stewart 
had been hlled in an automobile accident in that city. Mrs. Stewart had 
wished greatly to accompany the Senator to IIolland, for she felt that she 
would be a considerable help to him in her knowledge and ability to speak 
fluently several European languages. Because she had not been well it 
was thought best that she go to me Pacific Coast and visit relatives. 

In the late afternoon of September ] 2, 1902, she was being taken by 
her two nephews, H. Benedict Taylor and W. W. Foote, Jr., to vis.it her 
granddaughter, Bessie Stewart Fox Hofer, wife of Theodore Hofer, Car­
son City, when she was killed. The driver, Mr. Taylor, turned a corner 
too rapidly to avoid hitting a horse-drawn grocery wagon and ran head-on 
into an eighteen inch telegraph pole, snapping it off completely. All lhree 
of the occup<m~s of the car were thrown out of the high-built, doorless 
heavy Winton car. The two men were thrown heavily to the ground; 
they susta'ined painfu~ bruises and had to go about with canes for some 
time. Mrs. Stewart, I'iding in the front seat, was thrown against the curb, 
stIiiking on the left side of her head. Her eye was 3Jlmost torn from its 
socket and her face and head were hadly crushed. She was helped into 
a nearby home where a physician administered first aid, and had her taken 
to a hospital. She died of concussion of the brain in two hours. 

Since Mrs. Stewart's death was the first fatal automohile accident 
around the San Francisco Bay area, the newspapers gave the accident page 
one importance. The San francisco Chronicle, Saturday 13, 1902, head­
lined: "Senator Stewart's Wife Dashed to Death in Automobile Acci­
dent." There were three columns of the sordid details, describing the speed 
of 'twenty-five miles an hour, the damage to the car; a large photograph 
of Mrs. Stewart and one of the accident, accompanied the article. This 
account was foBowed on the next two days with long accounts. 

When Senator Stewart received the word of his "vi fe's death, he sent 
word to ·his nephew to have services and to hold the body until he re­
turned from Europe. The Episcopal service was read at ~he home of Mr. 
Foote, Sr. , brother of Mrs. Stewart; the body was kept in the vault of a 
friend in Mountain View Cemetery, Alameda, awaiting the arrival of 
Senator Stewart for final committal. 

On October 10, 1902, Senator Stewart wrote Mr. Foote that he was 
leaving Washington, Saturday, the 11 th, and would an,ive in San Fran­
ciseo the following Wednesday. He requested that the services and burial 
he held the day after his arrival, in Laurel IliH Cemetery, San Francisco. 
He also wrote, "I want the matter conducted as quietl y as possible. T would 
prefer to have none but relatives and special friends on that solemn 
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occa,sion." Their daughter, Mrs. Bessie Stewart Hooker accompanied the 
Senator from Washington, D.C.; their youngest daughter, Mrs. Maybelle 
Stewart Payson was then in San Francisco. 

Many ,letters of sympathy were sent to the members of the family. 
From one of Mrs. Stewart's closest friends in San Francisco came a letter 
of condolence in which she wrote: "No sister of my own blood was dearer 
than she and among aU the wormen I have ever known in my life, there 
has never been one who could compare, in all t'hat made up royal woman­
hood, with my trusted and well-beloved friend Annie Foote Stewart." 
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SENATOR STEWART RETURNS TO NEVADA 

When Senator Stewart returned to Nevada jn ] 905, he followed his 
usual custom of acquiring a wagon and team of white mules, with which 
to drive over a goodly part of the State, appraising the conditions of the 
newly settled mining camps. Mining got into his blood in 1850; it was 
always Wlith him. At this time the newly discovered camps of Bullfrog 
and Rhyolite were in the midst of a boom. There was always a better 
chance to make a fortune in a new camp; besides, there were more mining 
suits in a new camp to he resolved. And there in Southern Nevada, Sena­
tor Stewart took up his last residence jn Nevada. He constructed a large 
one~tory home and a law office in Rhyolite, and moved his wife and her 
lrittle daughter, his collection of offioial papers, documents, and many 
volumes of books to that place. I Ie had three more years of active life 
before he was stricken with his last illness. DUring this time he wrote his 
Reminiscences, which were published in 1908. 
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NUMBER 351 

The health of Senator Stewart began to fa,il in 1908 "vhen he was in 
13ullfrog, Nevada. Returning to Washington, D.C., he entered George­
town Hospital for an operation for hypertrophy of the prostate gland. He 
did not rally from the operation and died April 23, 1909. Funeral services 
were held for him in Washington by the Reverend John H. Van Schaik, 
Jr. His remains were cremated and sent to the Laurel Hill Cemetery, San 
Francisco, to rest beside those of his first wife, Annie Foote Stewart. 

In 1900 efforts were made to discontinue burying in Laurel Hill 
Cemetery. This cemetery was not deshroyed, however, until 1940, by 
order of the San Francisco Supervisors. Efforts were made to locate relatives 
of the ~housands of persons buried there, but when none came forth, the 
remains were disentombed and buried at Cypress Lawn Cemetery, Colma, 
San Mateo County.56 (Apparently no descendants of Senator and Mrs. 
Stewart were contacted. ) A high mound, near the entrance of Cypress 
L'lwn was set aside for .the burial of persons removed from Laurel I Iill, 
and now known as "Laurel I-lill Mound." Thirty-five thousand California 
pioneers were removed to Cypress Lawn in 1940 and bUlied in vaults in a 
concentric circle al'Ound a ninety foot column in the center of the Mound. 
Each person buried was given a numher. The grave lot of Senator and 
Mrs. Stewart at Laurel lIill was No. 612; they were both removed to 
Cypress Lawn and buried in Plot 33,012 and 33,013, and given "No. 351." 
The marker, about the size of a cement building brick with the number 
"351" on one end, is aU that mark~ the grave of Wj]]iam Morris Stewart, 
first United States Senator from Nevada and his wife, Annie Elizaheth 
Foote StewartP 

56 The head,,'tones of persons buried at Laurel Hill were thrown into SaIl 
Francisco Bay for "fill." 

57 Leonard Wa~nstein, member of Stanford Research Institute, Menlo Park, 
Oalifornia, did the research to obtain the information on the burial of Senator 
and Mrs. Stewart. 
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WILLIAM MORRIS STEWART 

An Appra~sal Of His Life 

The eminent BI'itish historian, James Anthony Froude, has said that 
"history must be studied in all its length, all its breadth, and in all its 
depth; nothing else gives us ,rhe necessary perspective." With this statc­
ment -in mind, the same thought -:.:an be applied to the life of a person. 
From friends, assooiates, and colleagues, one can better appraisc the 
accomplishments of William Morris Stewart, whether he bc an opponent 
or a supporter. 

Senator Stewart had faithfully devoted fricnds and fiercely raging 
enemies, both kinds of which expressed themselves forcefully. Cartoonists, 
Thomas Nast, Joseph Keppler, Manly Gillam and Homer Davenport, and 
comic magazines Puck and Judge, never tired of putting his striking 
figure into their publications. 

Senator Stewart did have enemies, but they were chiefly his colleagucs 
in the senate who were opposed to his rulls. Charles Sumner was an 
implacable enemy of Stewart, espeCially of his RECONSTRUCTION bills. The 
CONGRESSIONAL GLOBE is filled with ~he sparring of these dominant 
senatorial figurcs. Sumner called Stewart "a traitor to the cause" bt'-Causc 
the latter moved to admit the State of Virginia after the Civil War. 
Stewart's devastating replies generally withered his opponents. A single 
subject seemed to engage Stewart's attention at a time. "And when his 
mind is fixed, the tenacity cannot be broken." Senator Sumner tried to 
"read him (Stewart) out of the (Republacan) party, hut Stewart's reply 
was a long speech (he rarely spoke from notes) ~n which hc asked Sum­
ner when he ',has the ,right to issue a Bull of excommunication.' Stewart 
was master of !'he English language; 'he could dictate letters by the dozens 
and speeches of great length, and never have to revise a word when he 
finished' ."58 

John W. Mackay was one of Stewa~t's closest friends. Once, when 
Mr. Mackay was urged to run for the Republican nomination for Scnator, 
he replied: "What, I go to the Senate! I've got no time for that. Besides 
Stewart is the better man. Do you know what the people of Nevada ought 
to do ? They ought to send t;hat man back to the Senate with the endorse­
ment of the whole people, Republican and Democra t alike. He is just the 
lll'll1 we need. He never lets up." 

Although Senator Stewart was acceptable in all social groups, he did 
not have great social polish, but he was such a good raconteur, he was at 
home any place to which he was invited. A member of his family wrote 
that he "hated the effeminacy of the effete East . . . He despised dandies, 
idle clubmen and the Lamn race, but his sympathies were broad as shown 

58 Theodore F. Shuey, stenographer in the Senate when Stewart was there, to 
the writer. 
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by his lifelong interest in schools, education and Indians. I-Ie has a genial 
kind of heart. His life is complete with good deeds. He dispensed hospi­
tality at his IlOme in Nevada, his residence in \iVashington and his farm 
1I1 Virginia." 

Lord Tennyson has expressed this kind of a life in a few lines: 

"0 iron nerve to true occasion true! 
"0 fallen at length that tower of strength! 
"Which stood square to all the winds that blew." 
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WILLIAM MORRTS STEW ART 

In Memoriam 

The death of WH·limll Morris Stewa.rt was noted in the n<o'Wspapers all 
over Nevada, the United States, and in foreign nations. The most expres­
sive items came from Washington, D.C., and New York City: The 
Washington Times wrote that, "One of ,rhe Nation's strongest links 
with .rhe past is broken-to Washington he gave as much of l~is life as 
to the West." 

Senator Stewart knew that the newspapers of New York City had 
great influence over the nation. He personally knew many of the editors 
and reporters. And when he was in this city, they sought his opinion ()f 
topics of the day. When he died, The New York Herald stated 
that he was "one of the most pictures(lue figures in American public 
life for more than half a century." The New York World said that 
"His career as a whole would furnish the raw materials for half a dO'Len 

hetter novels than any American author is likely to write during the next 
decade. He was the last of the Argonauts and the last or that generation 
of Titans who made the Paoific Slope whut it is," and The New Yorh 
Evening Telegram remarl,ed that he was "one of the most remarkable 
men in the country. Despite his advanced age he was very active in 
husiness until immediately hefore the development of the trouble which 
cost his life. Three times he made and lost great fortunes." 

The New York Evening Post gave some four columns to his 
obituary: The editor descrihed him as "Tall, vvel il-fofllled, with muscles 
like iron, and supple quick-moving limbs, he was in every way fitted to 
hold his own ... To the day of his last illness, he kept his height and 
erectness, and his tangled mass of beard ... More than ~Ilce the fact that 
he always cauied a gUll , ( and sometimes two in the early days of the 
West) and could be relied upun to shoot straight, saved him from serious 
trouhle." 

He was loved and admired and worshipped by his close friends and 
members of his family. Indeed, several of his male descendants were given 
his fuU name. He returned this love by his frequent c{)IJ:respondcnce with 
thorn, by educating some of Ithem, by making them many gifls, and by 
securing positions for them in local, national and international govern­
ments. 
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BIBLIOGRAPHIC ESSAY 

The source material on the life and times of William Morris Stewart 
are gargantuan. In years, they extend from the 1840's through the first 
decade in the Twentieth Century; his influence in puhlic <life is recorded 
in the arohives of three continents. The detailed r~ords with which he 
pursued his education at Yale University, 1847-1850, and the way he 
continued it in California, are noted in tradition, county and state records. 
Letters he wrote on his active life in CaHfomia and Nevada, his life 
in general, can readily be followed. 

In Nevada, bhe story of the life of William Morris Stewart from the 
time he arrived in March, 1860, to the time he left the State for the last 
time, 1908, can be fallowed from county and state records. His legal resi­
dence in Nevada extended from Genoa, Ca'rson City, Virginia City to 
Bullfrog and Rhyolite. 

Although Mr. Stewart lived in several mining camps on the Mother 
Lode, he had a longer residence in Nevada City than any other one; his 
first friends and associates were made in this town. From his correspon­
dence with them, and from city, county and state of California newspapers 
and records, his work can be traced. 

From the time he arrived in Washington, D.G, Fehruary I, 1865, 
to Maroh 4, 1905, the records of his publk Hfe are stupendous. In the 
archives of the National Ribliotheque in Paris and in those of The Hague, 
infoI'lllation about his life can be found. 

The speeches and debates ()if Senator StewaJ't recorded in the Congres­
sional Globe and Congressional Record, would fiB many volumes. 
On one bill alone, there arc 144 columns ,in the Globe. And in archives 
of the Federal Departments, there are countless letters he wrote to them, 
and many pamphlets and brochures written hy him on different subjects. 

Fire has destroyed some of the records in the towns in which Senator 
Stewart l,ived - Nevada City, Downieville, and Virginia City, Nevada. 
In the latter city, the devastating fire of 1875 did not burn the Stewart 
residence but it did destroy the records in his law office. (The Storey 
County records in Virginia City arc complete; they tell the story of his 
legal bat\1les in this county in resolving the mining company disputes.) 
Stewart Castle in Washington, D.G, suffered a severe fire December 
31, 1879 - the two upper stories were completely burned and the three 
lower ones sulifered from some firc and water damage. Many personal 
~hings of ~he Stewart family were lost at this timc. 

The largest collection of Stewart items are in the Nevada State 
Historical SOCiety Library. Obtained personaUy from Senator StewaI't's 
office in RhyQliJte by Jeanne Biznheth Wier, Director of the Society 
from 1905·1950, they include: 
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32 Letter Press books of letters written by 
Senator Stewart - 1886-1905 

48 (fireproof) cans of letters written to 
Senator Stewart - 1896-1907 

39 Scrapbooks of newspaper and magazine items 

3 Library stacks of 6 shelves each, of books, 
including many volumes of the Congressional Globe 
and Congressional Record 

This personal collection of Senator Stewart in the Historical Library 
is supplemented by many pictures and items belonging to him - the large 
sign over his Rhyolite Law Office, and has Notary SeaL 

Other collections of Senator Stewart are in private :lihraries. The writer 
of this biography has a large one, collected over many years from friends,. 
relatives and assodates of Senator Stewart. Mr. and Mrs. Victor A. Her­
mann have reseamhed the life of Senator Stewart in California and Wash­
ington, D.G; descendants of his have a biography privately compiled by 
his relatives - among these things is a complete collection of cartoons 
made of the Senator in Puck and Judge. 

Writings by Senator Stewart include: 

William Monlis Stewart, REMINISCENCES, 1908 (Edited hy 
Charles RothweH Brown) 

THE FUNCTIONS OF MONEY, 1895 

SILVER AND THE SCIENCE OF MONEY, 1893 

SILVER KNICHT - WATCHMAN - Edited by Senator Stewart, 
1892-1898 
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WILLIAM MORTUS STEWART 

Africa, 78 
Alameda County, California, 20 
Alaska 

claim jumpers, 86 
gold rush to, 86 
government bill, 87 
placer mining in, 86 
United States Judges for, 87 

Albion v. Richmond, 67 
Aldrich, Louis F., 

Stewart partner, 20 
Aldrich, Nelson, Force Bill and, 73 
Alexander II, Czar of Russia, 90 
Allen, Lem, Speaker, 

Nevada Assembly, 99 
Allison, Senator, 

Bland-Allison Act, 71 
Alpha Sigma Phi, 

Yale fraternity, 13 
Amador County, (California) 

Oneida Mine in, 66 
American Revolution, 11 
American River, (California), 14 
Amnesty Proclamation, 51 
Anglo-Saxons, Laws of, 39 
Anvil Creek, (Alaska), 86 
Appamottox, surrender at, 36 
Arizona, 79 
Armes, H. B., Pius Fund and, 90 
Ashburn, (Virginia), 

Stewart farms at, 100 
Asia, 78 
Australia, ballot of, 94 

gold discovery, 97 
Baker, Col. E. D., 

visits Stewart family, 22 
Baldwin, Alexander W., killed, 31 

Stewc.rt partner, 27, 93 
ballots, Nevada election and, 100 
Bankers, visit Virginia City, 61 
Beach, Rex, 

author of the "Spoilers," 88 
Belcher Mining Company, 

(Virginia City), Stewart and, 28 
"Belmont," 

William C. Ralston home at, 68 
Biddle, Nicholas, 

NE\,I YORK TIMES and, 76 
Bigler, John, 

Governor of California, 19 
Birdsall, Mrs., 

visits Stewart family, 21 
Bishop W!litaker 

School for girls, 81 
Bland, Richard, Richard P., 

("Silver Dick") 
residr;nt of Nevada, 71 
SteVvart and, 71 

United States Representative, 70 
Bloody Run, (California), 15 
Bodie, (California), 

discovery of, 67 
life in, 67 

Bowers, Lemuel S., "Sandy," 
Comstock Lode and, 23 

British, buy U.S. Bonds, 61 
Broderick, David C., 

anti-slavery policy, 21 
killed by David Terry, 68 

Bryan, William J., 
candidate for President, 97 
"Cross of Gold" speech, 97 
defeat of, 76, 97 
learns from Stewart, 97 

Bryant, Dr. Edmund, 25 
Buchanan, President James, 

signs Nevada law, 92 
Buckeye Hill, (California), 14 
Bunker, Benjamin B., 

Attorney-General of Nevada, 29 
Bullfrog, (Nevada), 104, 105 
Caldwell Springs, 

Comstock Lode, and, 23 
California, 16 

gold discovery in, 14 
gold rush to, 14 
missions of, 90 
newspapers of, 23 
slavery forces in, 21 
state legislature of, 19 
water-systems in, 15 

California, Bank of, 
suspends payments, 68 

Canada, 39 
Carey Act., provisions of, 80 
Carnegie, Andrew, 75 
Carson City, 23, 54, 80 

assay office at, 75 
Eagle Valley and, 29 
government building in, 96 
mi.:t celebration at, 60 
United States Mint, 60 
organization of, 25 

Carson County, (Utah), 23 
Provisional government of, 25 

CARSON DAILY APPEAL, 99 
CARSON MORN liNG APPEAL, 90 
Carson Valley, 23 
Cassidy, George, election of, 67 

friend of Stewart, 67 
Central Pacific Railroad, 65 
Chagres, 14 
Chase, S. P ., 

Chief Justice, U.S., 37, 43 
supports Stewart, 43 

Cherokee Creek, (California), 16 
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Chileans, 21 
Chinese, 21, 23 
Chinn. Jack, guards Stewart, 99 
Chollar-Potosi Mine, 27 
City Point, (Virginia) , 36 
Civil Rights, bill of, 52 
Civil War, 33, 65, 

Freedmen's Bur eau bill, 52 
"Clantons and Earps," 61 
Clark, W. A. 

buys Stewart Castle, 10 
United States Senator, 10 

Clapp, Hannah K., U. of N., and, 84 
Clemens, Orion, appointed 

Territorial Secretary, 29, 54 
Clemens, Samuel L., 

Secretary to Orion Clemens, 54 
Secretary to Stewart, 54 

Clews, Henry, 75 
Cleveland, President Grover, 75 

gold standard and, 96 
sells gold bonds, 75, 96 

Clinton, (Oakland), 20 
Colorado, 79 
Comstock Lode, (Nevada) , 

discovery of, 23, 29 
geology of, 26 
theories about, 27 

Confederate Army, 31 
Confederate Congress, 

Civil War and, 51 
CONGRESSIONAL GLOBE, 

106, 109 
CONGRESSIONAL RECORD, 109 
Dakotas, 79 
Davenport, Homer, cartoonist, 106 
Davidge, Robert A., 19 
Davis, Jefferson, 22 
Dawson, (Alaska), 86 
Death Valley, 65 
DECLARATION OF 

INDEPENDENCE, 11 
Deer Creek, 14 

dry diggings at, 14 
De Las Torres De Rada, 

Marchioness of, 90 
Pious Fund and, 90 

Delmonico's Restaurant, 75 
Delta Epsilon, 13 
De Long, Charles, 

minister to Japan, 53 
opposes Stewart, 53 

Democratic Party, 92 
convention of, 97 

Depression, (1893), 95 
De Villa-Puenta, 

Pious Fund and 90, 
District of Columbia, 100 
dollar, (silver), (See Mint bill) 
Douglas, (Nevada County) , 30 
Downieville, (California), 21, 65 
Doyle, W .T. Sherman, 

Pious Fund Case and, 90 

----------------- ----------

Durgan Flat, Downieville, 21 
E Clampus Vitus, 

Nevada City Chapter, 111 
Eagle Valley, 29 

(Sec Carson City) 
Eldorado, (California) 40 
Elko, (City), 80 
Elko, (County), 80 
Empire City, (Nevada) , 30 
England, 

gold policy of, 61 
gold standard of, 61 

Eureka County, (Nevada) , 67 
Fair, James G., 

election of, 94 
opposes Stewart, 70, 95 
record of, 95 
retires, 70 
succeeds Sharon, 69 

Field, Stephen, 
Supreme Court .Justice, 18, 69 

FIFTEENTH AMENDMENT, 
(See Stewart) 

Finney, James, 
Comstock Lode and, 23 

F ish, H. L., Regent, U. of N., 83 
F lenniken, .Judge R. P ., 

dispute over, 25 
]<' oot, United States Senator, 39 
Foote, Henry Stuart, 20 

addresses President Johnson, 51 
appointed mint director, 51 
books by, 22 
children of, 20 
Confederate Army and, 51 
education of, 22 
escape of, 51 
fl ees to Canada, 51 
goes to Europe, 51, 65 
Johnson's orders to, 51 
life of, 22 
moves to Tennessee, 51 
(See Annie Elizabeth Foote 
Stewart) 

Foote, W. W. , 51, 102 
Foote, W. W., Jr., injury of, 102 
"Force Bill," 
Lodge election billl, 76 

Ford's Theatre, ashington, D.C., 37 
FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT, 52 
Fox, Thomas C., 

marries Annie Stewart, 78 
Frazier River, (Canada) , 

suh to, 21 
Froude, .James Anthony, 

British historian, 106 
F uller, Justice and Mrs. M. W., 101 
Galen (Township, New York), 11 
Genoa, (utah Territory), 23, 29, 92 
Gillam, Manly, cartoonist, 106 
Gillespie, W. A. 

absent from Assembly, 100 
reasons for absence, 100 
Southern Pacific and, 100 
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gold, 
diminishing supply of, 75 
discoveries of, 14, 97 
grains in, dollar, 75 
standard, 61, 75 

Gold Canyon, (Nevada), 23 
Gold Hill, (Nevada), 23, 65 

mining district of, 26 
Goldfield, (Nevada), 101 
Gorgona, (Panama), 14 
Gould and Curry Mine, 

(Virginia City), 27 
Grand River, (Ohio), 11 
Grant, President U.S., 22 

elected President, 53 
friend of Stewart, 57 
pardons Foote, 65 
signs Mint bill, 62 

Grass Valley, (California), 29 
Greeley, Horace, 

speaks in Downieville, 21 
Gresham's Law, 74 
Grizzly Ditch, (California), 15 
Grosch, Allen, mining Recorder, 40 
Guadalupe-Hidalgo, Treaty of, 39 
Gwin, William M., slavery and, 21 

United States Senator, 21 
Hamlin, Hannibal, 59 

reprimands Sumner, 59 
Vice President, 59 

Hannah, Thomas, 30, 31 
Hawaiian Islands, 

Mark Twain and, 55 
Hayes, President Rutherford, 58 
Hermann, Victor A., and ;Ruth, 

restores Stewart Mansion, 21, 112 
Herrin, William F., 65 

Hill·Sharon suit, 69 
Hesketh, Lord, 99 
Higby, U.S. Representative, 

(California) , 48 
Hill, Sarah Althea, 

hostess at Belmont, 68 
marries Terry, 69 
insanity of, 69 
Sharon and, 68 
sues Sharon, 68 
threatens Stewart, 69 
wins Sharon suit, 69 

Hofer, Bessie Stewart Fox, 
Stewart granddaughter, 102 

Hofer, Theodore, 102 
"Honest Miner's Camp," 62 

(See Stewart Castle) 
Hooker, Bessie Stewart, 103 
Hookcrr, Captain, R.. C., 

marries Bessie Stewart, 76 
House of Representatives, 

passes free coinage bill, 72 
Houseworth, V .. A., 

mining Recorder, 26 
Hungerford, Marie Louise, 

marries John W. Mackay, 25 
Huntington, C. P., 95 

Idaho, 79 
Indian, (American), 82, 90 

attacks Williams Station, 24 
reservations of, 82 
restlessness of, 24 

"Innocents Abroad," 55 
International Court of 

Arbitration, 90 
International Monetary 

Conference, 61 
Irrigation, 

Committee arrives in Reno" 80 
Irrigation, 

Committee visits West, 79 
(See Stewart) 

Keokuk, (Iowa), 29 
Keppler, Joseph, Cartoonist, 106 
Kirkpatrick, Moses, 

Stewart law partner, 27 
"Know Nothing Party," 92 
Jackson, (California), 66 
Jones, John PerCival, 

Comstock mining man, 64 
defeats Nye, 64 
elected U.S. Senator, 84, 94 
fortune of, 94 
mine superintendent" 64 
money spent by, 64 
opposes Nye, 94 
partner of Stewart, 65 
retires frrom Senate, 101 

Johnson, Andrew W., (President) 
Foote family and, 51 
promise to Stewart, 53 
sworn in, President, 38 
vetoes Freedmen's Bill, 53 

JUDGE, (Magazine), 
cartoons in, 97, 106, 110 

Lahontan, (Lake), 
bed reclaimed, 80 

Lake Champlin, 11 
Lamar, L. Q. C., 73 
Lane, Charles D., 

buys Alaskan mines, 86 
corporations of, 86 

Lathrop, (California), 69 
"Laurel Hill Cemetery," 

burials at, 102, 105 
(See Stewart ) 

Lee, Benjamin Watkins, 
Stewart law partner, 20 

Lincoln, President, 
assasination of, 57 
death of, 37 
greets Stewart, 35 
Nevada and, 51 
Nevada Statehood and, 33 
receives callers, 36 
receives Nevada constitution, 33 
signs Nevada bill, 29 
Stewart and, 35 

Lodge, Henry Cabot, 
Federal election laws and, 72 

London, (England), 61 
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Lovelock, (Nevada), 80 
Lux, Charles, Stewart lawyer for, 65 
Lyons, (New York), 11 
Mack, Charles E., 

Regent, U. of N., 84 
Mackay, .Tohn W., 

friend of Stewart, 95 
opinion of, 106 
Stewart and, 65, 70 

Marsh, Charles, 
Stewart's partner 15 

Mark Twain, 
lampoons legislators, 54 
Pacific Coast humorist, 54 
quarrcls with Stewart, 55 
reports Territorial legislature, 54 
ridicules Stewart, 56 
satirizes Stewart, 54 
tours Holy Land, 55 
writes, 

"My Late Senatorial 
Secretaryship" 

"Facts Concerning the Recent 
Resignation" 

"Roughing It," 55 
Masons, 

Nevada Grand Lodge of, 60 
Massachusetts, 11 
Marysville, (California), 

Stewart arrives in, 14 
McConnell, John R., 

California Attorney-General, 92 
District Attorney, 18 

McEnerny, Garret W., 
Pious Fund case and, 90 

McKenzie, Alexander, 
appointed receiver, 87 
buys claims, 87 
political influence of, 87 

McKinley, William, President, 
pardons Noyes 88 

McLaughlin, Patrick, 
discovers Comstock Lode, 23 

Meredith, Henry, funeral of, 24 
killed by Piutes, 24 
partner of Stewart, 24 

Mexicans, Comstock Lode and, 23 
dollar of, 62 

Mexican-Spanish, 
mining laws of, 39 

Mexico, 39, 90 
government of, 90 
independence of, 90 

Meyers, Theodore W., 
debates Stewart, 75 

Miller and Lux, ranch owners, 65 
miners, foreign miner's tax, 21 

meetings of, 16 
Nevada City, 16 
possessory rights of, 40 
rules and regulations of, 16 
trespassers, 16 

mines, Civil War debt, and, 42 
claim-jumpers of, 26 
Committee, Mining and, 38 
liquidation of, 42 

mining, area of, 40 
"dips, spurs, angles, viariations 
of,17 
districts of, 17 
free and open, 39 

mining, law codes of, 40 
Long Tom, 15 
Nevada rules and regulations 
of, 26 
pan, 15 
placer, 14, 40 
quartz, 16, 40 
Recorder, 16 
rocker, 15 
rules recognized, 16, 39 

Mint, (Carson City), 
architecture of, 60 
assay office at, 75 
boon to miners, 60 
ceases coinage, 61, 75 
construction of, 60 
cornerstone laid, 60 
law not repealed, 60 
machinery for, 60 
superintendent of, 62 

Mississippi, 51 
Montana, 74 
Morrow, Judge W. W., 

"Spoilers" and, 87 
Mount Davidson, 

(Virginia City), 21 
location of, 23 

Mountain View Cemetery, 
(Alameda), 102 

Mud Springs, (California), 40 
Nagle, David, 

guards Stewart, 69, 99 
kills Terry, 69 
U.S. Marshal, 69 

Nast, Thomas, cartoonist, 106 
National Mining Laws, 

amendments to, 49 
sections of, 49 

National Republican Convention, 
silver qUestion in, 72 

National Bibliotheque, 109 
Neall, Lieut. John "Jack" 

U. of N., and, 84 
Negroes, Stewart and, 57 
New Haven, (Connecticut), 13 
New Orleans, 22 
Nevada City, (California), 

14, 18, 23, 37, 40 
county seat, 14 
foremost mining center, 14 
newspapers in, 19 

Nevada County, California), 
14, 16, 18, 92 

NEVADA JOURNAL (Nevada 
City), 19, 23 
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Nevada, (State of), 79 
admission of, 32, 51 
census of, 1890, 96 
Ccntennial of Statehood, 34 
Civil War debt of, 100 
Constitution of, 31 
Constitution telegraphed, 33 

Nevada, Court bill of, 43 
effect of demonetization, 62 
elections in, 94, 
elects U.S. Senator, 99 
first Constitution defeated, 93 
first State legislature, 33, 35 
goes Populist, 94 
news editor of, 96 
political affairs of, 64 
population of, 1890, 74 
proclaimed State, 33 
ratifies 13th Amendment, 35 
Republican convention, 1904, 107 
retrenches expenditures, 95 
second Constitutional 

Convention, 33 
State legislatures of, 58 
Thirty~ixth State, 33 

Nevada Historical Society, 49 
library of, 109 

Nevada State Centennial, 111 
Nevada State Museum, 75 
Nevada State Press Association, 74 
NEVADA UNION, 

supports newlands, 99 
Nevada, Territory of, 29 

creation of, 26 
Council of, 29 
divided into districts, 92 
House of Representatives, 29 

Nevada, Territory of, 
judges of, 27 
Legislature of, 29, 30 

Newlands, Francis G., 
elected U.S .. Representative, 100 
elected U.S. Senator, 101 
illnesses of, 99 
opposes Stewart, 98 
runs for Senate, 98 

New Mexico, 79 
New York, (State of), 14 
New York, (City of), 101 
NEW YORK EVENING POST, 108 
,NEW YORK TELEGRAM, 75 
Nixon, George S., 

elected U.S. Senate, 101 
Northern Pacific Railroad, 79 
North San Juan, (California) , 15 
Noyes, Arthur N., Alaska Judge, 87 

pardon of, 88 
removal of, 88 
rules for McKenzie, 87 

"Number 351 " 
Stewart bu~ied under, 105 

Nye, James W., death of, 64 
defeat of, 94 
delivers many addresses, 38 

Nye, James W., 
elected U.S. Senator, 33 
mint and, 60 
reelection of, 64 
Senate years of, 64 
terms of, 35 
Territorial Governor, 29, 93 

Oakland, (California), 102 
first auto accident in, 102 
jail in, 87 

OAKLAND TRIBUNE, 20 
Ohio, 14, 61 
Oklahoma, Indians of, 82 
Oneida Mine, (California), 66 
Ophir Mining Claim, 

(Viriginia City), 23 
Ophir Diggings, 29 
O'Reilly, Peter, 

discovers Comstock Lode, 23 
Ormsby, (Nevada County), 30 
Ott, J. J., 

assays Comstock Lode, 23 
Pacific Coast, 39, 59, -102 
Pacific Ocean, 14 
Pacific Railroads, 

indebtedness of, 70 
Paiutes, 23, War claims, 24 
Panama, Isthmus of, 14 
Panamints, (Mountains), 

bandits in, 65 
mines of, 65 

Paris, 61 
Payson, Mrs. Francis L., 

(Maybelle Stewart), 103 
Penfield, W. L., 

and Pious Fund, 90 
Penfield, Walter S., 

and Pious Fund, 90 
Pettibone, George, 

Stewart partner, 15 
PHILADELPHIA, (steamer), 14 
Piety Hill, (Nevada City), 20 
Pine Nut Range, (Nevada), 23 

trees, 23 
Philippine Islands, 

mining laws of, 88 
Pious Fund, 90 

Americans at case, 90 
arbitration for, 90 
donations to, 90 
hearing for, 90 
purpose of, 90 

Piper's Opera House, 32 
Pittman, Key, 88 
Placerville, (California), 23 
Plato, Joe, 23 

Comstock Lode and, 23 
Pleasants, Mammy, 69 
Populists, (People's Party), 74 
Powell, Major J. W., 

record of, 78 
removed from office, 79 
withdraws Public lands, 78 

Public Domain, 16, 39, 42, 78 
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PUCK, 106 
cartoons in, 97 
Stewart cartoons in, 110 

quartz, mining rules of, 17 
Ralston, Jackson II., 

Pious Fund and, 21, 96 
Stewart and, 21 

Ralston, William C., 
builds Belmont, 68 
death of, 68 
Bank of California and , 68 

Ramsay, Alexander, 
Stewart letter to, 43-47 

ranchers, mining and, 78 
problems of, 78 

Reclamation, 78 
Reese's Station (See Genoa), 29 
Reno, 80 
RENO EVENING GAZZETTE, 99 
Republican Party, 92 

Stewart and, 53 
Rhyolite, (Nevada), 104 
Riordan, Archbishop, 

Pious Fund case and, 90 
river bars, placer mining on, 15 
Rocky Mountains, 39 
Roger Williams' Springs, 14 
Roman Catholic Church, 90 

archives of, 90 
Rome, 62 
Roosevelt, Theodore, President, 90 

irrigation and, 79 
Rothschild Bankers, 

Virginia City and, 61 
Rush to Washoe, 23 
Sacramento, 19 
SACRAMENTO DAILY UNION, 19 
St. Michael, (Alaska), 87 
st. Paul, (Minnesota), 79 
San Francisco, 19, 25, 55, 57, 68 

Six Companies of, 59 
Supervisors of, 105 

SAN FRANCISCO 
CHRONICLE, 102 

San Mateo, (County), 105 
Sargent, Aaron A., 

United States Representative, 18 
Sawyer, Lorenzo, 

Supreme Court Justice, 18 
Searles, Niles, 

elected District Judge, 19 
State Senator, 19 
Supreme Court Justice, 18 

Seattle, (Washington), 88 
Seward, William, 

U.S. Secretary of State, 37 
Sharon, W. E., 

absent from Senate, 94 
Bank of California and, 64 
character of, 64 
death of, 69 
elected U.S. Senator, 94 
opposed by Sutro, 64 
San Francisco banker, 64 

Senate record of, 69 
Stewart, lawyer for, 65 

Sherman, John T., 61 
"Crime of '73" and, 70 
deceives U.S. Senators, 71 
Finance Committee, and, 47 
Silver Purchase Act, and, 

72, 74, 75, 96 
Trade Dollar, and, 62 

Shuey, Theodore, 
stenographer, U.S. Senate, 106 

Sierra County, (California), 21, 92 
Sierra Nevada Mine, (Virginia 

City), debacle of, 95 
Sierra Seminary, (Carson City), 

Hannah Clapp, and, 85 
Sills, Reverend, 20 
silver, 62 

assay of Comstock Lode, 23 
"Crime of '73" 62 
declines in price, 95 
discovery of, 23 
dollars dropped, 60 
free and unlimited coinage of, 71 
grains in dollar, 75 
"Silver and the Science of 

Money," 76 
Panamints and, 66 
price of, 74 
16 to 1 slogan of, 97 
standard of, 75 

Silver Party, 74, 92, 96, 97 
Six Mile Canyon, 

(Virginia City), 23 
Six Companies, (San Francisco), 59 
sluice box, mining with, 15 
Smith, Grant, describes Stewart, 67 

telegraph messenger, 67 
Smith, Judge James C., 

loans Stewart money, 12, 14 
Southern Confederacy, 24 
Southern Pacific 

Railroad, 67, 79, 95 
Spain, royal fifth for, 39 

dollar of, 62 
Sparrow v. Strong, 43 
"Spoilers," 86 
Spring Street, (Nevada City), 14 
Spring Valley Water Company, 65 
Stanford, (University), 82 
Stanford Research Institute, 105 
Stanford, U.S. Senator and 

Mrs., 65, 73 
Stanton, Edwin M., 51 
Stewart, Annie, 62 

granddaughter, 78 
(See Thomas C. Fox) 

Stewart, Annie Elizabeth Foote, 
activities of, 22 
auto accident and, 102 
buys furniture, 31 
cemetery plot number of, 105 
daughters of, 62 
death of, 102 
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Stewart, Annie Elizabeth Foote, 
life of, 20 
marries Stewart, 20 
"Number 351" 105 
relatives of, 51 
services for, 102 
social life of, 62 
teaches school, 21 
travels of, 62, 65, 78 

Stewart, Frederick Augustus, 
father of Stewart, et aI, 11 

Stewart Castle, (Washington, D.C.) 
construction of, 62, 65 
damaged by Chinese, 78 
description of, 93 
Dupont Circle, and, 62 
expenses of, 93 
fire at, 109 
furnishings of, 62 
Stewart home, 65 

Stewart, Elizabeth, "Bessie," 62 
marries Captain Hooker, 76 

Stewart Hall, (University off 
Nevada), 84 

Stewart, Mary Isabelle "Maybelle," 
birth of, 78 
travels of, 78 

Stewart, Miranda Morris, 11 
mother of Stewart et aI, 11 
wife of Frederick Augustus, 11 

Stewart, Samuel de Count 
Raleigh, 66 
brother of Stewart, 66 

Stewart, William Morris, 
ability of, 26 
advises Bryan, 97 
advice to Regents, 83 
against demonetization, 61 
amendments to mining laws, 42 
Amreican Indian, and, 82 
Amnesty Oath, and, 51 
ancestry of, 11 
Andrew Johnson, and, 38 
appointed Attorney 
General, 19, 92 
appoints Mark Twain 

Secretary, 55 
appraisal of, 106 
arrives San Francisco, 14 
arrives Washington, D.C., 35 
arranges irrigation trip, 79 
assails Cleveland, 75 
attacks Senator Sherman, 71 
Attorney General, 92 
attorneys fees for, 90 
Baldwin widow, and, 31 
birth of, 11 
body guards for, 99 
borrows money, 14 
brothers and sisters of, 11 
builds homes, 20, 21, 62, 101, 104 
builds sawmill, 16 
burial of, 105 
buys Emma Mine, (Utah), 65 

Stewart, William Morris, 
buys Carson City home, 70 
buys Panamint Mine, 65 
buys Wyoming and Hemlock 

Mine, 66 
California capital, and, 19 
campaigns of, 98 
Capital of Nevada, and, 92 
career of, 92 
Carson Mint, and, 60 
cartoons of, 106 
cemetery plot number, 105' 
champions free coinage, 61 
character of, 64 
Chinese, and, 59 
Civil Rights Bill, and, 53 
clients of, 65 
closes San Francisco office, 69 
Collections, 110 
committee 

assignments ,38, 42, 53, 78 
Comstock discovery, and, 23 
Comstock geology, and, 26-27 
Comstock litigation, 26 
confidant of Grant, 57 
CONGRESSIOiNAL .RECORD, 

and, 78 
contracts fever, 14 
criticisms of, 28 
death of, 105 
debates of, 75 
defeated, 18 
defends free and open 

mining, 50 
demonetization of silver, and, 60 
describes Andrew Johnson, 38 
description of, 20, 76 
defeats Force Bill, 72 
Democratic party, and, 19 
describes mining regions, 48 
disapproves Freedmen's Bureau 

Bill, 52 
discovers Eureka Diggings, 15 
District Attorney, 18 
Ditches and Canal Bill, 48 
edits NEVADA DEMOCRAT, 19 
edits newspapers, 76 
education, and, 11, 12, 81 
efforts for silver, 96 
elected Selectman, 23, 92 
elected United States 

Senator, 33, 64, 93, 96, 99, 101 
election to Territorial Council, 29 
election to Constitutional 

Convention, 32 
enemies of, 106 
English language, 106 
establishes Carson City, 

capital, 30 
establishes water rights, 16 
explains free and open mining, 47 
family love of, 108 
farms in Virginia, 100 
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favors readmission Southern 
states, 59 

frames Nevada Organic law, 32 
F ifteenth Amendment, and, 57 
fights spoilers, 87 
fortunes made and lost, 65 
friends of, 106 
funeral of, 105 
goes to mining camps, 21, 67, 105 
gold rush, and, 14 
granted law license, 18 
health of, 105 
helps parents, 12 
hospitality of, 106 
illness of, 14 
"In Memoriam," 107 
Indians, alld, 82, 96 
influences Bryan, 99 
influence in Territorial 

Council, 30 
irrigatic~l, and, 78 
Johnson betrays, 53 
John W. Mackay, and, 70 
joins Silver Party, 96 
law firms of, 65, 70, 93 
leases Castle, 65 
legal fees of, 28 
letters to, 113 
life of, 109 
Lincoln, and, 37 
lobbies on mining bill, 47 
loses money in mines, 66 
Nevada City mansion of, 111 
Mark Twain, and, 54-55 
marries, 20, 101 
mines owned, 32, 65, 68 
military training, and, 84 
milk inspection, and, 100 
mining litigation, and, 21, 67 
monument to, 111 
Morrill Act, and , 83 
moves made 

by, 12, 25, 29, 31, 104 
multimillionaire, 64 
National Mining Laws, 

and, 17, 39, 41, 49, 86 
"Number 351," 105 
offered Supreme Court 

position, 63 
Oneida Mine, and, 66 
opinion of Powell, 78 
oppositions of, 47, 59, 64 
Orion Clemens, and, 54 
pairs with Senatorr Stanford, 72 
Paiute War, and, 24 
partners of, 18, 20, 21 
Philippine Islands, and, 88 
physique of, 12 
Pious Fund Case, and, 90 
prevents Sherman nomination, 72 
quality of writings of, 75 
reburial of, 105 

reclamation, and, 80 
Reconstruction, and, 51 
records destroyed, 109 
REMINISCENCES of, 38, 57, 111 
Republican Party, and, 98 
retires political life, 101 
returns to Nevada, 70, 95, 101, 

104 
reviews Union Army, 36 
Rhyolite law office, 110 
Sarah Hill, and, 68 
settles in Nevada, 23 
Sharon-Sutro fight, 64 
silver cannon-balls, and, 66 
speeches of, 41, 78 
Stanford Trustee, 82 
story-telling, and, 106 
supports Theodore Roosevelt, 101 
Sutro Tunnel, and, 64 
Terry, and, 24 
theory of currency, 71 
Virginia City home of, 32 
visits London, 65 
votes Johnson impeachment, 53 
University of Nevada, and, 81, 

83-84 
writes Alexander .Ramsey, 43-47 
writes Fifteenth Amendment, 52, 

58 
writes Nevada telegram, 31 
writings by, 76, 104, 111 

Storey (County) , 30, 43, 109 
Sumner, Charles, and Stewart, 57, 

59, 106 
Sutro, Adolph, 94 
Taylor, H. Benedict, injury of, 102 
telegraph, completion of, 30 

first telegram sent, 32 
Teller, Henry, 

supported by Stewart, 97 
United States Senator, 97 

Tennessee, Nashville, 22 
TERRITORIAL ENTERPRISE, 29 

Mark Twain and the, 54 
Terry, David S., 

counsel for Sarah Hill, 68 
holds Comstock Lode, 24 
marries Sarah Hill, 69 
slaps Judge Field, 69 
Supreme Court Justice, 21 
wife and he imprisoned, 21 

Terry-Broderick duel, 21 
Texas 79 

Indians of, 82 
The Hague, 90 
THE NEW YORK EVENING 

TIMES, 108 
Thompson, Sir Edward, 

Pious Fund case and, 90 
Thornton, Harry 1., 92 

partner of Stewart, 22 
Tombstone (Arizona), 67 

Tonopoah (Nevada) , 101 
Trade Dollar, 71 
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Truckee Carson Irrigation District, 
80 

Truckee Meadows, 24 
Truckee River, 24 
United States, 60 

amnesty oath of, 73 
bonds of, 61 
Bureau of Ethnology, 78 
Bureau of Indian Mfairs, 52 
Carey Act of, 80 
Civil War Debt of, 41 
Commissioner of Indian Mfairs, 
82 
Commissioner, Public Lands, 49 
Finance Committee of, 

Geological Survey of, 78 
Hatch Bill, 84 
House of Representatives, 58, 71, 

78 
in 1849, 14 
Judiciary Committee, 52, 57 
petitions to, 25 
finance and Senate, 71 
irrigation committee of, 80 

University of Nevada, 
appropriations for, 84 
Elko location of, 83 
moved to Reno, 83 
Regents, election of, 81 
Stewart and, 81 

Union Pacific Railroad, 79 
United States Army, 25 
United States Mint Bill, 60, 62 
UNITED STATES CONGRES-

SIONAL RECORD, 71 
Stewart speeches in, 76 

United States, 
Secretary of the Interior, 41 
Secretary of the Treasury, 60, 61, 

72 
State Department of, 90 

United States, Supreme Court of, 
67 

United States, Thirteenth Amend­
ment of, 35 

Utah, 29, 79 
Emma Mine in, 65 

Utah Territory, 11, 29, 92 
Van Clief, Peter, 

appointed judge, 92 
marries Mrs. Birdsall, 21 
Stewart and, 21, 65 

Virginia (State), 51, 106 

Virginia City (Nevada), 24, 71, 92 
"Bi~ Bonanza" at, 61 
decline of, 95 
Mark Twain and, 55 
Ophir Diggings, 29 
Sharon arrives in, 64 

Wainstein, Leonard, 
locates Stewart graves, 105 

Walker, Governor, 59 
Wallace, Charles C. "Black" Wal­

lace, 67 
secures Stewart election, 100 
Southern Pacific Agent, 95 
supports Stewart, .99 

Wallace, John W., 43 
War of 1812, 11 
Warm Springs Hotel, 30 
Washington, D.C., 29, 36, 60, 65, 68, 

83 
Washoe, 30 
Washoe District, 

Rush to, 11, 29 
Wayne County (New York) , 11 
Whigs, 19 
Wier, Jeanne Elizabeth, 109 
Wilcox (Arizona), 67 
Wild Goose Mining Company 

(Alaska), 86 
Willard's Hotel, 55 
Williams Station (Nevada) , 24 
Windsor Hotel, 73 
Winnemucca, 80 
Worthington, Henry G., 

U.S. Representative, 42 
W.P.A., 

offices of, 75 
Wyoming, 79 
Wyoming and Hemlock, 66 

Bicentennial of, 13 
Freshman course at, 12 

Yale University, 
records of, 109 
Stewart attends, 28, 92 

Yellow Jacket Mine (Virginia 
City), 28 

Young, President Brigham, 
recalls Mormons, 25 

Yuba Rjver, 21 
Yukon, 

rush to, 86 
Zacatecas (Mexico) , 68 
Zion Street (Nevada City), 20 
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